Families' perspectives on access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with

dementia in Manitoba

by

Isaac Oppong

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

In partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

## MASTER OF SCIENCE

**Disability Studies** 

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg

Copyright © Isaac Oppong, June 2019

#### Abstract

This study purports to find out from family members of persons living with dementia about primary healthcare services available, challenges faced by relatives living with dementia when accessing these services, and their responses on how to improve access to these services in Manitoba. A literature review was conducted to describe what other scholars have reported on this matter or field of study. The researcher adopted the social model of disability as the underlying concept for this study. As this model holds that social and attitudinal barriers affect persons living with disabilities, it is incumbent on society to provide all the essential accommodations for persons living with dementia to improve their health and well-being.

This study employed a qualitative methodology with a case study design. Through a working relationship with the Alzheimer Society of Manitoba, eight people who had relatives living with dementia were interviewed. Ethical procedures were followed and approval was given by the Joint-Faculty Research Ethics Board (JFREB). A consent form was given to each of the study participants who voluntarily agreed to engage in this project to sign. Based on the information shared by the family members, a case study approach was used to write their stories. The findings revealed that relatives living with dementia used various forms of primary healthcare services and other services such as specialists, home care, nursing homes, and personal care home services. In addition, relatives living with dementia faced difficulties when using primary healthcare and other services. As a result, the family caregivers made suggestions to improve access to primary healthcare and other services. Themes were created in order to discuss the results of this study. The researcher gave some recommendations that could be used to tackle dementia care and support for persons living with dementia in Manitoba and across Canada.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Nancy E. Hansen, Dr. Verena Menec, Dr. Diane Driedger (Advisor), and Norma Kirkby for their guidance and support.

## Dedication

I would like to dedicate this project to the Almighty God, my grandmother, and my family for their love and support throughout my life.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstractii
Acknowledgementsiii
Dedicationiv
Chapter 1
1.1.0. Background of the study1
1.1.1. Statement of the problem
1.1.2. Reflexivity/ the role of the researcher
1.1.3. Research questions
1.1.4. Principal Objective
1.1.5. Research objectives
1.1.6. Significance of this study7
1.1.7. Overview of the Thesis
Chapter 2
2.1.0. Literature review
2.1.1. The Canadian Healthcare System11
2.1.2. Primary Healthcare in Canada14
2.1.3. Types of Dementia

2.1.4. Prevalence of Dementia in Canada
2.1.5. Types of primary healthcare services available for persons living with dementia
2.1.6. Challenges that persons living with dementia encounter in accessing primary healthcare
services
2.1.7. Responses or solutions that can help address the challenges faced by persons living with
dementia when accessing primary healthcare services
Conclusion
Chapter 3
3.1.0. Methodology
3.1.1. Research setting
3.1.2. Research approach or methodology
3.1.3. Research design
3.1.4. The model or concept underpinning of this study
3.1.5. Applying the Medical Model of Disability in Dementia40
3.1.6. Criticisms of the Medical Model of Disability41
3.1.7. Applying the Social Model of Disability in Dementia
3.1.8. Criticisms of the Social Model of Disability42
3.1.9. The study population
3.2.0. The recruitment process of the study participants

# FAMILIES' PERSPECTIVES ON PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

3.2.1. Selection criteria for this study
3.2.2. Sampling technique and sample size
3.2.3. Research instrument45
3.2.4. Data collection procedures
3.2.5. Trustworthiness or validity of this study
3.2.6. Analyses of data
3.2.7. Ethical considerations
3.2.8. Dissemination
3.2.9. Limitations of this study
Conclusion
Chapter 4
4.1.0. The findings of this study52
4.1.1. A demographic overview of the study participants
4.1.2. The story of Andrew regarding his father who has not been medically diagnosed with
dementia53
4.1.3. Angela's story concerning her husband who lived with Frontotemporal with secondary
Alzheimer's
4.1.4. Anna's story regarding her mother who lived with Alzheimer's disease
4.1.5. The story of Hannah concerning her mother who lived with Alzheimer's disease

4.1.6. Jennifer's story about her husband who lived with early-onset Alzheimer's
4.1.7. The story of Megan regarding her mother who has been diagnosed with Alzheimer's and
vascular dementia
4.1.8. Rebecca's story of her mother who has not been medically diagnosed with dementia92
4.1.9. Sylvia's story regarding her father who has been diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease96
Conclusion101
Chapter 5
5.1.0. Discussion of the results of the study103
51.1. A demographic overview of the study participants103
5.1.2. Demographic characteristics of the relatives living with dementia104
5.1.3. Behavioural signs showed by relatives living with dementia107
5.1.4. Past incidents in the lives of relatives living with dementia
5.1.5. Other health conditions experienced by relatives living with dementia109
5.1.6. Physical health conditions that have affected relatives living with dementia110
5.1.7. Medications for relatives living with dementia111
5.1.8. Activities performed by relatives living with dementia112
5.1.9. Activities that relatives living with dementia were not doing anymore
5.2.0. Primary healthcare services used by relatives living with dementia113

5.2.1. Primary healthcare services that have not been used by relatives living with dementia114
5.2.2. The challenges faced by relatives living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare
services115
5.2.3. Recommendations that could be used to address these difficulties and also improve access
to primary healthcare services
5.2.4. Other services used by relatives living with dementia
5.2.5. Feelings that family caregivers have concerning relatives living with dementia118
5.2.6. Resources used by family caregivers with relatives living with dementia
5.2.7. Resources that have not been used by family caregivers of relatives living with dementia.119
5.2.8. Family caregivers' opinions about physicians119
5.2.9. Family caregivers' views on the hospital environment120
5.3.0. The attitudes of health professionals towards relatives living with dementia
5.3.1. The impact of providing caregiving support to relatives living with dementia121
Conclusion
Chapter 6
6.1.0. Conclusion and recommendations of the study123
6.1.1. Study recommendations
6.1.2. Effective collaboration between family doctors, family caregivers, and other health
professionals who provide services to relatives living dementia

6.1.3. Providing funding support to family doctors, nurses, and specialists interested in training
programs for dementia care126
6.1.4. Providing training programs for family caregivers to equip them with the knowledge and
skills needed to support relatives living dementia126
6.1.5. Providing many specialist services in rural communities to reduce pressure on existing
ones in urban areas127
6.1.6. Creating a national dementia strategy128
6.1.7. Creating a national pharmacare program128
6.1.8. Providing information to family caregivers on where to seek services and support for
relatives living with dementia
6.1.9. Creating an accessible environment in the communities and hospitals for persons living with
dementia132
References
Appendix A- Consent form161
Appendix B- Interview questions167
Appendix C- Probing questions used during the interview process
Appendix D- Confidential agreement form170
Appendix E- Ethics approval certificate171

#### Chapter 1

#### 1.1.0. Background of the study

This chapter gives background information on how Canada is experiencing an ageing population, as well as some scholars' definition of dementia. The researcher justifies why there was a need to undertake this project. The underlying factors or position that influenced this study are highlighted. This research project sought to obtain information from family members who have relatives living with dementia in Manitoba. As such, three research questions were designed for this purpose. Also, the overarching objective of this project is to describe families' perspectives on access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba. Since the primary healthcare system is vital to dementia care and also serves as a beacon of hope for families who have concerns about relatives living with dementia, the significance of this study was to create an enabling environment that promotes access to primary healthcare for persons living with dementia, and recommend measures that can be beneficial in our primary healthcare system for persons living with dementia.

There has been an increase in the life expectancy of people in our contemporary society due to the advancement of medicine. Old age comes along with some health consequences which can affect the well-being of older adults. In Canada, some studies have projected that the older population will increase significantly in the years ahead. Due to this, Canada would be experiencing an old age population epidemic. According to McQuigge (2015), the current information given by Statistics Canada three years ago, reveals that there is a slight increase in the percent of the aged as against the younger ones who are less than fifteen years old in Canada. As noted earlier, the more we grow, the higher our chances of being susceptible to certain health conditions which can affect our lives. Launer et al.'s study (as cited in Exalto et al., 2012) state that "[i]n general, dementia is rare below the age of sixty to sixty-five, but from the age of sixtyfive onwards, dementia incidence doubles with every five years of age" (p. 861). Therefore, age serves as a contributing factor to living with dementia in the later stages of life. Thus, with the increasing number of older adults in Canada, who are susceptible to living with dementia, there is a clarion call for all stakeholders involved in delivering primary healthcare services to the people to proactively plan on how to improve this healthcare system to prevent this population from falling through the cracks. Dementia is a mental health condition which causes some functional decline in individuals who are being affected. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2010) describes dementia as a health condition which affects an individual's cognitive capabilities. Dementia is a word employed to explain a category of brain conditions capable of causing an adverse effect in the endeavours of a person (Walsh, 2006). Therefore, dementia has a negative consequence on the performance of the human brain. Like any other health condition requiring some attention, persons living with dementia also need primary healthcare services that will improve their quality of life and support. A lot of institutions have been successful in designing high standards of specialist dementia care in order to satisfy or fulfill the requirements of people identified as living with Alzheimer's disease or similar conditions (World Health Organization & Alzheimer's Disease International, 2012). But some gaps still exist in our healthcare system in tackling dementia.

The College of Family Physicians of Canada (2011) states that the majority of healthcare services are provided in the primary healthcare system. Starfield et al. (2005) acknowledge that healthcare systems which are functionally active have primary care as one of its pillars regarding the provision of services. According to McColl (2006), "[a]ccess to primary care includes the ability to find a family physician, to get an appointment, to enter and use the facilities of the

3

practice, and to receive high-quality care" (pp. 293–313). Therefore, if all these rubrics used by McColl (2006) to measure access to primary care are not being met for all people including persons living with dementia who access these services, then access to primary care has been comprised. Aminzadeh et al. (2012) point out that primary care is important in dementia management. Therefore, these revelations support the idea that improving access to primary healthcare can enhance well-being and promote healthy lifestyle choices for people living with dementia. Family members providing home support to their relatives living with dementia play an essential role that promotes quality of life. According to the Alzheimer's Association (2015), families perform over seventy percent of long-term care for older people. Smetanin et al. (2009) assert that by 2038, the number of hours that would be spent on providing caregiving to individuals living with dementia in Manitoba will be more than double of the number of hours spent during the early part of the twenty-first century. As such, the knowledge and ideas that family members hold about their relatives living with dementia cannot be overlooked. This has led to the support for a familycentred approach to dementia care (Gaugler & Kane, 2015; National Academies of Science, Engineering, & Medicine, 2016).

A family-centred approach to care involves families in the planning of events such as financial management, investment, property and estate management, healthcare appointments, advance directive arrangements in the event of death, and others that inure to the benefits of relatives living with dementia. According to Moise et al.'s study (as cited in Morgan et al., 2015), "[c]ore principles underlying planning for dementia include delaying institutionalization by supporting caregivers in maintaining home-based care, local coordination of services, and matching services to need" (p. 138). To achieve these goals, the involvement of a family member of the person being supported becomes crucial. Therefore, this study which targets families to share their experiences on accessing primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia has the potential to influence change in policy and direction in this sector. Chronic diseases are conditions that persist for longer than others that are short-lived. Many mental health conditions are chronic conditions of which dementia is of no exception. Taylor (2002) states that more than thirty-three percent of the health expenditure in the latter part of the twentieth century was because of long-term health conditions such as cardiovascular health condition, cancer, diabetes, and respiratory health conditions, which together translates to more than forty-five billion dollars. Also, the Alzheimer Society of Canada (2010) reports that the overall expenditure for supporting persons living with dementia during the early part of the twenty-first century was estimated to be more than thirteen billion dollars and has been projected to increase to more than one hundred and fifty billion dollars in two thousand and thirty-eight. Although these expenditures show that chronic health conditions are expensive to manage but ensuring that resources allocated for healthcare are accounted for and used efficiently may promote continuity of care in the primary healthcare system for persons living with dementia and other chronic health conditions.

#### 1.1.1. Statement of the problem

In Canada, federal and provincial governments have the legal responsibility to meet the healthcare needs of residents. Hogg (1998) states that:

Health is not a single matter assigned by the Canadian constitution exclusively to one level of government. Like inflation and the environment, health is an 'amorphous topic' which is distributed to the federal parliament or the provincial legislatures depending on the purpose and effect of the particular health measure at issue. (p. 445)

This means that both the federal and provincial governments may collaborate to address some issues in the healthcare system which are deemed appropriate under their jurisdiction. However, some studies suggest that the healthcare needs of persons living with disabilities have not been met. McColl et al. (2010) state that persons living with disabilities who are counted as part of the labour force are highly susceptible to having their health demands not being taking care of as opposed to their counterparts without disability in Canada. Moreover, family members providing care to their relatives living with dementia have also suffered the same fate. Less than half of dementia caregivers in primary care environment get caregivers support and counselling about how to take care of some behavioural signs (Belmin et al., 2012; Reuben et al., 2010). While this put the lives of persons living with dementia at risk, there may be some challenges in finding physicians and other healthcare services for them. Therefore, this study which seeks to initiate a conversation around the views that families have on accessing primary healthcare for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba can help in improving our healthcare system.

## 1.1.2. Reflexivity/ the role of the researcher

According to Mann & Kelley's study (as cited in Hesse-Biber, 2017), reflexivity centers on the ideology that "all knowledge is affected by the social conditions under which it is produced; it is grounded in both the social location and social biography of the observer and the observed" (p. 45). In this regard, there might be some preoccupied ideas, experiences, and knowledge as to why a researcher is conducting a study on a subject matter. I was born in Ghana, where I have lived for over twenty years. My grandmother lived with glaucoma and other health conditions. As a result, I provided caregiving support to ensure her safety and well-being. I was assisting her in many ways such as attending to a doctor's appointment, getting some drugs prescribed by the doctor from the pharmacy shop, and helping her to go for other medical checkups (e.g., lab tests). I could observe

from her facial expression the pain and sorrow in which she was going through. Throughout my experience in assisting my grandmother, I noticed that our healthcare system had failed older adults and seniors living in Ghana. We do have a national health insurance system, but from my subjective view, there is more to be done to ensure that many people have access to a higher quality of healthcare. Due to this, the researcher was motivated to conduct this study to find out from the perspectives of families the types of primary healthcare services available for relatives living with dementia, challenges that their relatives face in accessing these services, and some responses that families perceive as beneficial to addressing these difficulties in the province of Manitoba.

## 1.1.3. Research questions

- 1. What types of primary healthcare services do families perceive as available for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba?
- 2. What are some of the challenges that families perceive their relatives living with dementia face when accessing primary healthcare services in Manitoba?
- 3. What are some of the responses or solutions that families perceive can help address the challenges encountered by relatives living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare services in Manitoba?

#### 1.1.4. Principal Objective

To describe families' perspectives on access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba.

## 1.1.5. Research objectives

 To find out from families the types of primary healthcare services available for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba.

- 2. To describe families' perspectives on some of the challenges faced by relatives living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare services in Manitoba.
- To know families' perspectives on some of the responses or solutions they perceive can help address the challenges encountered by relatives living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare services in Manitoba.

#### 1.1.6. Significance of this study

This research study seeks to create awareness on issues relating to accessing primary healthcare services for persons living with dementia in Manitoba. The World Health Organization & Alzheimer's Disease International (2012) proclaim dementia worldwide as a health condition that needs the attention of society and tasked all parties involved to put measures in place to tackle this increasing health condition facing the health and well-being of the masses. As a result, this study purports to draw the attention of policymakers, government institutions, and other relevant organizations to create an enabling environment that promotes access to primary healthcare services for persons living with dementia. Since Canada is encountering a dementia epidemic, there is the need to encourage research studies which will help the country to take proactive measures in managing dementia.

There are few studies that exist on the views held by family caregivers regarding the use of primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia. In addition, a few of them also report on how family caregivers are affected in the course of providing caregiving support to their care recipients. Moreover, the field of disability studies is a new academic discipline that is beginning to receive some attention from the global community. Therefore, this study will help in contributing to knowledge and fulfill some of the gaps existing in the literature, add to existing ones, and come up with some measures that can be beneficial to our primary healthcare system for persons living with dementia. This research project is unique in the sense that it was examined through a disability lens. Also, this research paper will be made available to society through publication and other platforms such as seminars and conference presentations.

#### 1.1.7. Overview of the Thesis

In Chapter 2, the researcher provides in-depth information on the work of other authors relating to this field of study. As background, it provides a brief historical account of the Canadian health system that led to the creation of universal healthcare coverage in Canada. Some achievements that have been made in the primary healthcare system are documented to provide insightful information on how this healthcare system has evolved over the years. The primary healthcare services available for persons living with dementia, the challenges encountered in using these services, and responses that can improve access to these services, among others, are reported in this section.

Chapter 3 of this paper provides the methodological framework for this project. The social model of disability, which examines the relationship between disability and the activities of society to interpret how certain actions may prevent persons living with disabilities in realizing their full potential, is used as the main idea underlying this study. The researcher used a qualitative methodology through a case study design to provide detailed information from family caregivers regarding relatives living with dementia. In addition, the author of this study employed a purposive sampling technique to select eight people and conducted face-to-face interviews with each of the study participants. Based on the stories shared by the family members, themes were created to discuss the results of this project. Informed consent, confidentiality, and privacy were some of the

ethical issues taken into consideration. All the procedures to obtain ethical approval from the Joint-Faculty Research Ethics Board (JFREB) were followed.

Chapter 4 documents the findings of this study. Adopting a case study design, the researcher reports on the stories told by the family caregivers concerning relatives living with dementia. This study found that relatives living with dementia used various forms of primary healthcare services such as the services of a family physician, pharmacist, physiotherapist, occupational therapist, and nurse. Aside from these services, relatives living with dementia used other services that included specialists, home care, personal care homes, nursing homes, and others. Also, relatives living with dementia faced difficulties in using primary healthcare services and some of the other services. As a result, the family caregivers offered some suggestions that could improve access to primary healthcare services and other services such as specialists and home care services. In addition, many of the study participants shared how they were affected in the course of providing caregiving support to relatives living with dementia.

Chapter 5 discusses the results of this study. Due to the stories given by the family caregivers, issues emanating from these accounts are discussed under the various themes created. These themes include demographic characteristics of the relatives living with dementia, behavioural signs showed by relatives living with dementia, past incidents in the lives of relatives living with dementia, other health conditions experienced by relatives living with dementia, physical health conditions that have affected relatives living with dementia, medications for relatives living with dementia, and others. In this regard, some issues existing in the literature are used to support these discussions.

Family members play a pivotal role in caring for relatives living with dementia. As such, a lot of studies have not been done to ask about their opinions and ideas on this topic. As a result, this study opens a new chapter for policymakers and other stakeholders working in the healthcare system to amass resources to tackle the discrepancies that may exist in access to primary healthcare services for persons living with dementia.

Chapter 6 of this project highlights the researcher's recommendations concerning dementia care and support for persons living with dementia in Manitoba and across Canada. These recommendations are based on the issues found in the literature as well as the stories shared by the family caregivers in relation to relatives living with dementia. These suggestions include creating a national dementia strategy, creating a national pharmacare program, and providing funding support to family doctors, nurses, and specialists interested in training programs for dementia care.

#### **Chapter 2**

#### **2.1.0.** Literature review

This section describes some of the scholarly works that have been done that relate to the researcher's study. A historical account of the Canadian healthcare system is given in order to inform readers about how this system has evolved over the years. Since the provision of healthcare delivery for residents is the sole responsibility of provincial and territorial governments, some of the reforms that have occurred under the primary healthcare sector with support from the federal government are documented.

Also, the different types of dementia that affect people are highlighted and epidemiological information of its occurrence among the Canadian population is given to confirm the epidemic nature of this health condition. Other topics such as types of primary healthcare services available for persons living with dementia, challenges that persons living with dementia face when using these services, and some responses that exist to address these difficulties are described in order to show what has been done in this area of study.

#### 2.1.1. The Canadian Healthcare System

The Canadian healthcare system has been touted as one of the best among developed nations that have universal healthcare coverage for its people. A general survey which took place at the end of the twentieth century and early part of the twenty-first century reports that the people of Canada regarded the healthcare system as one of the priorities of this country (Pollara Research, 2006). As such, advocates consider healthcare as a right and not a privilege. Moreover, since rights and privileges come with responsibilities, so does the healthcare system which has stakeholders responsible for its administration and delivery of services to the people. In Canada, provincial and territorial premiers have the oversight responsibility of managing the healthcare system as enshrined in the Supreme Court laws of this country (Health Canada, 2012). The province of Saskatchewan introduced a healthcare financing model which provided funding for hospital services during the latter half of the twentieth century (Health Canada, 1999; Health Canada, 2012). This model set the stage or served as the forerunner to the universal healthcare insurance system in Canada. Around that period, the federal authorities introduced the Hospital Insurance and Diagnostic Services Act which was funded by the federal and provincial authorities (Health Canada, 2012).

Considering these turn out of events, the idea of providing healthcare coverage for the people was conceived by the regions across the length and breadth of this country. By the beginning of the sixth decade of the twentieth century, the provinces had established healthcare coverage for themselves (Health Canada, 1999; Health Canada, 2012). Although physician services fell short of the healthcare funding models which existed at that time and therefore, the federal authorities in the mid-1960s introduced the Medical Care Act to take this service into account (Health Canada, 2012). This did not end there as another Act was introduced to override the Medical Care Act. According to Health Canada (2012), the Canada Health Act which was introduced in the 1980s succeeded the Medical Care Act. The rationale behind this Act as reported by Health Canada (1999, 2012) is to give health delivery considered important to people who are entitled, and able to meet their healthcare needs. However, for the provinces and territories to get transfer payments, they must abide by the rules and responsibilities of this statutory law. These rules according to Health Canada (1999, 2012), include public administration, comprehensiveness, universality, portability, and accessibility. Each of these statutory elements describes the duties and roles expected from the provinces. The federal authorities via the Canada Health Transfer give more than thirteen percent of the overall health expenditure incurred by the provinces and territories (Health Canada, 2012; Sutcliffe, 2011). As such, the majority of the cost which is said to be more than eighty percent are born by both the provinces and territories through levies collected from its residents (Sutcliffe, 2011). Therefore, the federal, provincial, and territorial governments have a statutory obligation to provide healthcare for the people.

The Canadian Institute for Health Information (2011) states that the provincial and territorial authorities fund seventy percent of healthcare cost, while thirty percent comes from the individual establishment which takes into account drugs and auxiliary health arrangements comprising of physiotherapists, chiropractors, massage therapists, occupational therapists, podiatrists, naturopaths, and psychologists. Therefore, private or individual establishment plays an essential role in the healthcare system. More so, physiotherapists and occupational therapists form part of the primary healthcare system which is vital to the delivery of health services to the people. But it seems that the seventy and thirty percent funding of healthcare by governments and individual establishments respectively remain arguable or questionable. Naylor (1986) asserts that these two statutory laws namely, the Medical Care Act and the Hospital and Diagnostic Services Act that served as the underlying factor for the creation of the hospital insurance plan, strongly highlighted out-of-pocket as the governing operation of institutions including remuneration for medical doctors in Canada. The Canadian Institute for Health Information (2010c) states that more than fifty percent of general practitioners constitute the labour pool of medical doctors. To further deepen the point on out-of-pocket payment as the principal means of operations in Canada, the College of Family Physicians of Canada et al. (2007b) report that out of the more than fifty percent of general practitioners delivering their services, more than forty-seven percent of them receive more than eighty-eight percent of salaries through out-of-pocket, while the rest receive salaries via other financial arrangement models. To put this issue to rest, the Canadian Institute for Health Information (2011) highlights that residents living in this country cater for more than fifty-two percent of healthcare services that do not fall under the provincial health plan by themselves and the rest of these services are taken care of by institutions which offer private health benefits. Therefore, one may describe fee-for-service as the means of payment prevailing in our healthcare system. One reason to account for this may be the autonomy that physicians in Canada have in deciding the stream (public & private) to offer their services and the incorporation of new health facilities and clinics providing specialist services.

#### 2.1.2. Primary Healthcare in Canada

The primary healthcare system features in many of the existing health structures and arrangements around the world. This may be due to the attention it has received through the activities of the World Health Organization on the provision of healthcare services. The World Health Organization (1978) through a communiqué issued in Alma Ata adopted this model to provide healthcare for people from all walks of life. In Canada, the primary healthcare sector forms part of the current health system. It comprises of programs such as prevention, public health, and programs offered by other different forms of health professionals in various areas designed to put people first concerning the delivery of services (Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 2014). Other scholars have provided a positive outlook on the potentials of the primary healthcare system. According to Watson (2005), stakeholders in primary healthcare consider it as vital in tackling the demands of a growing number of adult residents, the accumulation of persons who face long-term conditions, health conditions that are complicated and interrelated either with these and others that restrict participation. Therefore, the primary healthcare system offers hope for persons living with dementia if access is improved and directed towards their demands. The citizens of this country

have occasionally been demanding for an improvement in the primary healthcare sector, higher standards of health delivery, and other additional programs of this model (Watson & Krueger, 2005; Pollara Research, 2006). As a result, this healthcare sector has experienced some massive reforms and had received the support of the federal government through the provision of funds.

One of such funds was the Primary Health Care Transition Fund, where the federal government committed to providing eight hundred million dollars for reform programs carried out by the provinces and territories. Aggarwal & Hutchison (2012) state that the motive behind this was to deal with or tackle the healthcare demands of the ageing epidemic facing this nation and the increasing impact of long-term health conditions. This initiative was a step in the right direction as older adults and seniors are susceptible to living with dementia and other long-term health conditions. Therefore, the success of this program means availability of more primary healthcare programs, adequate access to these programs, and a higher standard of care for older adults and seniors living with dementia and other long-term health conditions. Throughout these reforms plan, a remarkable number of achievements were made. The Canadian Institute for Health Information (2010c) states that there has been more than seven percent improvement in terms of the ratio of general practitioner compared to citizens due to the availability of vacancies in the health educational institutions and housemanship programs for doctors who are into family medicine during the early part of the twenty-first century. This in effect means that more general practitioners will be available to offer their services to people who access primary healthcare. Besides, the barriers involved in finding a family physician would be reduced. According to the Canadian Medical Association (2002) & the College of Family Physicians of Canada et al. (2007b), nationwide, the number of general practitioners getting more than eighty-five percent of salaries through out-of-pocket transfers reduced considerably to less than forty-nine percent during

the early part of the twenty-first century. Some of the reasons that could account for this is that more healthcare programs may have been introduced and a considerable number of people were having access to publicly insured services than the previous years.

The Canada Health Infoway & Health Council of Canada (2006) state that more than ninety percent of information registered about patients who go to see their doctors were kept in traditional formats and many of the drugs given under the authority of a medical doctor were provided in manual forms. Therefore, information technology and innovation in healthcare delivery were not fully embraced at that time. But according to Schoen et al. (2006, 2009), the data from the participants in Canada who engaged in a study conducted by the Commonwealth Fund on practitioners in primary care shows that there was a fourteen percent improvement in the adoption of modern technological forms of keeping health information during the early part of the twenty-first century. This showcase how efficiency and higher quality of healthcare delivery were promoted in the primary care sector. Although all these statements given about the achievements made in the primary healthcare system are not meant to paint a perfect picture about this sector, as there may be some challenges facing persons living with dementia who access primary healthcare services. Therefore, this is one of the reasons why this study was conducted to seek the views of families on access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba.

#### 2.1.3. Types of Dementia

There are different types of dementia that affects several people and mostly the geriatric population. These include Alzheimer's disease, Lewy body dementia, Frontotemporal dementia, vascular dementia and similar ones such as Parkinson's disease and Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (Alzheimer Society of Canada, 2010). Some suggested risk factors for dementia are gender, low

educational background, family history, past head injuries, and others (Larson et al., 1992). Some studies have reported on the linkage of genes to Alzheimer's. Hollingworth et al. (2011) assert that a lot of these genes does not trigger this health condition to the extent of bringing about a greater vulnerability. The category E4 of the apolipoprotein gene is linked to a greater susceptibility of living with late-onset Alzheimer's disease (Verghese et al., 2011). However, this relates to sporadic or non-familial Alzheimer's disease. Dening & Babu Sandilyan (2014) state that "[a]part from these genes, having a first-degree relative with late-onset Alzheimer's disease increases one's chance of developing Alzheimer's disease is the most dominant of all the types of dementia and next to it is vascular dementia. Vascular disease and Lewy body disease, many times, exist in tandem with Alzheimer's disease (Bachman et al., 1992; Collerton et al., 1996).

As a health condition which adversely affects language and cognition, persons living with dementia hitherto to having this health condition, in many circumstances, live with other diseases such as coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, hypertension, and diabetes (Prince et al., 2011; Kurrle et al., 2012). Nabalamba & Patten (2010) assert that over eighteen percent of persons living with dementia have a mood disorder. In contrast, they state that less than six percent of their counterparts without dementia live with mood disorders (Nabalamba & Patten, 2010). This information supports the idea that persons living with dementia have diverse healthcare needs and therefore, a comprehensive primary healthcare structure for dementia care is needed to improve the quality of life, care, and support for them. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2005) asserts that more than seventy percent of Alzheimer's diagnosis and over sixty percent of the other types of dementia affect women. This opens a new chapter for additional studies to be conducted to identify the reasons behind this gender disparity in dementia disease occurrence among the general

population. By so doing, specific programs (adopting healthy living lifestyles, education on dementia care for family members providing caregiving support, healthcare initiatives for the vulnerable population who are at risk of living with dementia, e.g., Down syndrome, etcetera) can be created to help the people often affected by this health condition.

#### 2.1.4. Prevalence of Dementia in Canada

The world is facing a dementia epidemic, and the same trend seems to be happening in Canada. The World Health Organization (2016c) states that more than forty-seven million people around the world live with dementia, and more than seven million cases happen as the year unfolds. Information from other parts of the world confirms the global nature of this health condition. In Canada, dementia is one of the significant health conditions facing the geriatric population. According to the Canadian Nurses Association (2013), dementia has reached the threshold where it can be considered an epidemic. Therefore, the healthcare system should be proactive in tackling this issue. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2005) states that nine percent of the population from age sixty-six and beyond lived with dementia.

Moreover, the Alzheimer Society of Canada (2006) asserts that more than four hundred thousand people from age sixty-six and beyond, and thirty-three percent of people from age eightysix and above lived with Alzheimer's or other similar health conditions. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2010) points out that more than four hundred and eighty thousand people in Canada lived with Alzheimer's or other similar types of dementia. They projected that more than one million people in Canada would live with dementia in two thousand and thirty-eight, which represents more than two-point-seven percent of the population (Alzheimer Society of Canada, 2010). A careful observation of this epidemiological information shows that the number of people affected by this health condition continues to increase among the Canadian population. These phenomena have the potential to exert more pressure on the existing primary healthcare services. According to the Public Health Agency of Canada (2014), this trend will have a greater impact on the primary healthcare sector. Therefore, it would be prudent and efficient to allocate resources to manage this health condition. By so doing, early detection of dementia and cutting-edge innovation in the primary healthcare system will be encouraged.

#### 2.1.5. Types of primary healthcare services available for persons living with dementia

A variety of health professionals provide primary healthcare services. These professionals include family physicians, pharmacists, occupational therapists, nurses, physiotherapists, and dietitians, among others. Family physicians make referrals, coordinate with other health professionals, and do follow-up services to give the best of care to people. The organization of events and activities in dementia care is usually the duty of the family physician, but there are other sources that can be used to supplement these activities to enhance the quality of care (Burns et al., 2003; Callahan et al., 2006). Regarding referrals, persons living with dementia may be referred by their family physicians to other specialists such as a neurologist, who might perform diagnostic imaging to confirm a case of dementia. Also, family physicians prescribe medication for people in their care. Family physicians are the initial point of contact for persons living with dementia who access community-based services, but concerning drug prescription, family physicians and other specialists perform this function separately (Hillmer et al., 2006; Jeschke et al., 2011). Therefore, effective regular communication should exist between family physicians and other specialists such as neurologists and psychiatrists in their delivery of services to persons living with dementia. According to Thind et al. (2009), lack of agreement among professionals can result in lower standards of healthcare delivery. This might account for some of the reasons why there has been a call for a multi-disciplinary approach to dementia care where health professionals come together to work in teams to ensure a higher quality of care for people living with dementia. The Alzheimer Society of Canada has created a program called the First Link which helps family physicians to connect people under their care to society to assist them to find other services deemed essential to their healthcare needs. Frank et al. (2011) state that:

The First Link referral process begins when the family physician seeks permission from the patient and family to provide the Alzheimer Society with contact information and sends a simple referral sheet to the local chapter office. The Alzheimer Society proactively contacts the patient or caregiver to introduce the services available and to arrange followup contact. (p. 1389)

This initiative has the potential to help family physicians who sometimes find it difficult to refer people due to the limited number of specialists. Persons living with dementia need services that will help them to maintain their functional abilities to ensure independence. Occupational therapists are some of the health professionals that can be relied upon to achieve this objective. One of their duties is to enhance the quality of life and assist people to engage in activities of daily living (Occupational Therapy Australia, 2013). Occupational therapists provide services to persons living with dementia who live in their homes, hospitals, communities, long-term care facilities, and others (Bennett et al., 2011). They assist people living with dementia to engage in meaningful activities that enhance their functional abilities and work with their families to achieve these objectives. As such, they also work to ensure the safety of persons living with dementia. Wesson et al. (2013) report that persons living with dementia are highly susceptible to experience a fall as compared to others. Injuries as a result of a fall are some of the factors which lead to a decline in an individual's capacity to take care of him/herself and to engage in activities of daily living (Tinetti & Kumar, 2010). Occupational therapists work to ensure that persons living with dementia transition smoothly to their new environment because of some adaptations that have been made. This helps to avoid falls and other injuries that would have occurred. Therefore, occupational therapists play an important role in maintaining the dignity and integrity of persons living with dementia.

Dietitians form part of the primary healthcare system. They play an essential role by ensuring that people adopt a healthy eating lifestyle. They also provide education on sources of food nutrients and supplements that promote the health and well-being of people. At some point in the transition period for persons living with dementia, the services of a dietitian may be needed to assist in developing a healthy food menu plan. This helps families supporting relatives living with dementia to have access to a healthy diet that can enhance their well-being. The Alzheimer's Disease International (2014) share that overall, the reduction in weight linked to malnutrition usually comes before the beginning of dementia and happens further as the condition continues to develop. As such, Droogsma et al. (2013) estimate that one percent shy of fifteen percent of persons living with dementia who live independently were susceptible to malnutrition. Therefore, engaging the services of a dietitian could help in responding to malnutrition among persons living with dementia thereby reducing the incidence of weight loss. Chang & Roberts (2008) share that assisting elderly people living with dementia to take in food is usually complicated, requires time and becomes challenging in the transition period of the condition.

In addition, Kai et al. (2015) state that over twenty percent shy of a hundred percent of persons living with Alzheimer's encounter eating and swallowing problems. This reveals how feeding can be a hard task for families supporting relatives living with dementia. Again, dietitians can provide education to families on how to make some food textures (e.g., soft minced, etc.) that

are easy to eat for relatives living with dementia. Another particular group of people that may need the services of a dietitian are persons living with dementia who also have diabetes. According to Cheng et al. (2012), a contemporary combination of the findings from various studies shows Diabetes Mellitus as a great underlying element or component for the various forms of dementia. The services of a dietitian would help to ensure that people living with these two health conditions (dementia & diabetes) have a regulated food menu or plan which promotes access to a healthy diet and other food nutrients. By so doing, their blood sugar levels can be monitored and kept at a reasonable level. Otherwise, this can affect their physical health and well-being and also create a burden for their caregivers.

Pharmacists are part of health professionals working in the primary healthcare system. As such, they can be very beneficial to families providing caregiving support to relatives living with dementia. As dementia is linked to health conditions that are visible, there is a higher chance for being on many medications thereby causing greater susceptibility to the harmful side complication of the use of medication (The King's Fund, 2013; Wise, 2013). Tannenbaum et al. (2012) state that this scenario especially put adults at risk of having their thinking and memory affected, which is caused by the influence of medication. Many people living with dementia rely on drugs to manage their health conditions. Devanand & Schultz (2011) & Bell et al. (2012) support the assertion that numerous medications have the potential to impact the ability to reason and understand. As a result of this situation, using the services of a pharmacist could ensure the safety and appropriate use of drugs for persons living with dementia. Pharmacists have the ability to evaluate drugs in order to find out if the drugs given under the authority of a health professional to persons living with dementia are beneficial, creating problems, and to establish that their use is vital (Blenkinsopp, Bond, & Raynor, 2012). Moreover, at the fourth stakeholders' seminar in

Canada, donepezil, galantamine, and rivastigmine were suggested as drugs for managing Alzheimer's and other dementia (Gauthier et al., 2012). A working relationship between families, physicians, and pharmacists may be needed to ensure that persons living with dementia who are using some of these drugs are getting the right dosage and reviewing them at some point to find out if they were helpful or not. Doug et al. (2017) point out that some of the regular harmful complications linked to the usage of the drugs above include nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea due to the higher presence of acetylcholine. Again, Doug et al. (2017) talk about encountering some challenges in sleeping, drowsiness, reduction in weight, and fainting as potential identifiable alternative complications that can happen and therefore, an observation is needed. As these medications suggested at the fourth seminar in Canada are drugs that affect the work of acetylcholinesterase on acetylcholine in the human brain, a study in the United Kingdom, state that close to fifty percent of individuals on these types of medications use other ones that fight against the attachment of acetylcholine to receptors in the brain as a result of having physical conditions (Carnahan et al., 2004; Modi et al., 2009). According to Modi et al. (2009), medications that stop the role of acetylcholine are linked to sedation, memory and thinking problems, and delirium, while Aizenberg et al. (2002) tie them to falls. Therefore, it becomes imperative for families and physicians to work closely with pharmacists to prevent any unforeseeable harmful complications of drug use for persons living with dementia.

Allied health professionals contribute to the delivery of services in the primary healthcare system. For persons living with dementia who stand the chance of receiving a higher quality of care through a multi-disciplinary team approach, the services of a physiotherapist would help in maintaining their dignity and independence. Blankevoort et al. (2010) report that being less active add up to the limited choices in life faced by persons living with dementia and are at risk of having

the state of their body and performance negatively affected thereby causing a decrease in independence and engagement in the regular or day-to-day routine. Therefore, encouraging persons living with dementia to engage in daily activities in the home (such as cleaning, brushing, and bathing) and community (walking at the park and meeting with friends) can improve in maintaining some basic skills. Again, Thuné-Boyle et al. (2012) & Winchester et al. (2013) identify the engagement in an activity as having the potential to promote the performance of day-to-day routine, sleep as well as a decrease in neuropsychiatric signs of dementia. Rolland et al. (2007) describe that being more active fights against some of the adverse effects connected to dementia, which includes susceptible to falls and broken bones, wasting of the muscle, and disruption in the performance of the heart and blood vessels. Therefore, accessing the services of a physiotherapist to develop a care plan with persons living with dementia to engage them in some physical activities can improve their independence, dignity, and well-being.

# 2.1.6. Challenges that persons living with dementia encounter in accessing primary healthcare services

Levesque et al.'s study (as cited in Woodgate et al., 2017) affirms that "[h]ealthcare services are expected to be approachable, acceptable, available, accommodative, affordable, and appropriate" (p. 2). Therefore, these various factors can be the measures for assessing the accessibility of primary healthcare services as many health services are offered in this sector. If these factors are not met when accessing a primary healthcare service, then there are certainly some challenges impeding their usage. Access to transportation helps people to travel from one place to another. In our modern society, the usage of transportation services has become an essential part of the daily activities of people. Without it, a lot of our schedules will be disrupted. We need access to transportation to go to school, work, attend a hospital appointment, and other services. But

sometimes persons living with dementia may encounter some difficulties in accessing transport services to see their doctor or visit to other specialist services. This might be the case for persons living with dementia who live in rural areas where access to transportation remains a challenge. One of the things to take note of is that Dandy & Bollman (2008) state that the majority of the number of people living in the countryside in Canada is made up of the elderly as against the number of people living in the city. With transportation being an issue in rural areas, the elderly people living with dementia are highly likely to be at the receiving end. In the United Kingdom, an evaluation of diagnoses and post-diagnostic management of dementia cases in remote communities reveal that access to specialist services and others become an obstacle as a result of the challenges involved in accessing transportation (Szymczynska et al., 2011). This situation can cause some delays which may lead to missing a physician or specialist appointment for persons living with dementia in these areas.

Health professionals in the primary healthcare sector provide essential services to people living with dementia. More than eighty-five percent of people in Canada reported about having periodic access to a health service which is often a general practitioner (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2009). But most often, persons living with dementia and their family members encounter some challenges in finding health professionals who will provide them with the needed healthcare services. Hogan (2001) reports that the number of specialists available is not sufficient to provide the necessary services for the increasing number of persons living with dementia and their families and friends. In many circumstances in the United Kingdom and Canada, it becomes difficult to have access to psychiatrists and social workers (Lester et al., 2005; National Physician Survey, 2007). This might be the case for individuals with dementia who live in rural areas where there are a limited number of health professionals delivering their services. As a result, many of them have to travel a long distance to cities where there are more primary healthcare services and specialists. This affects their healthcare needs and finances as a considerable amount of money is spent on transportation.

Generally, if there are more family physicians available, then many people will have access to healthcare services. One indicator to check is the doctor-patient ratio which gives the balance between physicians and patients. The higher the number of patients per physicians, the greater the challenges in finding a family physician and a likelihood event of facing long wait times in accessing primary healthcare services and vice versa. Chan (2002) states that in our modern times, general practitioners perform various functions in relation to their counterparts of the past decade. This means that physicians in our contemporary society have incorporated more services in their practice as against their associates in the past. According to the College of Family Physicians of Canada et al. (2004), steadily, the pace of general practitioner performance in surgical, anesthesia, and obstetrics functions is decreasing, while a new study shows that more than ten percent have reported limiting their level of engagement in the period of forty-eight months ahead. General practitioners, in the case of limiting their level of engagement or functions, would mean that persons living with dementia might have to look elsewhere for some services that were previously provided by them. This scenario can pose a challenge to persons living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare services.

There are a lot of uncertainties surrounding the diagnosis of dementia. This situation can affect family members caring for relatives living with dementia as they might be worried as to where to seek the right diagnostic services. In North America, according to the National Institute of Health's study & Small et al.'s study (as cited in Linda et al., 1999), one of such protocols suggested by professionals in diagnosing dementia: ...include obtaining information from the patient and family members on the patient's history of difficulties in functioning due to cognitive problems; mental status testing using standardized instruments; and a standard battery of laboratory tests, including complete blood cell count, blood chemistries, liver function test, and determination of thyroid-stimulating hormone levels to rule out possible reversible forms of dementia. (p. 4)

Morris et al. (1988) assert that employing this protocol has been proven to be viable in dementia diagnoses. But the level of knowledge and skills possessed by physicians and specialists play a crucial role in diagnosing dementia. Several research studies show that there are irregularities as to how primary care physicians use these suggested protocols in diagnosing dementia (Fortinsky & Wasson, 1997; Glasser, 1993). On the one hand, in Canada, Aminzadeh et al. (2012) point out that "[a]lthough the majority of patients experiencing the first signs of dementia initially visit a primary care provider, many, if not most, appear to have their diagnosis confirmed by a specialist" (pp. 85-94). On the other hand, according to Drummond et al. (2016),

Reasons for dementia diagnoses occurring in specialist practices rather than primary care are multifaceted and include primary care providers having a lack of confidence in dementia knowledge and support resources; concern about misdiagnosis; perception of usefulness of diagnosis and treatment options; and lack or mistrust of screening tools. (p. 180)

This explanation from these authors supports the argument that there is an existing knowledge gap among primary care physicians in diagnosing dementia. As stated earlier, family members may be faced with caregiving challenges and might not be sure as to where to seek the right diagnostic services for their relatives living with dementia. In our contemporary society, persons living with disabilities encounter a lot of discrimination in their life endeavours. Barnes (1992) & Pfeiffer (2003) report that in areas such as education, employment, and health. The mainstream culture perceives persons living with disabilities as weak and fragile. In this regard, they are considered as a burden to the public purse and as people who need welfare services to survive. Thomas (2007) points out that a person is considered capable and financially independent based on his/her capacity to contribute to economic development. These mainstream ideas have caused significant damage to the lives of persons living with disabilities. Academic papers and publications have been able to expose the discrimination and exclusion faced by persons living with dementia (Blackman et al., 2003; Dorenlot, 2005; Beattie et al., 2005b; Davis et al., 2009; Brittain et al., 2010). The negative attitudes and discrimination from health professionals and other service providers against persons living with dementia have the potential to deny them access to primary healthcare services. According to Health Canada's study (as cited in Bielska et al., 2012), "[t]he Canada Health Act stipulates that healthcare services are reasonably and uniformly accessible to all citizens without financial barriers or discrimination" (p. 52). Therefore, denying an eligible person access to healthcare based on his/her race, ethnicity, disability, gender, and financial status, among others, amounts to a breach of this statutory act.

However, another exciting information according to Fierlbeck (2011) is that the provinces cannot be held accountable when they breach the Canada Health Act because it's not inescapable on them; acting in a manner that goes above their powers and that of the federal mandate. Therefore, if a provincial government tasked to provide healthcare to all eligible residents including persons living with dementia fails to do so, where would it be appropriate to seek redress? Also, persons living with dementia who need access to primary healthcare to improve their health condition will be left in the loop and might not get the necessary healthcare services.

This grey area in the law may serve as an escape route for provincial governments to renege on their mandate in providing healthcare services that accommodate the needs of persons living with dementia.

Waitlist management continues to be one of the issues plaguing the Canadian healthcare system. The wait times involved to have access to a doctor can adversely affect the health and well-being of the person seeking care especially if it is taking longer to see one. As it can be a challenge when using this service, more than seventy percent of mature people in Canada, assess the standard of health service provided by general practitioners to be outstanding or remarkable (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2009). Schoen et al. (2010) point out that more than thirty percent of the people in Canada say that in the most recent times when they got ill, it took more than five days for them to have access to a physician service. Persons living with dementia might suffer the same fate when accessing physician services. Therefore, the wait times involved to see a doctor may serve as a challenge to them as this can affect their health condition.

Another potential challenge that can affect persons living with dementia who access primary healthcare services is the cost of prescription drugs. The Canadian Institute for Health Information (2006) points out that next after hospital expenditures is pharmaceuticals, and thus, purchases for medications given under the authority of a physician and over-the-counter medicines considered as the most significant and swift moving enterprise in the health field, with the rate of progress stated to be more than four percent per annum. Some of the underlying factors to consider when debating on why the pharmaceutical industry is showing definite signs of financial profitability are the prevalence of chronic conditions among the population and the desire to engage in breakthrough cutting-edge research into new drug discoveries and its clinical effectiveness. This gives pharmaceutical companies the legal right to have patents for these new drugs. Although governments have oversight responsibility through their agencies (e.g., Patented Medicines Prices Review Board- federal stage) or existing agreements (e.g., Product Listing Agreement- provincial stage) when it comes to drug pricing, but when these drugs after approval from Health Canada are advertised and prescribed continuously for people due to its safety and effectiveness, then sales may be improved thereby attracting more financial gains for the pharmaceutical industry.

From a subjective point of view, when there is a high prevalence of chronic diseases among the population, then more people may need prescription drugs to cure or manage their health condition. All other things being equal, the more people buy prescription drugs due to having some chronic diseases, then the higher the sales thereby drawing in more financial gains for this industry. There are some dynamics involved when it comes to prescription drug coverage. The Canadian Institute for Health Information (2011) & Paris & Docteur (2007) assert that medications prescribed in health institutions are taken care of by the health insurance services administered by governments. In contrast, according to Paris & Docteur (2007), when it comes to medication expenditures, medications that are given under the authority of a doctor, but not in a health institution area and those that are used without a doctor's permission are not taken care of by the health insurance services provided by governments. Again, Paris & Docteur's study (as cited in Bielska et al., 2012) state that "[p]ublic drug coverage ranges from providing drugs to financially disadvantaged populations like seniors, welfare recipients, and those individuals with medical or financial needs to universal eligibility" (p. 53). While this is a laudable idea for the underprivileged, seniors, and those on social intervention programs, the issue of sustainability, change in government, and a change in policy direction come into play. Besides, Canada does not have a national pharmaceutical drug insurance plan to ensure uniformity and orientation for prescription drug coverage. In effect, some provinces have designed their own programs to respond to this situation. Therefore, a critical observation of this phenomenon makes the cost of prescription drugs a potential challenge to the healthcare system in general and can affect persons living with dementia who often need some prescription drugs to manage their health condition.

# 2.1.7. Responses or solutions that can help address the challenges faced by persons living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare services

Information technology and innovation in healthcare delivery have begun to gain grounds in the Canadian healthcare system. The federal government and some provincial governments have taken some initiatives to this effect. The Institute of Medicine (2003) reports that in the course of treatment having detailed health data of a person can prevent some oversights in the delivery of healthcare. One of such initiatives is the Alberta HealthLink program used by people who are searching for physicians via an information technology platform which is accessible at all times (Letourneau, 2009; Alberta Health Services, 2013). Another initiative in the same province is the Access improvement measures (AIM) program which guarantees access to healthcare services for people within the shortest possible time (Alberta AIM, 2013). These programs can help family members encountering problems in finding family physicians and other healthcare practitioners for their relatives living with dementia.

A multi-disciplinary approach to healthcare delivery is one of the strategies which promotes quality of life and support for people in need of healthcare. New studies recommend that the most exceptional results for people under the care of practitioners are obtained through the collaboration among health personnel in the performance of their duties and functions and coming up with new methods to advance the delivery of care (Borrill et al., 2001). As this statement supports a multi-disciplinary strategy to healthcare delivery, Barret et al. (2007) report that health practitioners using this approach assists people receiving care in getting access to many forms of treatment and ensure that services are provided efficiently. Therefore, it was not surprising that this idea featured in the First Ministers' accord in 2004, which was geared towards improving healthcare for the people living in Canada. Health Canada (2004) asserts that this agreement aimed to ensure that half of the population can gain the use of health professionals from various backgrounds who are working together at any time at the beginning of the year before two thousand and twelve. This confirms why multi-disciplinary care is necessary and a strategy that can benefit persons living with dementia who access primary healthcare services. More so, primary healthcare services involve a lot of health professionals and therefore, adopting a multi-disciplinary care approach would be in line with the underlying values of this sector.

According to Hum et al. (2014), "a multi-disciplinary team approach is crucial in managing both patients' and caregivers' evolving health and social care needs, as dementia progresses" (p. 101). In this regard, persons living with dementia who, in many cases, live with other health conditions will benefit from this form of healthcare delivery approach. Since persons living with dementia have many diverse needs of care, it is most difficult to find services that meet their needs. This is in part, due to the new paradigm shift in the medical field which encourages specialization. Tepper (2004) states that "[o]f those students electing to pursue family medicine training, an increasing number are seeking further sub-specialization in areas such as sports medicine and emergency medicine" (p. 10). Therefore, a collaborative or multi-disciplinary approach where health practitioners work in teams can help persons living with dementia to have access to a lot of primary care services and other specialist services that they might find it difficult to access. One of the significant challenges identified in the healthcare system for rural residents is the limited number of health practitioners in these areas. As a result, several initiatives have been taken in Canada to encourage health professionals to work in rural areas. One of such programs is by providing training to people who come from rural communities with the aim that they will return home to deliver their services to the people living in these areas. Bowen (2000) asserts that there is a higher probability for these people to take this step to serve their communities. But because of the status of people such as work, marriage, education, and others change over the course of time, it may be difficult to achieve this objective.

The number of available health facilities in a geographical area can have an impact on the residents living in that area. There is less pressure on existing health facilities when a considerable number of others also exist. In rural areas where there are few health facilities, people living with dementia may find it difficult to access primary healthcare and other hospital services. Relatives or friends providing care support in the countryside in Canada gave the information that there are fewer choices in terms of the delivery of care related to dementia support provided in their locality in relation to the ones in the city (Forbes et al., 2008). According to Hum et al. (2014), communitybased primary care is the initial point of contact for people exhibiting signs of dementia and their support networks. The Canadian Nurses Association (2016) states that "[f]orecasts show that the fifty-five percent of persons with dementia (sixty-five and over) living in their own homes in 2008 will grow to sixty-two percent by 2038" (p. 7). Therefore, strengthening community-based practices is one of the best strategies to tackle this situation to improve access to primary healthcare services for many people living with dementia in their communities. Aminzadeh et al. (2012) recommend that strengthening community-based primary healthcare towards dementia need the effort of every locality to re-examine the materials at its disposable, single out disparities existing in the discharge of functions, and design a line of action that optimally harmonize the utilization of the materials or opportunities available.

Canada does not have a national strategy on dementia. As a result, there has been a call for one in recent times. Nationwide, a usual point of attention on a plan of action for dementia is gaining the use of knowledge, care, and programs for persons living with dementia including their support networks at every point in the delivery of support (Alzheimer's Disease International & World Health Organization, 2012). According to Lowi-Young (2015), over eighty percent of Canadians support this idea. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2015) asserts that looking at the magnitude and cost of dementia, none of the provinces can resolve this issue separately. Therefore, this organization supports the idea of a national dementia strategy, which they affirm that it can resolve the discrepancies existing in dementia care. This is a laudable initiative because there will be uniformity and policy direction towards dementia care. But this strategy might be difficult to implement as healthcare is the prerogative of the provincial and territorial governments. Also, some provinces might not consider this matter as one of their priorities because they may have other pressing issues such as housing, suicide management, waitlist management, and others that need some attention and resources.

An accessible environment does not provide convenience to persons living with disabilities alone, but people from all walks of life. An inaccessible environment denigrates the integrity and dignity of persons living with disabilities and older adults who have the desire to live an independent life. This is one of the reasons why the province of Manitoba has the Accessibility for Manitobans Act (2013) aimed at making the environment accessible for all. Physical environments that enhance the movement of older adults can assist in avoiding dementia (Alzheimer Society of Canada, 2010; Kennan, 2014). For example, the construction of pedestrian walkways and curb cuts promote the movement of older adults who use a wheelchair in the community. Therefore, making the environment accessible to persons living with dementia is one of the strategies we can adopt if we want to promote quality of life and support.

Although family physicians and family members play an essential role in the care and management of dementia, the complexities surrounding dementia diagnosis and management show that more resources should be provided to improve the knowledge of healthcare providers on dementia care. The Canadian Nurses Association (2016) suggests that the federal government should invest in resources that will improve the competencies of health practitioners at all levels of dementia management. Providing resources that make health practitioners have comprehensive information and knowledge on dementia care can help physicians who coordinate with family members to come up with strategies that work best for persons living with dementia.

### Conclusion

A literature review is conducted to look into scholarly works done by other writers or authors concerning a particular area of interest. This helps researchers to compare and contrast ideas shared by them and offer a critique around this subject. In this study, a literature review on the following areas such as Canadian healthcare system, types of dementia, prevalence of dementia in Canada, types of primary healthcare services available for persons living with dementia, challenges that persons living dementia encounter in accessing primary healthcare services, responses or solutions that can help address the challenges faced by persons living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare services, and others were examined. By so doing, the researcher gave a critique on these topics in order to provoke the thoughts of people interested in this field.

In the next chapter, the indices and model underpinning this study are reported in detail.

#### **Chapter 3**

#### 3.1.0. Methodology

Under this section, the methodology used to conduct this research project is described in detail to demonstrate the ideology framework influencing this study. The Province of Manitoba was selected as the location of this study due to its closeness and convenience to the researcher. A qualitative methodology through a case study design was used in order to get in-depth information from family members on this topic. As this study is examined through a disability lens, the two main models (medical model & social model) that are essential to the field of disability are taken into account. The application of these two models in relation to dementia issues, their criticisms, and other views held by some authors is elaborated. The researcher used the social model of disability as the idea underlying this project because it champions the rights of persons living with disabilities, among others. In this sense, the primary healthcare system fails persons living with dementia if a reasonable accommodation is not provided to meet their healthcare needs.

Moreover, the study population involved family members who had relatives living with dementia. Through a working relationship with the Alzheimer Society of Manitoba, the researcher recruited eight people who had relatives living with dementia in Manitoba. An interview guide was developed and a total of eight face-to-face interviews were conducted with family members who agreed to participate in this study. After collecting the data, the services of a professional transcriber was used to transcribe them. The transcripts were transcribed verbatim. Each of the study participants received a copy of their transcript to review them. Some of them edited their transcript, while others did not do so. The edited transcripts plus the ones that were not edited were used in writing the stories shared by the participants. After writing the stories shared by the family members who engaged in this study, issues coming out of these narratives were grouped into themes. This helped the researcher to discuss the results of this study. The informed consent of the family members was offered through writing. Also, the confidentiality of the study participants was ensured by using pseudonyms to hide their true identities. All of the needed procedures were followed to get ethical approval from the Joint-Faculty Research Ethics Board (JFREB). This study will be made available to society by publishing it in academic journals. In addition, it will be uploaded on the University of Manitoba research repository such as MSpace.

### 3.1.1. Research setting

The province of Manitoba is in the western part of Canada. The Manitoba Bureau of Statistics (2017) pegs the population of Manitoba at 1,343,000. This province was the research setting or area for this study. Some of the factors which made the researcher choose Manitoba is proximity and the convenience involved in reaching out to participants who live in the same geographical area as the researcher. That aside, the researcher is a graduate student at the University of Manitoba. Therefore, conducting this study in Manitoba could help to improve the primary healthcare system for people living with dementia in Manitoba.

# 3.1.2. Research approach or methodology

For this study, the researcher employed a qualitative research methodology. Qualitative studies describe events and ideologies shared by participants (Berg & Bruce, 2007). A researcher using a qualitative research methodology may be concerned with describing events or phenomena around a topic of interest. In addition, an author using this methodology commits him/herself in collecting

in-depth information from the participants. In other words, the researcher is fully engaged in many of the activities of the study. Creswell (2005) supports this argument. Therefore, this method was used to inform readers about the views that families have in regard to access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba. According to Corbin & Strauss (2008), this method subjects researchers to unravel the aspect of the life endeavours of respondents which are more hidden, and to decode how ideas are formed based on their way of life or background. However, some researchers have criticized the use of this methodology. Sallee & Flood (2012) downplay the use of this methodology by stating that usually a group with a particular interest favours or prefer quantitative research methods when there is a need for a study to be conducted. In a rebuttal to this statement, Donmoyer (2012) states that this method has the potential to inform people in authority about best practices as it produces an in-depth account.

#### 3.1.3. Research design

A case study approach is popular in research studies and cuts across both qualitative and quantitative methodologies. Case studies are a means to express, report, or investigate events (Alpi & Evans, 2019). A researcher using this method establishes a relationship with the study participants to know more about their experiences and ideas on a topic. Alpi & Evans (2019) list interviews, records, objects associated with historical importance, direct observations, among others, as areas that case studies can depend on for information. As a result, a researcher may draw from these avenues to describe an event occurring in society. While it is challenging to communicate the outcomes of research in a comprehensive way, it is the duty of the author to translate an intricate event into a style easily comprehensible for a person who has an interest in knowing more about the study (Baxter & Jack, 2008). Recommended means of describing a case study include giving an account in the form of narration to the audience, producing a hierarchical

account, or by responding individually to the topics under inquiry (Baxter & Jack (2008). In this study, the researcher adopted a case study design to report on the stories shared by the family caregivers regarding relatives living with dementia. Some scholars have pointed out the shortcomings of the use of a case study in research. Dooley (2002) states that "case studies provide very little basis for scientific generalization since they use a small number of subjects, some conducted with only one subject" (p. 5). However, Crowe et al. (2011) share that a case study is a strategy employed to produce a detailed, all-round interpretation of an intricate subject in a realistic circumstance. Therefore, it was a step in the right direction to use this research design to obtain a detailed information from family members regarding access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia.

#### 3.1.4. The model or concept underpinning this research project

The researcher used the social model of disability as the main concept underpinning this project, as it has contributed immensely to the plight of persons living with disabilities. It might sound utopian or project an essentialist idea to have a general definition of disability. The existing body of knowledge stipulates that it would be challenging to describe precisely the meaning of the word disability, as it can be observed from multiple sources (Areheart, 2008; Darcy, 2004; Oliver, 1996b). But there are two models (medical model & social model) that have influenced the course and path of this field (Fitzgerald, 2005; Oliver, 1996b). These two models have also shaped legislation, policies, and other issues around disability (Darcy, 2004; European Commission, 1996). The medical model examines disability from a medical perspective and considers matters around the impaired body and restoration of a lost function (rehabilitation). Therefore, it is a broken limb or a dysfunctional body part that causes disability. In contrast, the social model cites the unjust social and physical environment as the cause of disability. The Union of the Physically

Impaired Against Segregation's (UPIAS) study (as cited in Scullion, 2010) describes "disability as the disadvantage or restriction caused by a contemporary social organization which takes no or little account of people who have physical impairments and thus excludes them from mainstream social activities" (p. 701). In this sense, it is the disabling social environment that perpetuates disability.

#### 3.1.5. Applying the Medical Model of Disability in Dementia

The lives and experiences of persons living with disabilities in the past have been documented in the medical journals because of disability being perceived as a health issue rather than a social one. The medical model considers living with disability as an unworthy life, and as such, the individual living with a disability is not considered 'normal.' The overarching idea of the medical model is to make professionals consider a dysfunctional body as one that needs to be treated (Barnes & Oliver, 1993; Fitzgerald, 2005). According to Llewellyn & Hogan (2000), the central idea evolves around normalization and how to fit into society. In this regard, the individual submits him/herself to the instructions given by the doctor to be cured. This in part, explains why many people living with mental health conditions were admitted into psychiatric institutions to be given the so-called treatment deemed appropriate. This model draws a line between the practitioner (the doctor who has the solution to a problem) and the patient (the individual who is seeking treatment). Therefore, applying the medical model in relation to access to healthcare for persons living with dementia focuses on issues such as whether the person has put in place some advance directives (e.g., medical assistance in dying) in case his/her condition gets worse, taking lab tests in order to find out if other health conditions exist due to having dementia, and undergoing a diagnostic imaging test upon the request of a specialist (e.g., neurologist) to find out the damage caused to the brain in order to know the plan of action to take.

#### 3.1.6. Criticisms of the Medical Model of Disability

Scholars have raised some concerns regarding issues that the medical model has failed to address. According to Darcy (2002), Oliver (1996b), & UPIAS (1976), the medical model does not address how society causes disability. This model considers disability as a misfortune or a personal tragedy. The person's individual condition has rendered the person disabled, and not society. Oliver (1996b) asserts that the medical model focuses on how to fix a person's impairment, as well as the notion that persons living with disabilities cannot engage in activities that are acceptable in the social environment. The disability right movement has criticized the medical model because they contend that inaccessible environment, negative perceptions, prejudices, and stereotypes that exist in the mainstream society about persons living with disabilities cause disability. Shakespeare's study (as cited in Scullion, 2010) identifies the medical model as a representative "for all that is wrong with traditional attitudes towards disability" (p. 699).

## 3.1.7. Applying the Social Model of Disability in Dementia

The social model came into existence due to the activities of the disability rights movement in the United Kingdom during the 1970s. Persons living with disabilities decided to demand equal rights and opportunities through activism. This model has contributed immensely to the lives of persons living with disabilities in many facets of life. Oliver & Barnes (2012) caution readers not to consider the social model as a theory or paradigm, but rather a political tool or instrument. As a political tool, it can influence change and remind policymakers and institutions of government to be critical in formulating policies and legislation around disability issues. As such, persons living with disabilities must be consulted when making decisions on their needs and welfare. In support of this is the famous adage, "Nothing About Us Without Us" (Charlton, 1998). According to Oliver (1996a), the social model does not treat disability as a medical issue but rather takes a collective

political and policy agenda in contrast with medicine and rehabilitation. This model pays attention to the limitations (physical, social, and psychological) that society puts on persons living with disabilities (Areheart, 2008; Burchardt, 2004). Thomas & Milligan (2017) state that "[i]n essence, applying the social model meant examining whether individuals who served as carers imposed any disablist social barriers upon those living with dementia, in everyday person-to-person interactions either in households or within institutions" (p. 5). These limitations or barriers perpetuate disabling conditions and can prevent persons living with dementia from participating fully in society. Therefore, the onus lies on society to remove all forms of barriers for persons living with dementia to realize their full potentials. Applying this model in access to primary healthcare services for persons living with dementia might evolve around issues which look at physical barriers that prevent them from accessing these services, negative attitudes of health professionals that may serve as a challenge in the delivery of primary healthcare services, and gaps that exist in the healthcare system that denies them from receiving a higher quality of care. As a result, if the tools needed to help persons living with dementia to fully access primary healthcare services are not provided, then society fails in this circumstance. This model serves as the theory influencing this study.

# 3.1.8. Criticisms of the Social Model of Disability

The social model has been criticized for not recognizing some issues of importance in this field. Chappell (1998) critiques that this model emphasizes physical impairment but neglects to address difference. Bury (1991) argues that illness can be described by its effects, its severity or magnitude on the daily life of a person, and its importance, and cultural meanings and beliefs around illness and disability. According to Crow (1996), "impairment in the form of chronic illness or pain may curtail activity and participation to the extent that 'the restriction of the outside world becomes irrelevant' and impairment will remain, yet without disabling barriers" (p. 209). From a subjective point of view, Crow (1996) downplays the idea that the limitations or obstacles faced by persons living with disabilities in society may not always be the cause of disability, but rather the health condition lived by the individual.

# 3.1.9. The study population

In this research project, the study population involved family members who had relatives living with dementia. This study population was essential to the researcher due to the wealth of knowledge possessed by families caring for relatives living with dementia.

# 3.2.0. The recruitment process of the study participants

The Alzheimer Society of Manitoba has been in existence for over thirty-five years. There was not much information about Alzheimer's disease at that time. Families who had relatives diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease were looking for information and resources that would help in providing the needed care and support. The search for help to support a person living with dementia brought together people from different backgrounds to form this organization. These people worked tirelessly to ensure the success of this new organization and embarked on fundraising and other activities. Membership in this organization is through donations. The Alzheimer Society of Manitoba seeks to achieve an accessible and friendly environment for persons living with dementia in Manitoba. In other words, this organization wants to ensure that the needs of persons living with dementia are taken into consideration in Manitoba. Some of their functions include awareness creation, education, and training for families and persons living with dementia in Manitoba. The Alzheimer Society of Manitoba provides some funds in the form of research grants to support researchers conducting studies in Manitoba. Besides, the Alzheimer Society of Manitoba provided funding in the form of grants for this research study. The researcher through a working relationship with the Alzheimer Society of Manitoba recruited people from this organization for this project. The researcher decided to appear in-person at conferences and seminars organized by this organization to discuss this study and look for families who will be interested in participating. Although this did not happen during the recruitment process. Through a working relationship with the program director of the Alzheimer Society, the researcher used their platforms such as the website, Facebook, and the monthly e-newsletter to make this study known to the public.

## 3.2.1. Selection criteria for this study

In order to be eligible to engage in this project, the potential participant must be a close family member such as husband, wife, son, and daughter of the person living with dementia. He/she must be eighteen years and above. Moreover, the potential participant must at least have provided two years of caregiving support to his/her relative living with dementia. Besides, he/she should be able to communicate in English. These criteria were adopted because the researcher wanted to get people who have more knowledge and information about relatives living with dementia.

## 3.2.2. Sampling technique and sample size

There are different types of sampling techniques in research studies. These include convenience sampling, stratified sampling, snowball sampling, and purposive sampling, among others. In this study, the researcher used a purposive sampling technique in selecting the participants. This technique was adopted to select participants who had some knowledge and ideas about this topic. According to Tongco (2007), "the purposive sampling technique, also called judgment sampling, is the deliberate choice of an informant due to the qualities the informant possesses" (p. 147). One of the incentives derived from this technique is that the considerable amount of time and resources

involved in selecting the participants are used efficiently. As such, a total of eight family members (two wives, one son, and five daughters) of people living with dementia were selected purposively for this study. A research sample is the subset of the study population from which participants are drawn. As people living in different geographical locations may have different needs and experiences, the researcher conducted two interviews in Winnipeg and the rest in a small town in Manitoba. This exercise enriched the data that were collected, as the participants shared different information on accessing primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba.

## 3.2.3. Research instrument

In this study, the researcher used interviews as a tool for data collection. According to Esterberg (2002), an interview exercise is an avenue where a respondent answers a question posed by an interviewer. In this situation, the researcher builds a rapport with the individual and initiate some conversations as well. The use of the interview in a qualitative case study is highly considered vital among the areas of information gathering (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Yin, 2009). For this study, the researcher used semi-structured interviews in collecting data from participants. Esterberg (2002) considers detailed interviews as semi-structured thereby defining it as a flexible activity which encourages a free-flow of ideas among an interviewer and a respondent compared to structured interviews. Corbetta (2003) defines semi-structured interviews as:

The order in which the various topics are dealt with and the wording of the questions are left to the interviewer's discretion. Within each topic, the interviewer is free to conduct the conversation as he thinks fit, to ask the questions he deems appropriate in the words he considers best, to give explanation and ask for clarification if the answer is not clear, to prompt the respondent to elucidate further if necessary, and to establish his own style of conversation. (p. 270)

As such, an interview guide was designed for this purpose. The researcher used open-ended questions to get a wide range of knowledge and ideas that families living in Manitoba have on access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia. Probing techniques were used to help the participants to elaborate further on questions posed to them.

## 3.2.4. Data collection procedures

Data collection procedure involves the steps used in getting information for any research study. It can be derived from different ways which include both primary and secondary sources. Heaton (2004) reveals that telephone interviews, field notes, focus groups, among others, are the various means in which information for a qualitative study can be gathered. O'Leary (2004) states that "[c]ollecting credible data is a tough task, and it is worth remembering that one method of data collection is not inherently better than another" (p. 150). A primary source of data collection was used for this research study. The researcher used an interview guide to conduct a single face-to-face interview with each of the participants in order to get detailed information on this topic. In total, eight face-to-face interviews were conducted. Two of the interviews were conducted in Winnipeg, while the rest were conducted in a small town in Manitoba. The researcher gave the study participants prior notice in writing and/or telephone conversation in order to agree with them in selecting the date and venue to conduct these interviews.

## 3.2.5. Trustworthiness or validity of this study

According to Creswell & John (2009), validity tests the truthfulness of the results of a study. Therefore, the integrity and truthfulness of any research study are put into question when there seems to be a mismatch between the research objectives and the study results. This idea usually fits into a quantitative research methodology where data collected is subjected to a rigorous scientific form of data analyses. As a result, it is expected that the outcome of a study should be the same when it is subjected to the same format of scientific analyses by other researchers. But qualitative research studies digress from this rationale due to the complexities and subjective views held by research participants on a topic. In this regard, the researcher adopted a member checking procedure with the study participants. Where information is gathered and examined, there is a possibility for authors to decide to include member checking, which is a situation whereby the authors' explanation of the information gathered is made available to the subjects in order to give them the chance to debate and throw light on the explanation given, and offer other ideas on the topic being investigated (Baxter & Jack, 2008). In this study, the researcher sent the transcripts to the participants and informed them to cross-check to find out if what was written truly confirms what they said. They were informed that they have the right to edit the transcript if they wish to do so. All of the eight participants replied and confirmed that what was written represented what they said. Also, some of them edited their transcript. The edited transcripts plus the ones that were not edited by the other participants were used in analyzing the data gathered from them.

# 3.2.6. Analyses of data

In this study, the data collected from participants were given to a professional transcriber to transcribe them. The transcripts were transcribed verbatim. The transcriber signed a confidentiality agreement which states that "he/she shall keep all the audio recordings and transcripts relating to this project confidential." The researcher adopted a descriptive case study approach to write the stories of each of the family members regarding relatives living with dementia. Afterward, issues arising from these stories were grouped into themes to initiate some conversations that were

supported with empirical evidence from other scholarly works. This exercise or activity helped the researcher to discuss the results of this project based on the specific information shared by the study participants. Morse (2008) explains a theme as the vital concept emerging or originating from the information gathered. That aside, Saldana & Omasta (2017) point out that "[a]s with themes, the statements are arranged in an outlined format according to their evolving status as assertions and their constituent sub assertions, and revised as needed when any disconfirming evidence merits it" (p. 247).

#### 3.2.7. Ethical considerations

Ethics in research studies are very crucial when conducting any study involving people. A lot of factors are taken into consideration to ensure the safety and welfare of participants. In this research project, some of the ethical issues that were considered included confidentiality, privacy, and informed consent. Emanuel et al.'s study (as cited in Liamputtong, 2007) describe informed consent as "the provision of information to participants, about the purpose of the research, its procedures, potential risks, benefits, and alternatives, so that the individual understands this information and can make a voluntary decision whether to enroll and continue to participants who engaged in this study voluntarily agreed and signed a consent form. The researcher kept a copy of this form and also each one of them (study participants) was given a copy to keep. The participants were told in writing that they have the right to withdraw from this study at any point in time if they wish to do so. If this situation happens, all the information shared by a participant would not be included in the findings of this project. Fortunately, in this study, this incident did not occur.

Christians' study (as cited in Liamputtong, 2007) states that "[c]onfidentiality aims to conceal the true identity of the participants" (p. 5). As such, the confidentiality of the participants was ensured by using pseudonyms to hide their identities. Also, the researcher decided to withhold the names of people and locations reported by the participants in quoting what they said. In writing the stories shared by the study participants, these were put into parenthesis. The researcher made sure that all data collected were kept in a locked cabinet and/or a password-protected computer. The author of this study was the only person who had access to this locked cabinet to avoid any breach of confidentiality. Furthermore, all protocols and procedures relating to ethical issues were followed to get approval for this project.

#### 3.2.8. Dissemination

This study will be published in some journals (e.g., Journal of Disability & Society) and the University of Manitoba research repository platform such as MSpace. In addition, this study will be presented at the Centre on Aging Annual Spring Symposium. The researcher will provide both hard and soft copies of this research paper to the Department of Disability Studies and the Alzheimer Society of Manitoba for educational purposes. A copy of this paper (either hard or soft copy) will be sent to each of the study participants through a medium in which they wish to receive it. The information that will end up in the publication will be mostly the ones that answer the research questions of this study.

## 3.2.9. Limitations of this study

This study sought to get information from close family members who had relatives living with dementia in the province of Manitoba. All of the results and outcomes of this study were based on the opinions, ideas, and expressions of the study participants selected for this study. As such, all

of the information and discussions focused on families' perspectives on accessing primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba. This study does not represent the views of persons living with dementia. Therefore, the researcher recommends further studies that will seek their experiences, knowledge, and ideas on this subject.

## Conclusion

A research methodology is a strategy used in executing a project in order to achieve its objectives. This study used a qualitative method through a case study design to gather information from family members on access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba. This research methodology was adopted because the researcher wanted to get in-depth information from family members on this subject. The social model of disability was employed as the main ideology influencing this project. Ethical approval was sought from the Joint-Faculty Research Ethics Board (JFREB). A purposive sampling method was used to select eight family members who had relatives living with dementia. The consent of the participants was sought through writing. A total of eight face-to-face interviews were conducted. Pseudonyms were used to hide the true identity of the study participants. A thematic content approach was used to discuss the results of this study.

The next chapter reports on the stories shared by the family caregivers regarding relatives living with dementia. A total of eight people talked about their experiences in providing caregiving support to their care recipients. These stories throw light on the primary healthcare services, specialist services, home care services, personal care home services, and others that have been used by their relatives living with dementia. The family caregivers provided information on the behaviours showed by their relatives living with dementia, challenges faced by their care recipients in accessing some of these services, how they were affected in the course of providing caregiving support, attitudes of health professionals towards their relatives living with dementia, and concerns they had regarding the health condition of relatives living with dementia, among others. Due to this, many of them gave some recommendations that could be used to improve access to primary healthcare services, specialist services, and others.

#### **Chapter 4**

#### 4.1.0. The findings of this study

The findings of a study constitute the information made available as a result of embarking on an area of interest. Its content is often influenced by the methodology used during the data collection process. In this chapter, a demographic overview of the family members who engaged in this study is documented. As such, their gender and the type of relationship with the individual living with dementia are elaborated. Based on the ideas and views shared by the family caregivers, a case study approach is used to write the story of each of them concerning relatives living with dementia. Pseudonyms were used to hide the real identities of the study participants. Also, the researcher decided to withhold the names of people and locations reported by the participants in quoting what they said. In writing the stories shared by them, these are put into parenthesis.

#### 4.1.1. A demographic overview of the study participants

A total of eight people who had relatives living dementia were recruited for this study. Out of the eight people, seven of them were females, while the remaining one was a male. Moreover, out of the eight people who were interviewed, two of them reported that they were related as a wife of the individual living with dementia, five of them communicated that they were related as a daughter of the family member living with dementia, and one as a son of the person living with dementia. Thus, all of the study participants who shared their story concerning relatives living with dementia were close family members providing caregiving support to them. During the interview process with the participants, six of the interviews were conducted in a small town in Manitoba, while the remaining two were conducted in Winnipeg. As a result, many of the participants were recruited from a small town instead of the city.

# 4.1.2. The story of Andrew regarding his father who has not been medically diagnosed with dementia

Andrew provided caregiving support to his father who is over eighty years old now. His father has not been diagnosed with dementia, but he believed that that was the case. He reported that the whole process began during the beginning of the millennium year. He used to go to his father's place with his children to observe the New Year. However, his father seemed not interested in observing the New Year whenever they would go there to visit. Andrew thought that his father had missed his wife who passed away and did not think that there was something going on with him.

One day, he got a call from a doctor informing him that his father was at the emergency and due to be discharged. He enquired from the doctor what brought about this situation and was told that his father has been taking more of his medication than required. Talking about this incident, Andrew said:

It was January third of two thousand and sixteen, and an unknown number came up, and I have a habit of never answering unknown numbers. But I had a funny feeling and answered the phone. It was a doctor from (referring to a town), Manitoba, and he was saying that my dad was in the emergency, now basically to be released and of course, I said, 'What happened?' And what he said was that my dad was overdosing on his medicine because he couldn't distinguish or he's getting confused of the time of day. So, he would go to sleep in the light and he'd wake up at night and maybe think it was morning, and double up on his pills.

So, Andrew drove there with his mother-in-law and upon further conversation with the doctor, he took his father home. Andrew related that his father lived on his own. He found out that his father

had some challenges in keeping his place clean. Also, Andrew reported that his father was not able to cook. His father's landlord reported to him that he came to his father's place and found that the oven was left on and there was smoke. Sharing this account, he said:

...I talked to his landlord, and his landlord said, 'Well, it was about a year ago, I had to come in here because the oven was on and the smoke was in there, and I guess he forgot to turn the oven off or whatever.'

Discussing some health conditions that his father had, Andrew said that his father has been diagnosed with cancer and was going to CancerCare Manitoba for treatment. In addition, he had spinal and cholesterol problems, as well as diabetes. His father was facing some mobility challenges due to a hip problem. That aside, his father has been using anti-anxiety pills and blood thinners. Andrew reported that his father had some challenges in recognizing him and thought of him as a co-worker. He saw a decline in his father's condition when he was interviewed by a mental health coordinator. His father was in a nursing home, but he did not stay there for a longer period of time due to his condition. With the help of a health director, his father was sent to a hospital in a small town in Manitoba. Andrew said that his father's health condition improved. In addition, his father had a good relationship with the staff there. Later, he was sent to another hospital and eventually went to a personal care home.

Andrew reported that no health professional has been able to tell him exactly what was going on with his father's situation. On this, he said: "They haven't given me a diagnosis. That's what I'm telling you. It's not in black and white." His opinion about doctors was that you have to follow what they tell you to do because they have more knowledge. According to Andrew, the health professionals did not take it seriously if you have essential information to share and behaved as if his father's condition was contagious. To him, his father's family doctor did not help much with his situation because she had every chance to ensure that he received the appropriate support, but she failed to do so. Although none of them had been able to give him a diagnosis of his father's health condition, he had his own suspicions about him. He made some observations about his father when he came to live with him for two months. His father slept a lot, put food in a wrapper, and in his pocket. These actions by his father helped clear the uncertainty he had about him. Sharing this account of his father's situation, he said:

Initially, the initial step, you know, well, I look at him, and I said, 'Yeah, he's got dementia,' you know, and as me being a layperson, you can tell when somebody's got dementia. It's pretty obvious, you know, if you're doubling-- and he's talking weird, you know, and when-- then when he came to stay with us for the two months or whatever, I was like, you know, gave him some Kentucky Fried Chicken or something, saves his food, and puts it in a wrapper, and takes it, and puts it in his pocket. You know, sleeps a lot and yeah, so initially right there, there was no doubt in my mind, you know, so.

He believed that his father's condition started about five or six years ago. Andrew shared that with the exception of his father, none of his family members lived with dementia. Also, he said that he had no idea if other relatives on his father's side lived with this health condition. Because his father was angry and there were challenges in providing support to him, he was assessed by a psychiatrist. His father was going to the family doctor because of hip pains, blood and cholesterol problems. In addition, he received all of his prescriptions from the family doctor. Since his father was a chef, he knew how to prepare a good meal. As such, he has not used the services of a dietitian. Although his father had some mobility challenges, he has not been using the services of a physiotherapist or an occupational therapist. Narrating the incident which led to this problem, Andrew reported that

when his father was young, he worked in a meat factory. Frozen meat fell on him and caused an injury to his vertebra. This incident also affected his hips. Also, his driver's licence was revoked and he got in trouble with the law. Andrew shared his story that he was the one who assisted his father to go to all of his healthcare appointments. Although he assisted him with a wheelchair, there were no accessibility issues. His father's greatest problem was not being accorded with the attention or caring that he needed. Andrew reported that his concern was to make sure that his father was treated with dignity. There were not a lot of health facilities in the area where his father was living. As a result, the cost of transportation from where he lived to Winnipeg was expensive. The reason for coming to Winnipeg was to provide some specialist services for him. Another problem they faced was to get an appointment with a doctor, which took some months to get one. Having to wait for a longer time in order to get a doctor's appointment had an effect on his father's health condition. To mitigate this problem, Andrew had the opinion that it would take a doctor who has more knowledge about how the healthcare system works in order to get you an early appointment somewhere else. Due to what his father had gone through, Andrew said that he was astonished that his father was not dead. On this matter, he said: "So, honestly and I'm not exaggerating to you, I'm surprised he's alive. I'm absolutely surprised."

Andrew related that all these experiences with his father did not affect his own health because he envisaged that to happen. But it made him learn more about Alzheimer's and other things. He had been in favour of euthanasia and these encounters with his father's condition have deepened his support for it. To him, it was like being in a situation where you cannot do so much to help yourself or voice out your concerns. Sharing how he felt about his father's condition, Andrew said: So, you never know what's coming out or how he's going to behave, you know? Same thing when for instance if I take him for blood tests, you know, and the staff is very used to giving him a dose and all that stuff, right? And I felt really bad for the guy and like whether he's my dad or not, nobody should have to go through that. Nobody, just terrible. Like, what would it take for him to be diagnosed for a particular stage in between the stages of dementia?

Fortunately, Andrew was no longer working and that has been a game changer for supporting his father. If that was not the case, his father would have been on his own. Also, he said that supporting his father did not affect his relationship and support networks because he was not working. As such, Andrew related that he had more time to do other things. The health director has been his bedrock. She has been there for him in times of difficulties in searching for a place where they can get the needed support and care for his father. Based on his experiences and the challenges faced by his father when accessing healthcare services, Andrew recommended that family doctors should address health issues facing people under their care on time. Also, he suggested that health professionals should provide some guidelines and resources that can be used to support people who are receiving their services.

# 4.1.3. Angela's story concerning her husband who lived with Frontotemporal Dementia with secondary Alzheimer's

Angela provided caregiving support to her husband who lived with Frontotemporal Dementia with secondary Alzheimer's. Although she does not know how long he has been living with dementia, there were some changes that occurred before he was diagnosed with dementia. He was finding it difficult to remember the names of people which was unusual for him. Due to this, she became

suspicious that something might be going on with him. Narrating the process which led to his diagnosis of this health condition, she said that he was interviewed by a geriatrician, who informed her that he had a conviction that her husband was living with Frontotemporal Dementia and therefore the delivery of services for Alzheimer's disease would not be appropriate for him. He was using vitamin B12, coconut oil, and omega 3s with the aspiration that it might be beneficial to him. That aside, her husband did not have a family doctor because he was hesitant in going for a doctor's appointment. So, when it got to a crisis where they needed one, there was no personal doctor offering services to them. Also, they were moving from one family doctor to another because the ones they had moved to other places. Therefore, they were facing inconsistencies in having a family doctor. Talking about this issue, she said:

Well, the thing is that we had and then they'd move away. And then, we had, and then they'd move away. And then, I finally landed having a good doctor. I managed to find one, and he didn't need a doctor at the time, so we didn't pursue you know, making her my family doctor right away. And so, then it was always like the few times that he had to go for something which is minor, beside from now when it was dementia, he would just go and see a-- whoever would take him, right?

Moreover, they went for an appointment with a family doctor who was filling in for another doctor for a few months. This doctor requested a computerized tomography scan and magnetic resonance imaging for her husband's condition. She was informed that her husband was living with Frontotemporal with secondary Alzheimer's. Angela narrated that her husband was in his early sixties when he was diagnosed with dementia. Fortunately, in the process of assisting her daughter to go for an appointment, she got a new family doctor for herself. Later on, this doctor accepted her husband. She was very appreciative of the fact that their new family doctor was good, supportive, and forthcoming. Her mother-in-law had fourteen children and also had Alzheimer's. But her husband happened to be the only child who had dementia and was often depressed. He was bringing up his pills after having a meal. As a result, he had to undergo a barium test because of swallowing problems. He had anxiety attacks which affected his chances of working. As such, they were facing financial problems. They had to stop engaging in independent hog farming because it was not financially viable for them. Angela reported that her husband performed activities such as running and walking, preparing breakfast, and mowing of the lawn. But he was engaging in dangerous activities. At one point, he had wanted to start-up a chainsaw by putting one of his feet on the blade. She had to assist in other activities such as cleaning of the eaves troughs, vacuuming, and cleaning of the bathroom. Her husband was facing difficulties in putting words together. On this issue, she said:

...he will substitute words constantly and I do a lot of guessing as to what he's trying to tell me because he uses 'thing' a lot to describe everything. And so, I've got to do a lot of guessing as to who-- try to figure a context, where he's pointing, etcetera.

Her husband asked so many questions and found it challenging to understand when she needed him to assist her. Angela related that she has been affected by this situation. As such, she has had some contact with home care and thought of using this service. But since her husband likes to run and go for a walk whenever the weather was good, she was not prepared to use personal care home services for him. Sharing this information, Angela said:

Especially when the weather is nice, he is running, he's walking, you know, and then he comes inside. And then, he goes outside again, goes for a run or walk around the yard. Then, he goes, comes in a bit, and then he goes out again, and goes hits golf balls in the

pasture and then he comes in. It's just in and out all the time, right? And so, to be put into a personal care home would be like putting him in a cage and throwing away the key. So, we're not ready for that.

According to Angela, it has been challenging for her in the course of providing caregiving support to him. It escalated her anxiety. She would have had to forfeit going to work in order to take him to appointments if she did not have a banked time at her place of work. In addition, it was not easy for her whenever they were in the community. Her husband did not like the fact that people were looking at him and he registered his displeasure. Talking about how it affected her relationship and support networks, Angela reported that she often invited her female friends around, so that her husband would not barge into their conversation. At family events, he would talk about things over and over again. Sharing this account, she said:

Well, I tend to not invite people down as couples very often. I will invite, you know, if I have friends down, I will invite mostly just the woman usually because that's what I'm comfortable with. And then, maybe he won't interfere with our conversation too much. Although he does even then but it's hard for men to interact with him because, you know, there's no real interaction. When I'm going out, he usually stays home, and I'll just go with my lady friends instead because it's too-- and I think they prefer it too because otherwise there's no meaningful conversation. When we are together even as our family-- at family gathering, he talks so much that others hardly have a chance to talk. And its repetitive things, but he has to talk about every single thing that he can think of. So, it just makes it awkward when he is—well, it's difficult because people don't get to visit amongst themselves when he's there usually.

They used the services of a psychiatrist, who had a thought that her husband was living with obsessive-compulsive disorder. She believed that it was definitely the case for her husband's condition. But her husband was not receiving treatment for anxiety, depression, and obsessive-compulsive disorder. During the first half of the year, mental health workers were coming on a regular basis to perform a mini-mental test with him. More so, she envisaged that her husband's restlessness at night might affect her if it reached a point where he would start wandering and had little time to sleep. Discussing one of the past incidents which happened to her husband, Angela said that many years ago, her husband was involved in an accident in a situation whereby his head came into contact with the windshield. As such, there was a glass in her husband's head, but she didn't see any serious signs during that period. Sharing this story, she said:

Yes, actually, there was one time that I'm aware of. He did have an accident, and this is back in the years when we didn't have to wear seatbelts yet. And so, his head hit the windshield, and it did dent the windshield. Didn't go through, but there was-- it was definitely cracked, and so he had glass in his head. So, they washed it out and stuff, but they didn't diagnose him as having a concussion, and I didn't notice any severe symptoms at the time. That was many years ago; I wasn't either aware of what symptoms to look for. But that's the only head injury that I'm aware of.

Also, based on a recommendation by the geriatrician, her husband lost his driver's licence. On this issue, she related that a letter was sent to the Manitoba Public Insurance, with a directive that her husband's licence should be revoked. Her husband was not happy with this decision. According to Angela, this was one of the reasons why her husband did not want to go to a doctor's appointment. When he lost his driver's licence, his brothers were taking him for coffee on a regular basis. Angela said that this has been one of his routine ever since she got to know him. This support

from his brothers was very important and beneficial. To her, people living with dementia who do not have this kind of support had limited engagement with their community. As such, she had the view that families can provide the support that meets the needs of people living with dementia. Angela narrated that they used a counselling service and speculated that it was done with a psychologist. They went there twice because that was what her coverage could take care of. However, it was challenging in assisting her husband to go for this appointment because he did not like going for a long drive. To her, the distance involved in going for specialist appointments was a problem as these services were in Winnipeg. As a result, she made the recommendation that it would be helpful to have these services in her community. In addition, another case which she thought stakeholders in the healthcare system might have to address regularly was early-onset dementia. According to her, financial assistance may be provided to families providing caregiving support to people living with dementia in the form of a subsidy.

# 4.1.4. Anna's story regarding her mother who lived with Alzheimer's disease

Anna provided assistance to her mother who was living in a different province. Her parents lived together and received support and care from her and her sister. Thus, Anna's sister was also involved in providing caregiving support. Her mother was seventy-two years when she was diagnosed with Alzheimer's. According to Anna, they noticed some changes such as a decline in her memory capability. At that time, she was around the age of sixty-eight. So, they asked her to discuss that with her family doctor. The doctor said that there was nothing going on with her and told them that it was as a result of being in her advanced years. They were not happy with the doctor's assertion which attributed her condition to elderliness. However, the family doctor referred her to the seniors' mental health team where some assessments were conducted. In addition, some specialists were involved in the process. Her mother went to see a neurologist for

a computerized tomography scan. Based on the information gathered, a case manager informed her mother that she was at the early stages of Alzheimer's. Relating some of the challenges that her mother faced when going for healthcare appointments, Anna related that her mother could not drive and was not in a good position to share the exact information with her doctor. As such, her mother had a lack of initiative and decision-making on her own health matters. Sharing this account, she said:

So, she wouldn't be able to drive herself there, she wouldn't be able to make the appointment herself, she wouldn't remember to go, she wouldn't know what questions to tell the doctor. Plus, she doesn't give the doctor accurate information, and she makes it sound like everything is okay when she goes to the doctor. Because she wants to impress him and she wants to make it sound like she's doing just fine, right? And so, those are some of the challenges and the fact that she lacks the ability to make healthcare decisions for herself.

Although the distance involved in going to see her family doctor was not a problem that of her specialist was definitely the case. In her mother's case, she had to take a flight to go for her specialist appointment. Anna shared that it was interesting to note that her grandmother had Alzheimer's at the age of seventy-two. Also, her mother was diagnosed with this health condition at the age of seventy-two. According to her, she would not be astonished if she was diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease because she was more susceptible to living with this condition than others. But she was not bothered about it because doing so would influence her chances of living with this health condition. On this, she said:

I absolutely will not be surprised if I get Alzheimer's as well. I'm doing what I can to improve my protective factors in my life. But, I absolutely know that the risk is a little bit higher for me than for the general population. I don't spend time worrying about it though.

Also, talking about how this would come into conflict with her faith, Anna said: "So, it just doesn't pay to worry and worry wouldn't be consistent with my spiritual values. And so, I try not to spend time worrying." Her mother performed some activities such as reading on her own, but she was anxious whenever she was left alone. Her mother had high cholesterol and lung cancer. She had the view that her mother might have gotten lung cancer because she lived with someone who was a smoker throughout her life endeavours. Narrating this story, she said: "Her mother was a smoker. My mother was not a smoker, but she lived with a smoker all her life so she breathed in second-hand smoke." Thus, Anna's grandmother was a smoker. Her mother was monitored by her family doctor, but they had not informed her about this condition based on the fact that it might cause her some discomfort. They made a decision that she would not seek healthcare services for lung cancer because they thought it would not be beneficial to her. Sharing this experience, Anna said:

We've told her that there is a concern about her lungs, and that's why she's going-- the doctor's watching her lungs, but we actually haven't even mentioned the word cancer to her because we feel even that itself is going to distress her. It's not going to be helpful for her and as her power of attorney's and her husband, we've all decided that it would be in her best interest not to pursue any kind of treatments for her lung cancer. So that's been the latest development that her G.P has helped with.

Also, her mother had a bladder infection and delirium. Anna related that her mother was taking statin medication, which she stopped using later on. Her mother used the services of a pharmacist

who has been very supportive of her in areas such as drug packaging and other matters relating to drug use. On this story, she said:

The pharmacist has been helpful in bubble packing the medication for them and also being an excellent resource in terms of asking questions about the medication that my mother is on and whether my sister should be asking the doctor about making changes to the medication. So, they have found that the pharmacist has been an excellent resource that way.

Anna related that her mother had been facing some mobility challenges due to lower back pain. As such, she had used the services of a physiotherapist who gave her some exercises to perform in order to improve her lower back pain. But she had problems following the instructions given to her. As a result, she needed somebody to be there to assist her in performing the exercises given by the physiotherapist. Reporting on this matter, she said:

Because the physiotherapist will give the instructions, but my mom can't follow them or remember to do them every day. And so, there still has to be someone every day for as many times a day as the exercises were prescribed to actually do them with my mom, you know, alongside of her so that she will do them. So, I'd say that's where the gap is.

Anna shared information that her mother had never used the services of a dietitian. Although it was one of the services that had never been suggested to her parents, they were lucky because her sister had ideas on how to plan a healthy diet. Sharing this information, she said:

You know, that is the one person that I don't think has been referred to them yet, and I think it would be helpful for both of them. But my sister is very knowledgeable when it comes to a healthy diet, and so they are very fortunate. They are fed very well.

That aside, her sister assisted her parents in doing their laundry, cleaning, meal preparation, and attending healthcare appointments. Her mother was also using home care services. A home care worker was coming in to provide respite care and assisted her with shower and medication. But the problem her parents had with this service was that different people were coming on different occasions to provide respite to them. As a result, her parents had a sense that their privacy had been compromised. Sharing this account, she said:

The only complaint that I heard them say about home care coming in was that it was a different person every time and they didn't-- they couldn't get to know the person that was coming into their home. And so, they felt like it was a little bit impersonal every time and they felt a little bit exposed. Like, there's a new person coming into our home, you know, coming into our bedroom, going into the bathroom, helping my mom with a shower. I think that that was hard for them.

Her parents stopped using this service because her father thought that it was expensive for them to afford. Anna shared that based on the fact that it was a different person coming on a regular basis to provide assistance to them, her father was not pleased with it. Again, since her father was receiving a special end-of-service package on a monthly basis, her parents were not eligible for government home care services. Later on, they arranged a private home care service which worked best for them. More so, they appreciated the fact that her mother was satisfied with the day program that she was attending. Anna shared her opinions about the hospital environment and family doctors. On family doctors, she shared her view that they had ideas about dementia, but their way of supporting people was the problem. That aside, expressing her view on the hospital environment, she explained that the signs were the greatest challenge as they should have been bigger. She elaborated that in some cases, it was difficult to comprehend what had been written on

them. Therefore, it would be beneficial if something could be done about this situation. Also, her sister had raised this issue based on an experience she had with her mother. Sharing her life experiences on how providing caregiving support to her mother affected her, Anna related that she had to use all of her vacation time from work in order to assist her parents. In this regard, she did not have some spare time from work to attend to other stuff. Narrating this story, she said:

Yeah, I would say for sure it was a sacrifice-- like for an example for me, I used up all three weeks of my holidays for this year, so that I could go and provide that care. So, my holidays are used up for this year. And so, it makes a difference in our family that now I don't have time to take holidays for other things. I know that maybe seems like a trivial thing, but it is stressful when you work all year and you look forward to a holiday and that holiday needs to be spent, you know, caring for my parents. I was willing to do that, but yeah, it was definitely a cost and a sacrifice I would say on my part.

Also, in some cases, it disrupted her work schedule because she had to fly to where her parents were living in order to attend to their needs. In addition, she did not have the opportunity to interact with people as her main point of attention was on providing support to her parents. On this account, she said:

Well, I think that we just have a lot less time to socialize ourselves because we are focused on caring for parents. But in terms of our own mental health and social life, I think we try to be careful to keep a good balance, but it's challenging. It's challenging when you have parents that you're caring for.

Anna reported that she had initiated the steps involved in using counselling services through her Employee Assistance Program. She decided to use this service in order to care for her father instead of her mother. There were a lot of things involved regarding her decision to use this service. Anna explained that it was easy to care for her mother than her father. As a result, she opted to use this service in order to have some conversations with a counsellor. Anna gave some suggestions on some of the things that can be done to improve access to healthcare services for people living with dementia. First, she recommended that the provision of healthcare services should meet the needs of people living with dementia. This included areas such as how to talk to people living with dementia, making sure that they have an idea of what has been communicated to them, decisionmaking on their health issues, power of attorney, among others. Secondly, she suggested that more personal care homes and assisted living complexes should be provided for people living with dementia. On this issue, she said:

...I think that our biggest frustration is that, there aren't enough personal care homes services available or assisted living. And so, both of our mothers have ended up in hospital and really isn't a good place for people with dementia. They are trying their best to provide services, but they're an acute care facility, and they just are not set up to be a dementia-friendly environment. And it's terribly stressful for the person with dementia and for their caregiver to be waiting months and months and months in that kind of a setting. Day in and day out, without the kinds of services and supports that they need. So, I think for me that is one of the areas that I would say needs to change as soon as possible. People with dementia do not belong in hospitals; they belong in assisted living or a personal care home facilities.

Lastly, Anna suggested the creation of a medical program to tackle dementia care. Making this recommendation, she said:

The people that I talk to, the seniors that I talk to are actually more afraid of getting dementia than they are of cancer because they feel that they'll be better supported and that their quality of life and treatments are readily available for cancer. But when it comes to dementia, they feel like there's nothing. There's-- there's no treatment plan in place, there's no care support in place, we can barely get the home care services that we need to help people in their homes. We're so lacking in dementia care resources and programs and services. So, I definitely think that you know, technically whether they are going to put it under mental health or whatever they are going to put it on, under, I think that there needs to be a specific branch of medical-- or medical program that's gonna address dementia care. Yeah, the services definitely need to be more coordinated.

## 4.1.5. The story of Hannah concerning her mother who lived with Alzheimer's disease

Hannah supported her mother who lived with Alzheimer's disease. Sharing her story of her mother's life journey throughout this process, Hannah related that having her in personal care home made a huge difference in her life. She had her family, grandchildren, and a business to take care of. As a result, it was becoming difficult for her to provide some assistance to her mother. Again, this was the reason why home care services were considered as an option for her. Although she was not in favour of putting her mother in a personal care home, she had to do it in order to take care of other duties. Sharing this experience, she said:

It was absolutely painful and traumatic to even consider placing her in a care home because she was not of that frame of mind, she was not willing to go, and I know how much she might have felt hurt and betrayed. But I had to do this so that I wouldn't crash and be unable to care for her further or my family and whatever other responsibilities I had. Prior to going into a personal care home, her mother was living on her own, but they relocated to live with her. During this time, she observed that her mother had a decline in her cognitive abilities. She used unpleasant words and that was not her nature. According to Hannah, she did not know that it was part of the process of experiencing a decline in cognition. Sharing this experience, Hannah said:

She had no filter; things came out of her mouth that were quite shocking. That I could say that was not her, but at the time these things were-- her behaviour that was the initial flag that came to mind. But we didn't really realize it was one of the beginning steps of her losing mental capacity, and it's upon backtracking that we could see the flags that we had missed.

Hannah related that her mother found it difficult to remember the things she taught her and it came to a climax where she had to be monitored throughout the day. Sharing this information, she said: "Things you would teach her one month on the computer, and she forgot the next month. Small things like that. But it quickly got to the point where she had to be supervised continuously, twentyfour hours." Her mother used to go for shopping, paying bills, preparing meals, and drove on her own. But things changed drastically and it reached a point where she had challenges in performing some of these activities. Based on this observation about her mother experiencing a decline in cognition, they brought it to the attention of her family doctor where some tests were performed. In the beginning, the family doctor diagnosed her with dementia. Later on, a psychiatrist and a mental health worker were involved. The mental health worker conducted a test to know the stage where she has reached, but Alzheimer's disease diagnosis came from the psychiatrist. Narrating this diagnostic process, she said: The dementia diagnosis came in December two thousand and sixteen, by mom's family physician. A psychiatrist and mental health worker came to visit mom in at her home in April two thousand and seventeen and advised mom that her mental capacity had depreciated and was now diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease.

In addition, her mother was informed that her driver's licence would be revoked. This issue of losing her driver's licence had a tremendous impact on her. Hannah reported that her mother was seventy-two years when she was diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease. Her mother showed some behaviours such as being in a state of denial of living with dementia. Whenever she informed her about this health condition, she became surprised and also took a position that things were fine with her. She said: "I can tell her again today, 'Mom, you have Alzheimer's,' and she'd be shocked, utterly shocked. There's nothing wrong with her in her mind." There were times where she was angry and sometimes frightened. Although her mother had a cousin who had dementia, none of her close family members and brothers and sisters had dementia. In this regard, they were not familiar with this health condition. On this, Hannah said:

In our immediate circles with her siblings-- I know there's a cousin out there somewhere on mom's side somewhere that has dementia of some kind, but as for her own siblings and the immediate family, no. We've never seen anything like this, it's new to us.

Hannah related that her mother had other health conditions such as a pinched nerve in her back, benign lumps in the breasts, and marks on her body. She received treatment for the lumps and got rid of them. Also, she was given amitriptyline and gabapentin under the authority of her family doctor. Hannah speculated that her mother was taking a higher dosage of these medications. Discussing the harmful side effects of the drugs used by her mother, Hannah shared information that her mother had gained weight and suspected that it was as a result of the use of amitriptyline. In this case, her family doctor took some steps in order to decrease her intake of this medication. Her mother was using this medication to manage her pains which sometimes affected her ability to walk. More so, she used the services of a physiotherapist, but it escalated her pains and she was advised to stop using this service. Her mother did not use the services of a dietitian because she took a healthy diet. She paid all of her medications on her own as she was not under any health insurance. This has been the case for her mother because she worked on her own. Hannah had the opinion that it was beneficial for her mother to buy her own medication instead of using insurance. Reporting on this matter, Hannah said:

She has no insurance plan. Well, she was always self-employed. She never did have a group insurance of any kind, and the amount of meds she has doesn't merit paying premiums for a group insurance. I just assessed all of that, and she's better off just paying for her own meds versus paying a premium for group insurance.

Moreover, her mother encountered some challenges in accessing healthcare services. Hannah reported that on one occasion, they had to wait three months in order to get a family doctor's appointment for her. This affected the delivery of healthcare services for her mother. As a result, they had to go to various places in order to seek treatment services. This included a visit to the emergency room. Another problem they faced was that her mother's family doctor was not available to sign some documents and this affected the panelling process for her to go into a personal care home. Hannah related that it was a helpless and discouraging moment for them. The other problem was the lack of proper communication between health professionals who were providing services to her. Her mother had a pharmacist in her area who looked into her medication. But there was a confusion between her family doctor, home care, and the pharmacist as to who

was responsible for taking certain actions in the delivery of care for her mother. As a result, Hannah said that she had to intervene in order to get these three health professionals to communicate among themselves. Sharing this story, she said:

It is cumbersome right now because one office believes that the other office should be notified and then that office feels no, the other-- the physician thinks the pharmacy and home care have to contact her, but then home care feels like, no, the physician should contact them. And it's just not my job, not my job, and I'm having to make these three talk to each other somehow.

Aside from using these services, her mother faced some difficulties in accessing specialist services. Hannah shared that it took one hour and thirty minutes to travel to Winnipeg in order to get a magnetic resonance imaging test for her mother. As such, the distance involved in using specialist services was one of the problems encountered by her mother. Sharing this experience, she said:

I picked her up for an MRI. So it's a half-hour to (referring to a town in Manitoba), to pick her up and then another hour to get her to (referring to a hospital in Winnipeg). And then, we went for breakfast, and I brought her back home. It exhausted her. She went straight to bed. I brought her in the suite, and she went straight to bed, but then any disruption to her day, any change of any kind is absolutely tiring to her.

Hannah related that the long wait times involved to get an appointment with a specialist was a challenge. There was one incident where they were informed by her mother's family physician that she has to wait for a year in order to get an appointment with a pain specialist. This discouraged them from doing so. More so, there was a case where they had to wait six months to access a magnetic resonance imaging service. Sharing these experiences, she said:

These specialists' offices are primarily in Winnipeg. Also, it takes months, sometimes years to even be able to see a specialist. Case in point, mom's family physician suggested she book mom to see a pain specialist. She told us there is a one-year waiting list to see them. We decided not to bother. Another case in point, there was a six-month wait to get even an MRI.

Talking about how she felt about her mother, Hannah said that it was painful to experience her mother's situation whereby she had an extraordinary feeling that something bad was going to happen to her. On this, she said: "It was watching a woman live out a nightmare that she could not get out of and that was utterly heart wrenching to watch somebody so dynamic, a human being going through this." In this regard, it was extremely sad for her to know about her mother's circumstances. However, the mental health worker was very helpful in situations where she needed some support for her mother. Hannah reported that the family doctor showed a positive attitude towards her mother, but that was not the case when she assisted her to go to the emergency room to seek treatment for her pinched nerve and pains. Sharing her views on the hospital environment, Hannah said that she had to assist her mother to go into the offices as the signs were not visible. In addition, she reiterated that she was affected in the course of providing caregiving support to her mother. She was stretched to the maximum, including some psychological effects on her wellbeing. Reporting on this issue, she said:

At the point where when we were at her house looking after her and the transition to moving her into a care home, I was at my limit there, absolute limit. It was exhausted, burnt out. Ranges of emotions between guilt and sorrow, grief. All kinds of emotions on the spectrum. It was a really tough time. In addition, it affected her relations with friends. As such, she had the opinion that support groups were the appropriate setting to share experiences in providing support to a relative living with dementia. Talking about this matter, Hannah said:

... I've seen it with a group of girls I have coffee with twice a week, and I kept going on and on and venting about these things, and I was looking, and them and they're like, 'Okay, get over it,' because they're not there. So that's the one time I found a disconnect in my circles is when you're in the thick of it there dealing with the hard stages of caring-- being a caregiver, that I had to be more careful not to belabour these frustrations on to my friends, but instead go to these support groups. That is where you take those things rather where your friends out with these things. You can to a degree talk about it, but support groups is where it is.

Hannah related that providing caregiving support to her mother affected her, however, she did not use counselling services. She failed to ask for this service from the mental health worker because it escaped her mind. Hannah made some suggestions that could be used to address the challenges faced by her mother in accessing healthcare services. She recommended that there should be more family physicians and awareness of the health professionals that could be used by people living with dementia and their family members. To her, these moments are difficult times for family members dealing with this situation. On family physicians, Hannah said:

There again, I know it's hard to get physicians out this way. Again, but yeah, more physicians. The baby boomers are ageing, the system is getting loaded down and it's already too little too late for what there is now, but I mean, at least more physicians.

Sharing her view on the awareness of health professionals, she said:

At least more awareness of our healthcare workers that are available for families because the whole family goes through something traumatic when a parent or a loved one begins dementia. The whole family is off kilter and it's quite the journey, and they need support. And I mean, it's not just the parent or the individual with dementia, it's all of them around. The resources are needed for the family to be pulled together so that they know what they're doing and what they need. And they know they have support somewhere. That initially would help a lot.

Lastly, Hannah suggested that more personal care homes should be provided in order to help hospitals to find places for people who were due to go into personal home care. Giving this suggestion, she said:

I would recommend more facilities for personal home care facilities that hospitals are backlogged with people who are waiting to be placed in these places up to a year, which deteriorates their quality of health. Thankfully, my mother hasn't had to experience that kind of thing. Basically, that's it.

### 4.1.6. Jennifer's story of her husband who lived with early-onset Alzheimer's

Jennifer supported her husband who had been diagnosed with early-onset Alzheimer's disease. They had children who lived with them. Before he was diagnosed with early-onset Alzheimer's, there were some developments that occurred five years ago, but they had no knowledge about them. Narrating some of the changes that happened in her husband's case, she said:

You know, we used to go camping with friends of ours and we went for a walk one night and they both said to me, 'I think you need to see a doctor. This is-- he's repeating a lot of the same stories and asking the same questions.' And they said, 'That's not normal. I think you should go to see a doctor.' And then, kind of hearing it from them, I thought that confirmed what I already knew, but wasn't seeing at the time.

Jennifer related that her husband has been living with this condition for four years. Sometimes he was angry and other times that was not the case. Her husband enjoyed watching hockey and spent a great deal of time watching television. He had inconsistencies in his sleeping pattern. Sometimes he went to sleep early and on other occasions, he went to bed late. Sharing this experience relating to her husband's sleeping pattern, she said:

Yeah, he probably sleeps a little more than he used to, but sometimes he stays up a little bit later, so I'm going to say some nights I think it's more to do with feeling lack of interest in anything. He just goes to bed early because he's bored and tired of watching TV all day. And there're some nights he's gone to bed at 8:30. Other nights, it's like 10:30 and that's kinda normal, and then when I get up and go to work, he does not usually get up with me.

According to Jennifer, her husband preferred to be by himself when engaging in some activities. As such, she gave him some space whenever he was performing those activities. He performed activities such as cleaning the floor, doing laundry, and spending time outside with the dog. In addition, he shovelled the snow, vacuumed, and mowed the lawn. Aside from these activities, he was also the leader of a community group and served as a volunteer. He attended to the needs of the people he served but lost interest in this group. Jennifer reported that her husband faced challenges in locating things in the home. Her husband noticed that he was experiencing a decline in cognition, which was irritating to him. On this, she said:

Sometimes things that, you know, where's a dish in the kitchen? Where do we keep it? And we've always kept it in the same spot for fifteen years, and now we don't know where it is. So what's funny is, he can forget that, but he doesn't forget that he forgets. So, it's a bit of a cruel thing that's going on, and he realizes that his memory is declining, and it's frustrating for him-- and in turn frustrating for everyone else because he's an angry person walking around this house.

Jennifer related that her husband did not feel comfortable in a noisy environment and this became clear to them on a family vacation. She explained that some children who were with them on this holiday trip were making some noise and her husband was not able to cope with it. Her husband often found it difficult to remember some of the things he was supposed to do. As such, during the time he was working with a company, he encountered some challenges at the workplace and was not able to perform certain duties which they expected from him. As a result, he was laid off from work. Jennifer related that there have been some changes in her husband and she felt that she has lost him. She said:

Now, I don't know if you can blame that on dementia or personality. And sometimes I think it's a combination of the two things. But he is a different person. His personality has changed. He is not the man I married by any stretch.

More so, his condition has created a big difference in her life. She shared that her husband was going to his family doctor for a physical examination. He was examined by his doctor and was directed to see a neurologist for further assessment. It took a while for them to have an appointment with this specialist. When they got in, she was given a questionnaire to fill. She found out that some of the things in this paper was meant for people in their late stages of dementia and that was not the situation for her husband. Sharing this story, Jennifer said:

Yeah, with the neurologist, we went in umm, I filled out the sheet you know, they do an intake sheet, and I found that sheet pretty ridiculous because their questions were for advanced dementia. You know, do you have to help him dress? Do you have to-- and we were not at that point. We were early stage.

Jennifer shared that the neurologist directed her husband to go for a magnetic resonance imaging scan and informed them that there was a problem with his hippocampus. In the beginning, they were informed that he was living with mild cognitive impairment and later deemed it as early-onset Alzheimer's. He was given some advice by the neurologist to adopt a healthy living lifestyle. Also, the neurologist suggested to them to go to a clinical psychologist when they needed more insight into his health condition. The psychologist performed a cognitive assessment on him and also had a conversation with them on this examination. Her son was concerned that he was going to end up living with dementia because of his father's condition. As a result, he connected with a counsellor in order to seek guidance on this matter which was bothering him. On how her husband's situation has affected her son, Jennifer said:

...my one son was pretty worried that if my dad has this, I'm going to get this too, and it freaked him out for quite a while. And he did access a counsellor through (referring to the name of an organization) as well, and he talked a few things over. I don't know about what or everything, but it was helpful to him to verbalize some of his feelings and thoughts and to have that feedback.

Jennifer related that her husband was not using the services of a dietitian because they knew about a healthy diet. Therefore, she did not take this service into consideration. Responding to this issue, she said: "Well, we didn't utilize that. We know what good eating is, you know, so we didn't feel the need to go to a dietitian and draw up a new plan." In addition, she read about various dietary programs and eventually utilized the services provided by Weight Watchers. Her husband injured his shoulder and used the services of a physiotherapist. Talking about this issue, she said:

He hurt his shoulder once or something, and he went to see physio, and that was just a one visit, and they said, 'You know, do this exercise, and that should help you.' And then, so he did and then that was the end of it.

That aside, he lived with some other health conditions such as blood problems, high blood pressure, and had experienced a heart attack. Jennifer speculated that her husband had surgical treatment for a hernia as it happened hitherto to getting married to him. Therefore, she had little information on this matter. Her husband was using drugs which included Aricept, Imodium, Metoprolol, Atorvastatin, and Ramipril. Because she had an insurance package from her employer and a health expenditure account, the majority of the medications used by her husband were taken care of by her insurance. This was the situation because her husband was a beneficiary of her insurance coverage program. But there were some drugs and supplements that she bought them out-of-pocket. These included Imodium, vitamin B12, omega 3s, and baby aspirin. Her husband was affected by the negative side effects of the use of drugs. Jennifer reported that the Aricept caused some bowel problems for her husband and that was the reason why he was using Imodium, which was suggested by the neurologist. They had a pharmacist in their neighbourhood who was aware of the drugs used by him and offered services to them. Her husband enjoyed visiting this place and also had a good relationship with the pharmacist. Jennifer affirmed that it would be a great idea to

have this service in the communities in a situation whereby people would have a correspondence with a pharmacist. She shared that her husband's father lived with dementia, as well as her own father. So, in this case, she already knew some of the behaviours exhibited by her husband.

Jennifer reported that because of her job, she had access to counselling services offered by the Employee Assistance Program. She went for some counselling services and was also assisted by the counsellor in applying for a disability tax credit for her husband. The process involved in applying for this tax credit was cumbersome for her, but the counsellor was supportive in this area. She was going to a support group session regularly on a monthly basis and attended a conference gathering organized by the Alzheimer Society. Her aim of going to this meeting was to get some ideas concerning her husband's condition. Since she was interested in going to this program, she excused herself from work for a while and attended with her husband. Jennifer shared that she enjoyed this program, but her husband did not. Thus, she forced her husband to go to this program with her. Sharing this story, she said: "…I was kinda excited about that, and I took some time off of work to go there with him, but it was terrible. I dragged him there and I had more fun there visiting everybody than him."

Discussing the attitude of the health professionals towards her husband, she narrated that the clinical psychologist was kind to them. Also, her husband was assessed by Manitoba Public Insurance for the Drive Safe Program and was well received by the nurse who offered services to them. However, she was not happy with the neurologist based on some circumstances. Jennifer shared that people were concerned about her husband's driving and as a result, she contacted the neurologist on this matter. To her surprise, they received information from Manitoba Public Insurance informing them that her husband's licence had been revoked. Sharing this account, she said: ...through my umm, support group, they were, 'He's still driving,' and they would say that to me every time. And I'm like I'm a bit nervous about that. What if something happens, you know? So, I did phone the doctor, and I said, 'Is there some kind of test that we could have done to make sure we're safe?' And in response, we got a letter from MPI, in the mail two weeks later, 'Your licence is suspended, you're done, hand it in. What?! I just asked a question; I didn't say I thought he was a danger.' This is just something I wanted to manage before it became-- if is going to be a problem. And no, he mailed a letter to MPI, telling them to take his licence away and that was a terrible blow, terrible.

Her husband was affected and frustrated about this decision. As a result, he associated the unpleasant things that had happened to him to this doctor. Jennifer reported that because of her husband's situation, it had some effects on them. She had to do a review of their mortgage agreement in order to have some funds available to take care of their needs. On this, she said:

Umm, what you thought was-- you know, saving for your retirement isn't happening. You thought your house would be paid off in a few years and because we knew things were going on when I did the mortgage again, I made it way longer because I wanted the payments to be less to free up more money to live month to month.

In addition, Jennifer related that she encountered some difficulties in searching for information as there were not a lot of resources for people living with early-onset Alzheimer's. Talking about this experience, she said:

We just need the guidance, and I was asking if there were some kind of programs out there and that was a difficult thing. And some of them were, 'Wow, we're not used to that, we haven't had anyone like that. Oh, no, you gotta be age sixty-five or over to access this.' So they have an age barrier description or whatever on these services as well.

In this regard, she recommended that information should be provided at the very beginning so that people would have ideas and resources to inform their decision-making. Making her submission on this issue, she said:

Yeah, more information on the outset, make it available. Umm, you know, providing counselling services at the very beginning if people feel it necessary. You know, because it's a lot of it emotional and its hard stuff, it forces you to look at who you are and what you're made of and can I do this? How do I do this? How do I do this well? How do I not let this kill me and my family and everything? I don't know that I have the answers, but it's nice to have knowledge and information and then you can make choices.

# 4.1.7. The story of Megan regarding her mother who has been diagnosed with Alzheimer's and vascular dementia

Megan provided caregiving support to her mother who lived with Alzheimer's and vascular dementia. Having her mother accepted into a personal care home was a great relief for her. She was in a nursing home where she received some respite services. But that did not work out well, so she was now in a permanent place where there were a lot of activities for her to do. However, Megan was of the opinion that nothing significant would come out of it and felt that they were taking her mother to a personal care home to die, and this bothered her. On this issue, she said: "I kinda felt if we would put her in a home, it would-- it kinda felt like we were putting her there to die. I didn't like that." Also, in one of the places where her mother was receiving caregiving

support, she would get angry and swore at the staff. Giving an account of this behaviour showed by her mother, she said:

The first placement that she was for like a month and a half or whatever, it was maybe two months, I know her behaviour became challenging for them because she was exit-seeking. So, they had to keep a very close eye on her, and then if they would stop her, then she would get very angry and act in a very out-of-character way. Apparently, she swore at them which blows my mind because she would not do that in the past.

Megan shared that personal care home was considered as an option because they were not in a good position to provide the essential support and care for her. According to Megan, her mother has been living with dementia for four years. They noticed some changes in her mother and also had the habit of talking about things over and over again. Her mother would ask her a question and after responding to it, she would ask the same question minutes later. Sharing this story, Megan said:

So, it seemed very young to be repeating herself as often as she would. She'd ask, 'What's your son up to? What's he busy with today?' And I would tell her, and five minutes later, she'd ask me the same thing. For a while, she'd ask, 'Did I ask you that already?' And so, she was catching herself, but she'd do it again.

Her mother was in her early sixties when this started. She brought this to the attention of her mother's family doctor and asked him for his opinion. Whenever there was a doctor's appointment, in order not to embarrass her, she contacted the doctor ahead of time and gave out some information concerning her mother. This made the doctor know what to do before they would get there. Sharing this experience, she said:

I brought her in to see her doctor fairly regularly and said, 'This is what's going on, can you just let me know what you think?' Sometimes in order not to hurt my mom's feelings, I would contact the doctor ahead of time or write him a letter to read before he came into the room saying these are my concerns. And so, he would know what kind of questions to ask without me having to say it in front of my mom.

Megan said that her mother had a good relationship with her family doctor. Also, this doctor was a very good person. To her, the greatest problem they faced whenever they needed his service was the long wait times involved to see him. Usually, they had to wait for a month in order to have an appointment with the family doctor. Megan reported that personnel from seniors' mental health (A team or group of health professionals, which include specialists, primary healthcare practitioners, and social workers that offer diagnostic services and examinations to older people facing mental health problems) performed some tests with her mother. Based on this assessment, they were informed that her mother may be living with Alzheimer's and vascular dementia. Talking about this issue, she said:

...a gal from seniors' mental health, her name is (referring to a health professional). Umm, we were in contact with her, and then she would do some assessments of my mom again whenever we asked her to. And she was the one that told us mom probably was suffering from both Alzheimer's and vascular dementia.

Megan related that her grandmother had Alzheimer's disease, but she made sure not to worry about it. To her, it was terrible to live in this condition. Moreover, she did not feel stigmatized and was not bothered about what other people thought of them whenever they were in the community. She shared that her mother was more friendly to people. Her mother approached children in public because she loved them and would try to take them from their parents. This was not an issue for many of the people because they understood that. On this, Megan said:

She's always loved children, and that became very pronounced. When you'd be out with her in public, and she'd see a child, she would approach anybody with a child. It got to the point where she was trying to take a child out of the mother's hands saying, 'Here, can I hold your child?' Or 'Come to me' and try and take him out of his parent's arms. Most people were incredibly understanding. Her sense of what is appropriate with strangers is gone, and so it made for some awkward situations.

Since her mother was finding it difficult to familiarize herself with the seasonal changes of the weather, she would put on sandals and a light jacket during winter time. As a result, Megan was helping her with what she needed to wear. Sharing this story, she said:

The last winter she was home she would go out in sandals and a light jacket. Even if we'd pick her up to bring her to our place to hang out with us or do something with us, I would say, 'Mom, it's winter outside, you have to wear boots or at least your runners.' And she would say, 'Oh, I'm fine, it's not that cold, it's beautiful outside.' Then, we'd step out the door, and she'd be like, 'Oh, it's cold out here.' So we got to the point we just said, 'Mom, you're not coming with us unless you put on your boots and a jacket.' Also, when the seasons changed, I went into her condo, and I took away all the out of season clothing, and for footwear, I only left her a pair of boots, so she had to wear her boots. She couldn't wear anything else; I took everything to my house so she couldn't find it.

According to Megan, her mother was finding it difficult to identify them as her children. One day, she went to visit her mother in the care home and she was delighted to see her. Her mother was in tears and thanked her for coming to pay her a visit. Sharing this account, she said:

She doesn't recognize us as her kids most of the time anymore, at least not by name. Occasionally, she might all of a sudden remember just for a moment or something, but it seems that if we don't tell her who we are, she might think we are a friend or her sister, or we might just be a nice person. So, physically she is okay, mentally she has gone down. She's still lonely sometimes even though there are other people there. I went to see her recently, and when she saw me, she just started crying. She was shocked to see me. She asked, 'You're here to see me?' I don't think she knew who I was really, but she was just so happy that I went to see her and she was crying and saying, 'You came! I'm so glad. Thank you for coming.' I don't know.

Also, in some cases, her mother refused to get help from them whenever they noticed that she needed help with something. Megan reported that they assisted in the planning of her mother's activities and she was able to follow through by documenting them on a calendar. Because of her health condition, it got to a point where she could not do this anymore. Her mother was in a state of denial and did not recognize that she lived with dementia. Talking about this issue, she said:

I don't think that she realized anymore that she had dementia. We had told her earlier. Sometimes she would say, you know, 'My brain isn't working very good,' but she also fought it. On one hand, she knew her brain wasn't working well, but on the other hand, she would say, 'I'm fine, I can do this by myself.' And so, she struggled with the idea of having dementia and fought about the help she needed to receive. Her mother was facing challenges in performing household chores such as doing laundry, washing utensils, and keeping her place clean. Due to this, she broke her laundry and dishwashing machine. Narrating this story, she said:

I know that one of her sisters would go visit her quite regularly, and I know she was doing some laundry and stuff. My mom would be putting dishwasher detergent into her washing machine, and she actually wrecked her clothes washer because she was using the wrong detergent. She also used the wrong detergent in her dishwasher and wrecked that as a result. She wasn't able to keep the condo really clean. I think in her mind she sort of thought she was, but I know her standards and the condo was definitely not kept up to those standards. She was just wasn't able to do it. I think it overwhelmed her.

Her mother was wandering and walking for a longer period of time and would get lost. Megan was told that some people were assisting her mother with transportation in order to get back to her place of abode. Megan narrated that the service of a pharmacist was used because a pill sorter they bought to assist her in taking medication did not work out well. So, the pharmacy introduced pill packs which worked for some time. Her mother was facing difficulties in taking her morning medications. She forgot to take them and eventually a home care worker was coming in regularly in the morning to assist her with it. Megan reported that her mother had some mini-stroke and issues with her heart. But through a stress test and observation, it was not too much of an issue to worry about. Her mother was using a pressure medication which caused her to cough. This coughing lingered on for a longer time and was reported to her family doctor. Upon doing research about the medications used by her, they found out that coughing can be a possible side effect of the use of blood pressure medication. As a result, they told her doctor to change this medication and give her another one. The doctor changed it and the cough went away. But when her mother

went into a personal care home and was given her previous blood pressure medication, her coughing came back. Narrating this story, she said:

In particular, the blood pressure medication that she was first on, she had a cough that would not go away. This was while she was still functioning on her own and so she'd go to the doctor and say, 'I have this cough, it doesn't go away.' It just took forever and didn't seem to get to the bottom of it. When our family was doing research on the medications that she was on, we learned that some blood pressure medications cause a cough, so that's why-- that's part of the reason we asked her family doctor to change her to a different one and then her cough was gone. Then, when they put her back on it-- on the blood pressure med in the home, she was coughing again.

Before her mother was accepted into a personal care home, she got involved in a fall incident. They did not know how this happened, but it affected her mother. This caused an injury to her back and she used the services of a chiropractor for some weeks. Talking about this incident, Megan said:

She would go for walks all over town, so I would say she was in really good shape. But when she fell, we think she may be landed on a door stop that was on the ground, and it did damage to her back. So, we had to take her to the chiropractor and massage for a number of weeks to try and get that fixed.

Her mother has never used the services of a physiotherapist and that of a dietitian. Megan said that she had not thought of the use of a dietitian and that was the reason why her mother has not accessed it. Megan discussed that she was affected in different circumstances in the course of providing caregiving support to her mother. She became emotional, stressed, and depressed. She worked as a bookkeeper and was making errors that were unusual of her. She said: "I was a basket case. I'm a bookkeeper at my job, and yeah, I was making a lot of mistakes that I would have never made. I just I couldn't remember anything." Megan related that she had to forfeit going to work in order to assist her mother to go for her appointments. As such, it affected their finances. She managed to go through these circumstances because her supervisors accepted her situation. Narrating this experience, Megan said:

To take her to appointments, I would miss work so that would affect us financially. I was also the primary contact for the home to call if there were any issues with mom. So, I would get those calls while I was at work and depending on what the call was about, I'd sometimes be bawling at work which was so embarrassing. But I had really good bosses who were super-duper understanding. So I'm very fortunate, but yeah, I just wasn't coping very well. Yeah, sometimes I would have to leave work for different things.

Megan related that providing caregiving support to her mother affected her relationship and support networks. Visiting friends seemed like a task for her and she was not much involved with people. She opted to be at home without engaging in any activity. She was not accessing counselling services because she had friends whom she had communicated with them. More so, to be able to provide the needed support for her mother, she engaged in reading and accessed some online resources. Also, there was a family support group which had meetings on a monthly basis in her area. She got some ideas by having a conversation with family members who had been in this situation. Talking about this, she said:

I've read some stuff, just done some research online. There is a family support group that meets once a month here in town. That is more actually for me than for my mom. Yeah,

mostly just reading stuff online and then talking to other people who I know that have had family members who have gone through the same thing, and they just kind of compare experiences. Some of these friends have said, 'You know, (referring to herself), you need to do this or this is what my parent did.'

In addition, in order to manage the longer wait times faced by her mother in regard to going to see the family doctor, she had to plan ahead of time in scheduling an appointment for her. Sharing this story, she said:

I would just call when I needed to make an appointment and let them know. And I'm not a very pushy person, so I'm not very good at saying my mom needs to see him now. I would sometimes ask to be put on a waitlist if I felt that it was a really pressing matter. But basically, I'd just call and say, 'What's the earliest appointment I can have?' And then, take it. That's pretty much all I did.

According to Megan, the two things that could be done to improve access to healthcare services were providing more spaces in personal care homes and more physicians. Giving these two suggestions, she said:

I would say probably a bigger one would be more personal care home spots. I think that's a huge one. Anything else I think it's-- we're in a growing community and I guess there's only so and so many doctors for people and you just gotta wait your turn. I guess get more doctors that would be helpful. Yeah, more doctors, more personal care home beds. I think that would be probably my two biggest things.

### 4.1.8. Rebecca's story of her mother who has not been medically diagnosed with dementia

Rebecca assisted her mother whom she had a strong conviction that she had dementia. At the time her mother was living in an assisted living complex, she would go there to pay her a visit. She found that her mother was facing problems in keeping her place clean. This was what she observed about her mother from the beginning. Sharing this story, she said:

When she lived on her own, she lived in a senior's complex and the first thing we noticed was, we would come there, and she was no longer cleaning, and there were receipts on the floor, and there were Kleenexes on the floor.

Her mother was interested in doing puzzles, which they did together with her. Although she never sought treatment for her, because she had no idea that there was some assistance for dementia care. Her mother has not been medically diagnosed with dementia. According to Rebecca, this was the situation because it was never suggested to them to take this path. Later on, she found out that there was a chance for her mother to go through this process. Narrating this experience, she said: "It was never offered, and I think it's only later that I was aware that that was a possibility." But she believed that her mother had dementia. On this issue, she said: "I know it's dementia like, just by how she's acting…" She speculated that her mother has been living with this condition for six years, saying:

...I have to say this generally 'cause I know that I retired five years ago, and one of the reasons was that she was deteriorating, but she was still on her own. I just wanted to be there more often for her. So, I'm going to guess about six years.

Rebecca reported that she noticed some behavioural changes in her when she turned eighty. Also, based on a computerized tomography scan, it was found that her brain was declining and shrinking.

But she was not in favour of allowing her mother to go through some additional examinations. She said that none of her grandparents had dementia and therefore they were surprised to find out about her mother's situation. Her mother had problems in remembering what to do and at one point, they got home care services to assist in taking her drugs. Later on, her mother was transferred to supportive housing. Her mother felt hesitant to receive assistance from the staff and did not permit them to support her in taking her bath. But she permitted her family to assist her in this area. Also, she used to wander around during her time at supportive housing. Eventually, she went into a nursing home. During her early days at the nursing home, she wandered around, but her sleeping pattern was improved. In addition, things went on fine for her there. More so, she permitted the people working in the nursing home to assist her in performing some activities for her. Rebecca found the nursing home as a useful place, as they communicated with her whenever there were some issues with her mother.

Rebecca related that her mother had difficulties in walking, but she did not recognize that she was facing this problem. Her mother had osteoporosis and hip problems and as a result, she was going to her family doctor to seek treatment. Her mother's doctor helped them to get an x-ray for her when they needed one. Her mother was taking a medication for pain which was given under the authority of her doctor. She had a mini-stroke and was using Plavix. Also, she took aspirin and had medication for her high blood pressure. Rebecca narrated that her mother was affected by the harmful side effects of some of these medications. She observed that her mother's fingers were usually blue and cold. Her hands were either cold or warm. In the nursing home, they offered her another blood pressure medication to use and she got a rash and was itching. As a result, she brought this to the attention of the health professionals working in the nursing home, but they told her that it was due to dry weather. So, her mother was using a cream to manage this condition. Rebecca was not happy that they did not inform her before offering her mother another blood pressure medication. Sharing this story, she said:

...I guess some problems with high blood pressure and they changed her medication. First, they took her off of it thinking she might not need it; then they gave her a different one which I believe caused her bad rash. I don't like that. I don't like the fact that they didn't talk to us first. I'd like to know why did you change the medication? She was doing fine on what she had, and I've-- I have come to them and said, 'Look, I think it's this is causing a rash, and a lot of itching,' and they seemed to control that with cream, and I got-- I guess we get tired and so I've left it.

Rebecca shared that in many cases, all of the drugs used by her mother was acquired out-of-pocket. Thus, she had to buy them on her own. On this issue, she said:

She had to pay all of it except there's a-- like the government does have a system that it's based on her income, right? So, then I think it was the last couple of months where she wouldn't have to pay, but most of the year she did.

Her mother was not talking more often. Rebecca believed that this situation was due to the degeneration of her mother's brain. In addition, her mother had a hearing problem and had some difficulties in hearing what was communicated to her by the doctor. In this case, family members had to be there in order to explain things to her. As a result, her mother was facing a communication problem and challenges in expressing her concerns whenever she went for her doctor's appointment. Narrating this experience, Rebecca said: "...she never was very good at verbalizing her needs as well, so that was a challenge for her." But there were no problems concerning the attitudes of the health professionals who provided services to her. Her mother was a wheelchair

user and fell on many occasions. Because of her mother's ambulatory problems, she was examined by an occupational therapist. But she had neither used the services of a physiotherapist nor that of a pharmacist. Rebecca had the idea that it would be beneficial to look into the use of the services of a pharmacist for her mother.

Sharing her story of how providing caregiving support to her mother affected her, Rebecca said that she had to forfeit going to work in order to support her mother. On financial matters, she explained that it was not much of a problem for her, but it was the case for her sister instead of her. Also, it affected her relationship and support networks such as companionship with people. Rebecca said: "The emotional care, the physical care, definitely it impacted friendships. Yeah, it's just reduced my energy to even want too." Although she was not overburdened in assisting her mother, it affected her emotions. Her husband and her two sisters have been there for her and that was the reason why she had never used counselling services. In addition, she was attending a support group session at the Alzheimer Society, which has been rewarding to her. Giving her recommendations on some of the things that could be adopted to improve access to healthcare services for people living with dementia, Rebecca suggested that there should be health professionals who had knowledge in dementia care. To her, it would be useful if there are doctors available in dementia care and management. As such, in her mother's case, this was a problem in the course of providing caregiving support. During the early stages of her mother's condition, they were not provided with resources that could be used to support her. According to Rebecca, she felt that it was a problem and discouraging for her. Based on this experience, she recommended that awareness of the availability of resources that could be used by families to support people living with dementia should be provided. Rebecca had the view that there was a gap in knowledge on the part of physicians on dementia care. As a result, she suggested that training on dementia care should be provided to health professionals. In addition, she said that home care workers should be equipped with ideas that could help in providing the appropriate care and support for people living with dementia.

#### 4.1.9. Sylvia's story regarding her father who has been diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease

Sylvia was the only daughter of her father who lived with Alzheimer's disease. She and her mother provided caregiving support to him. Her father was eighty-seven years old when he was diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease. Her father performed some activities such as going for a walk with his wife. Sylvia reported that her father's condition was not something which was new to her as some of her friends had been in similar situations with their parents. But her brothers had difficulties in facing the reality of his situation. Sharing this experience, she said:

Well, because we kinda knew already, it was just the finality. I have so many friends that have dealt with it with their parent, but it's not like, you know, somebody you know, and it was kinda like, 'Okay, it's in our family now.' It was a slow onset. It-- in the beginning, it seemed like we just have to take a day at a time. I can't say it was-- I've been really actually strong about it. It's bothered, my brothers. My brothers have had a harder time with it.

According to Sylvia, it all began about five years ago, when she noticed some changes about him. Discussing some of the changes she observed about his father, she said:

Like he would help me with a project and we'd go out together, measure something for sidewalk blocks and we'd come back and were putting these sidewalk blocks down and he'd look at me and say, 'What are you using these for? What do you need these for?' You

know, meanwhile like an hour ago, we had just-- we were working on this project. So, it was like little blips of information just gone.

Upon expressing some concerns to his doctor, an arrangement was made for him to undergo a psychiatric assessment. Based on the assessment by a psychiatrist, he was diagnosed with Alzheimer's. In addition, the psychiatrist suggested that his driver's licence should be revoked. Her father did not recognize that things were not going well with him. As such, he was in a state of denial of living with dementia. Sylvia said that she did not feel stigmatized about her father's condition. In this regard, she saw herself as someone who could be used to educate people. Because some people had been in this situation, there was a lot of support in their small community among families providing assistance to their relatives. Sylvia related that her father used to be a truck driver. As a result, he knew a lot of areas and locations in Winnipeg. But it got to a point where he began to ask questions about some places in the city and pretended that everything was okay. There were situations where he would get lost and seemed to be forgetful of his environment. Also, he talked about things that were not understandable to people. In this case, one of her friends enquired from her to find out if something bad was going on with her parents. Her father ate a lot, but he was losing weight. Although this had been the case, he has not used the services of a dietitian. He used to have asthma which he thought he might die from by way of an asthma attack. Her father had a brain aneurysm in his forties which really affected him. Narrating this past incident which happened to her father, she said:

He had in his forties, he had an aneurysm that was not fatal obviously, but it was like your blood vessel in your brain, it inflated. I remember as a kid when this happened, and he lost his balance, his sight, and part of his-- some paralysis. They took him to the hospital, and

they said they could do one of three things, either it would pop, and that would be death or it could seep. It could have a hole, and then there would be permanent brain damage.

As a result, her father had some speech problems which took some years to go away. He got anxious whenever he wanted to visit some places and would be looking at his watch and kept repeating that over and over again. Sylvia reported that her father was on anti-anxiety medication and was going to his family doctor whenever there was a health concern which needed some attention. As such, his doctor was the one who took care of the medications he used. She narrated that her father's family doctor was a very good person and someone who knew how to provide care and support to older people. Aside from going to see his family doctor, he has also been to an eye specialist due to some cataract problems. Again, he went to a urologist because of a tumour, but nothing significant was done about it. For most of these specialist appointments, she had to go to Winnipeg with her father. Sylvia said that on these occasions, parking, walking, and getting into buildings were some of the physical challenges that they faced.

Moreover, the distance involved in going to a specialist appointment was also a problem. She shared that there were not a lot of specialist services in her area. Also, before her father lost his driver's licence, he used to drive many of his friends to Winnipeg for their appointment. Sylvia recommended that transportation services should be provided in order to tackle this situation. In her opinion, specific days should be set aside for people to have access to transportation services for their appointment. Giving her suggestion on this matter, she said:

I think that a community this size should have a business, a transportation business like a shuttle, for-- from here to the key points 'cause it's the main clinic. Whether it's Winnipeg, Manitoba Clinic, Winnipeg Clinic, the hospitals, so they should have a shuttle. Whether

it's three times a week or like start it on some kind of a schedule that they can have pickup and drop off points and they could take all these people. So, that would be my thought.

In addition, Sylvia related that she would love to see some of these specialist services provided in her community. Because of her mother's health, they decided to opt for personal care home services for her father. She said that she was informed that before her father could be admitted into a personal care home, it would be a good idea for respite services to be provided for him. In this regard, the people at the personal care home would have the chance to get to know her father and also assess his needs. On this issue, Sylvia said:

Yeah, they do offer these week respites and I was told that before he gets placed permanently, they do encourage you to have at least one week of this respite and it gives the opportunity of the place that he's gonna be panelled for, to see him, to see what his needs are. It shows them how much the other caregiver is doing for him. So, they convinced me this was a good idea.

Eventually, her father was provided with free government home care services. Unfortunately, this did not work for him. Sylvia had the view that many people were in personal care homes. As such, it was not a good place for someone who was in the early stages of this condition. The difficulty which her father faced in using home care was the lack of consistency involved in staffing. Different people came on different occasions to provide caregiving support. As a result, there was a lack of privacy. Sharing this story, she said: "There's no consistency like, there's just way too many people. You don't have the communication that you do in a private situation." She kept repeating and giving information to the staff who were coming in to offer their services. Sylvia

as she arrived to see some of them in tears. To her, home care workers were good at handling the physical needs of people they support. But there seemed to be a gap when it comes to handling the emotional and psychological part of care. As a result, she recommended that home care workers should be trained in order to handle the emotional aspect of providing care to people living with dementia. On this, she said:

...we need home care workers for the psychological part of the disease. How to relate, and how to calm them, and how to encourage them, or how to distract them, or how to-- what are the things that they can do, what are their-- what's left that they can do, and then focus on how can I create an activity that uses whatever they have left. So, information like that, I don't think home care workers-- they don't, they don't have that. So, they should be better trained for when they are assigned to people that have less physical needs, but more emotional needs of the disease.

Also, she suggested that there should be training for a particular group of home care workers in order to deal with specific situations when the need arises. Another thing that she believed could help improve home care services was that driving services should be provided to people who use this service. Doing so would help them to have access to transportation for their appointments. Lastly, she suggested that it should be easy to do paperwork and funding for private family care as this can be a challenging task for some individuals who needed it. Sylvia shared that in the course of providing caregiving support to her father, she was affected in various ways. She had to press harder for a leave of absence at work in order to get time to assist him in areas where her assistance was required. Talking about this experience, she said: "...I have five absent days that I could take. That this would have qualified, but I had to fight for them at work. So, that added more stress to me." Sylvia narrated that she had children and grandchildren and was working full-time.

As such, it was stressful and challenging for her on some occasions. But she has not been using counselling services because she knew how to take care of stress and also has some friends that she can rely on. On this, she said:

I manage stress fairly well; I have all my life through different stressful situations. So, I haven't felt the need to go for any specialized counselling. I have a good network of friends that I can talk it out and I have a deep faith, and that certainly gives me strength. And so, I'm doing pretty good, overall.

Sylvia related that she attended some of the workshops organized by the Alzheimer Society. It was due to attending one of these workshops that her mother had a fair understanding of her father's condition. Her aim of going to these workshops was to obtain some skills to support her parents. Sylvia said that one of the things which could help in improving access to primary healthcare was that family doctors should provide information at the very beginning of the onset of dementia. In this regard, she used Glen Campbell's life experiences of living with dementia as an example where he (Glen Campbell) was monitored by health professionals in order for them to get an insight into the digression of his health condition. Sylvia considered Campbell's situation as an early assessment where proactive measures were taken to address issues that unfolded. To her, this could be beneficial to people living with dementia.

### Conclusion

In this study, it was revealed that relatives living with dementia used many of the primary healthcare services available in Manitoba. That aside, specialist, personal care home, home care, and nursing home services were the other ones mainly used by them. The relatives living with dementia face challenges when accessing primary healthcare services, specialist, and home care services. As such, family members who participated in this study gave some recommendations that could be adopted to improve access to these services. In addition, some of them shared their views on the hospital environment, attitudes of health professionals towards relatives living with dementia, the impact of providing caregiving support, and others.

In the next chapter, the issues coming out of the stories given the family members concerning relatives living with dementia are grouped into themes. This helps the author to discuss the findings of this study under the various themes created. By so doing, the work of other authors is used to support these discussions. The social model of disability as the main idea of this project is used to help readers to appreciate how this model interprets circumstances that relatives living with dementia found themselves in.

#### **Chapter 5**

#### **5.1.0.** Discussion of the results of the study

This chapter discusses in detail the findings of this study. Due to ideas coming out of the stories shared by the family members, the researcher developed some themes in order to initiate a conversation around this topic. Some of the themes created include a demographic overview of the study participants, demographic characteristics of the relatives living with dementia, behavioural signs showed by relatives living with dementia, past incidents in the lives of relatives living with dementia, other health conditions experienced by relatives living with dementia, and others. Many scholarly works or ideas from other authors are used to support the findings of this study. By so doing, a lot of essential information pertaining to this field is revealed in these discussions.

### 5.1.1. A demographic overview of the study participants

The demographic overview of the interviewees or study participants showed that many of the family caregivers were females. This finding supports information given by other studies that there is a higher propensity for women to provide caregiving support than men. Godfrey & Warshaw (2009) assert that in the global world, a traditional assumption exists about women to find themselves in performing care and support duties. However, Robinson et al.'s study (as cited in Erol et al., 2015) state that "[i]n many research studies on dementia caregivers, all or the majority of participants are women, reflecting the disproportionate extent to which they are relied upon as carers, although few of these look at gender as a specific issue" (p. 13). Also, in this project, many of the family members providing caregiving support were recruited from a small town in Manitoba. The researcher's observations as to why many people from a small town in Manitoba participated in this study was that the branch of the Alzheimer Society of Manitoba in this area is connected to

people who have relatives living with dementia. The participants had trust in the Alzheimer Society and were not bothered to share sensitive information by engaging in this project. Moreover, they were concerned about the welfare and well-being of their relatives living with dementia. Therefore, participating in this project was a means for them to advocate and voice out their concerns.

Another perspective that needs to be investigated is that according to Bollman (2008), the majority of the number of people living in the countryside in Canada is made up of the elderly as against the number of people living in the city. As dementia is more prevalent among older adults and seniors, further studies that highlight the geographic distribution of this health condition in Canada might confirm that many people living with dementia may be living in smaller communities instead of the city. Therefore, it would be of great interest to the general population and the academic community if such studies are conducted in order to priorities the delivering of services for people living with dementia in Manitoba and the whole of Canada.

### 5.1.2. Demographic characteristics of the relatives living with dementia

Gender has been identified as a key indicator of living with dementia. This is often tilted towards females as more likely to live with dementia than males. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2005) asserts that more than seventy percent of Alzheimer's diagnosis and over sixty percent of the other types of dementia affect women. In this study, the findings showed that relatives living with dementia who were females were not more than the males reported to be living with dementia by family members. This revelation is essential to the demographic and epidemiological patterns of dementia disease occurrences among the population. While this may imply that many males are beginning to live with dementia in Manitoba, it might also be as a result of the methodology and research approach used in undertaking this research project. A qualitative study often involves a small group of people compared to a quantitative study which uses a larger group of people as the study participants. Therefore, it may not be the case when dealing with a larger group of participants. In addition, the shortcomings of the use of case studies have been reported by some scholars. Dooley (2002) states that "case studies provide very little basis for scientific generalization since they use a small number of subjects, some conducted with only one subject" (p. 5). However, the main influence of a qualitative study is the ability to investigate a subject in detail (Carlsen & Glenton, 2011). Therefore, it was appropriate to use this approach because the researcher wanted to get in-depth information on the views that family members have concerning access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba.

This study found out that Alzheimer's disease was the common health condition affecting many of the relatives living with dementia. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2010) states that Alzheimer's disease is the most dominant of all the types of dementia and next to it is vascular dementia. Family caregivers providing caregiving support will be in a good position to assist relatives living with Alzheimer's disease if they have more knowledge and understanding of this health condition. Age has been reported in many studies as influential in living with dementia. Based on the information given by the family members who participated in this study, all of the relatives living with dementia were older adults at the time they were diagnosed with dementia. Launer et al.'s study (as cited in Exalto et al., 2012) state that "[i]n general, dementia is rare below the age of sixty to sixty-five, but from the age of sixty-five onwards, dementia incidence doubles with every five years of age" (p. 861). As they grow older, they may need the assistance of family members to help them to meet some of their care needs. According to the Alzheimer's Association (2015), families perform over seventy percent of long-term care for older people.

It can be challenging to get a diagnosis for a relative suspected of living with dementia. In some circumstances, family members may wait long periods of time before this can be carried out by a health professional. Some of the study participants reported that their relatives have not been diagnosed with dementia, but there was a strong conviction that they had dementia. According to Callahan, Hendrie, & Tierney (1995) & Valcour et al. (2000), percent wise, this is the case for thirty-three point three percent to more than fifty percent of people living with Alzheimer's disease. As noted earlier that Alzheimer's disease is a common form of dementia, many older adults may be facing this situation. Also, this adds to the caregiving stress and burden of family caregivers waiting for a medical diagnosis for relatives living with dementia.

Dementia is a health condition which can manifest for a longer period of time. As a chronic health condition, its impact can be catastrophic for people affected by it. Many of the participants revealed that their relatives have been living with dementia for some years. Therefore, continuity of care must be ensured to promote their health and well-being. With the increasing number of dementia cases in Canada, the primary healthcare system should be strengthened to respond to the diverse needs of persons living with dementia. Coming from a social model perspective, stakeholders in the primary healthcare system would be deemed to have failed if healthcare services that are considered essential in meeting their needs are not provided.

This study found that many of the relatives living with dementia had other family members who lived with dementia. Larson et al. (1992) report that some suggested risk factors for dementia are gender, low educational background, family history, past head injuries, and others. Dening & Babu Sandilyan (2014) state that "…having a first-degree relative with late-onset Alzheimer's disease increases one's chance of developing Alzheimer's disease only slightly" (p. 40). Norton et al. (2014) share that approximately around thirty-three point three percent of the masses being vulnerable to Alzheimer's is probably due to habit or manner of living. People who have a family history of dementia may benefit from adopting healthy lifestyle choices in order to prevent or delay the possibility of living with dementia.

### 5.1.3. Behavioural signs showed by relatives living with dementia

Persons living with dementia exhibit some behaviours associated with dementia. In this study, it was revealed that all of the relatives living with dementia showed certain behaviours such as being anxious, angry, being in the state of denial of living with dementia, being forgetful about stuff, finding it difficult to locate things, wandering, among others. Finkel et al. (1996) list belligerence, roving, nervousness, stockpiling, distress, and others as the neuropsychiatric signs of dementia. Neuropsychiatric signs of dementia can be demanding for family members providing caregiving support (Donaldson, Tarrier, & Burns, 1998; Robinson, Adkisson, & Weinrich, 2001). As such, a certain amount of patience and understanding is required by family caregivers. Minimizing arguments and accepting the reality of individuals living with dementia foster trust and harmony between them and their family caregivers. Therefore, family members providing caregiving support should access resources that will help them to have more knowledge on how to manage or handle the behavioural aspect of dementia care.

### 5.1.4. Past incidents in the lives of relatives living with dementia

Knowing about some of the things that have happened to persons living with dementia can help other caregivers and physicians providing their services to them. This study found that some of the past incidents about the relatives living with dementia included falls, loss of employment, loss of driver's licence, injury to the backbone, and previous brain or head injury. According to Wesson et al. (2013), persons living with dementia are highly susceptible to experience a fall as compared to others. A fall incident can adversely affect the mobility of older adults living with dementia in a situation whereby there is an injury to the hip or knee. As persons living with dementia progress through the stages of dementia, some modifications and adjustments may be needed for them to adapt to their home environment. Engaging the services of an occupational therapist can be very useful for them thereby reducing falls.

Dementia affects the ability of a person to discern and perform some duties. Being affected with dementia can lead to a loss of employment. Based on the findings of this study, this was the case for some of the relatives living with dementia. Persons living with disabilities face discrimination in employment due to the perceptions of employers. Barnes (1992) & Pfeiffer (2003) report that in areas such as education, employment, and health. Persons living with disabilities can perform their duties when reasonable accommodations are provided at the workplace. Therefore, employers should consider this for their employees living with dementia.

Driving promotes independence and easy movement of people. Losing the privilege to drive as a result of living with dementia can be heartbreaking for the affected person. This was the case for some of the relatives living with dementia. Berger et al. (2000) assert that people with visual problems or dementia including other health conditions can result in the loss or restriction of driving benefits. When this happens, relatives living with dementia often rely on family members to drive them to appointments and other social activities.

Being involved in a previous brain or head injury is one of the underlying indicators of living with dementia. Larson et al. (1992) support this assertion. As this was an incident reported by some of the study participants regarding relatives living with dementia, receiving ongoing support from health professionals after being involved in this incident can help reduce some of the negative effects that follow afterwards.

### 5.1.5. Other health conditions experienced by relatives living with dementia

Some research studies support that persons living with dementia often lived with other health conditions. As a result, meeting their healthcare needs can be challenging to achieve. In this study, it was found that many of the relatives living with dementia had other health conditions. These included: obsessive-compulsive disorder, pinched nerve, depression, benign lumps, hernia, heart attack, high blood pressure, asthma, lung cancer, tumour, diabetes, osteoporosis, hearing impairment, mini-strokes, and high cholesterol, among others. As a health condition which adversely affects language and cognition, persons living with dementia hitherto to having this health condition, in many circumstances, live with other diseases such as coronary artery disease, congestive heart failure, hypertension, and diabetes (Prince et al., 2011; Kurrle et al., 2012). Adopting a multi-disciplinary approach to care can be beneficial to persons living with dementia who have other co-morbidities. Barret et al. (2007) report that health practitioners using this approach assists people receiving care in getting access to many forms of treatment and ensure that services are provided efficiently.

Also, it was found that a decline in cognition and speech and communication problems were some of the other health conditions that have affected relatives living with dementia. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2010) describes dementia as a health condition which affects an individual's cognitive capabilities. Language problems are a common sign in persons living with dementia and possibly a sign pointing to dementia (Tang-Wai & Graham, 2008). Challenges linked to the ability to talk are part of the initial signs of dementia (Stanyon et al., 2016). According to Banovic et al. (2018), "[t]he main characteristics of speech and language in people with Alzheimer's dementia include: difficulties in finding words for objects, difficulties with naming, understanding difficulties, and a louder voice when speaking" (p. 222). As these conditions can have a significant impact on relatives living with dementia concerning their interactions with people, continue support and resources that can improve communication should be provided to them. Failure to do so may reduce their level of engagement and participation in many social activities. In the field of disability studies, inclusion and participation of persons living with disabilities in decision-making and discourse in society are very essential. As such, advocates of this model back these ideas. Therefore, society fails people living with dementia if they are not able to access resources (e.g., providing subtitles on television for people living with dementia who have hearing problems and using photos that depict both basic and instrumental activities for people living with dementia, who have challenges in putting words together to help them to communicate what they want to do, by pointing to these photos) that can promote their participation in meaningful activities due to having a decline in cognition, speech and communication problems.

### 5.1.6. Physical health conditions that have affected relatives living with dementia

Persons living with dementia may be faced with some physical health conditions that can be detrimental to their health and well-being. The findings of this study revealed that some of the physical health conditions that have affected relatives living with dementia included swallowing problems, weight loss, mobility challenges, and restless at night. Chang & Roberts (2008) share that assisting elderly people living with dementia to take in food is usually complicated, requires time and becomes challenging in the transition period of the condition. Also, Kai et al. (2015) state that over eighty percent of persons living with Alzheimer's encounter eating and swallowing

problems. As such, family caregivers may need more time to assist relatives living with dementia who have eating and swallowing problems when taking in food. Weight loss affects some people living dementia as they transition through the stages of dementia. According to Alzheimer's Disease International (2014), overall, the reduction in weight linked to malnutrition usually comes before the beginning of dementia and happens further as the condition continues to develop. As such, Droogsma et al. (2013) estimate that fourteen percent of persons living with dementia who live independently were susceptible to malnutrition. The use of the services of a dietitian can be very helpful to relatives living with dementia and their family caregivers who are being faced with this situation.

#### 5.1.7. Medications for relatives living with dementia

Persons living with dementia often use drugs to manage their health condition. In this study, it was found that many of the relatives living with dementia used various forms of drugs to cure or manage certain health conditions that have affected them. In addition, some of the relatives living with dementia were affected by the negative effects of the use of these medications. Since many drugs have side effects, it would be appropriate to use the services of a pharmacist in order to reduce or prevent unforeseeable harmful side effects of the use of drugs. As such, regular communication between family doctors, pharmacists, and specialists concerning drugs used by their care recipients living with dementia can be of great help in tackling this situation. Pharmacists have the ability to evaluate drugs in order to find out if the drugs given under the authority of a health professional to persons living with dementia are beneficial, creating problems, and to establish that their use is vital (Blenkinsopp, Bond, & Raynor, 2012).

Some of the study participants reported that certain drugs used by relatives living with dementia were acquired through out-of-pocket. This situation can affect the finances of family caregivers and their care recipients if many of the essential drugs are being paid by them or if there is no drug coverage plan in place. This may be one of the reasons why many people are advocating for a national pharmacare program in Canada. Also, there was an incident of doubling up on medication. According to the information given by one of the study participants (Andrew), this was as a result of the fact that the individual involved was having difficulties in differentiating between day and night time. Currently, there are some assistive technologies that exist in order to help reduce or prevent such incidents. With this technology, when the time for medication is due, an alert or a sound is produced to remind the individual to take his/her medication. However, people living with dementia who come from a low-income background may not be encouraged to use this technology, in many cases, if it is expensive for them to afford.

### 5.1.8. Activities performed by relatives living with dementia

Helping persons living with dementia to perform some activities by themselves can promote their independence and well-being. In this project, it was found that some of the relatives living with dementia performed certain activities which included cleaning the floor, laundry, reading, preparing breakfast, and others. Thuné-Boyle et al. (2012) & Winchester et al. (2013) identify the engagement in an activity as having the potential to promote the performance of day-to-day routine, sleep as well as a decrease in neuropsychiatric signs of dementia. Therefore, family caregivers should encourage relatives living with dementia to engage in meaningful activities in order to promote their independence, well-being, and dignity.

#### 5.1.9. Activities that relatives living with dementia were not doing anymore

The level of engagement in activities for persons living with dementia can be reduced as they progress through the stages of the health condition. This study found that some relatives living with dementia were not performing certain activities anymore. These included meal preparation, cleaning, and following through on an upcoming event on a calendar, among others. Blankevoort et al. (2010) report that being less active add up to the limited choices in life faced by persons living with dementia and are at risk of having the state of their body and performance negatively affected thereby causing a decrease in independence and engagement in the regular or day-to-day routine. As such, finding ways that are simple and easy for relatives living with dementia to perform some activities can encourage them to have a desire to engage in those activities.

### 5.2.0. Primary healthcare services used by relatives living with dementia

The primary healthcare sector is one of the core structure of the Canadian healthcare system. The College of Family Physicians of Canada (2011) states that the majority of healthcare services are provided in the primary healthcare system. Starfield et al. (2005) acknowledge that healthcare systems which are functionally active have primary care as one of its pillars regarding the provision of services. It is a healthcare system which involves health professionals from different backgrounds. This study found that many of the relatives living with dementia used various forms of primary healthcare services. These included the services of a family doctor, occupational therapist, physiotherapist, nurse, and that of a pharmacist. Aminzadeh et al. (2012) point out that primary care is important in dementia management. It was revealed that all the relatives living with dementia had used the services of a family doctor. The Canadian Institute for Health Information (2009) states that more than eighty-five percent of people in Canada reported about

having periodic access to a health service which is often a general practitioner. As such, providing training on dementia care for family doctors will ensure a higher standard of care for persons living with dementia. Aside from the use of the services of a family doctor, the services of a pharmacist and that of a physiotherapist were the ones often used by relatives living with dementia respectively. Pharmacists have the ability to evaluate drugs in order to find out if the drugs given under the authority of a health professional to persons living with dementia are beneficial, creating problems, and to establish that their use is vital (Blenkinsopp, Bond, & Raynor, 2012). Physiotherapists may help persons living with dementia to do some exercise programs that can be beneficial to their health and well-being. Rolland et al. (2007) describe that being more active fights against some of the adverse effects connected to dementia, which includes susceptible to falls and broken bones, wasting of the muscle, and disruption in the performance of the heart and blood vessels. Also, proof exists about the possibility of physical activity being vital in serving as resistance to experiencing a slowdown in memory and thinking regarding individuals without dementia (Sofi et al., 2011).

#### 5.2.1. Primary healthcare services that have not been used by relatives living with dementia

Some of the relatives living with dementia did not use the services of a physiotherapist and that of a pharmacist. This might be the fact that considering their current situation, these services were not needed for them. In addition, none of them were using the services of a dietitian. The services of a dietitian are very essential to persons living with dementia who have physical health conditions such as eating and swallowing problems, weight loss, and others. This may be due to the fact that more awareness of the importance of using this service for persons living with dementia has not been created. While it is not too late for many of them, more education in this area should be given to family caregivers and their care recipients.

# **5.2.2.** The challenges faced by relatives living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare services

Some of the study participants shared information on the challenges that relatives living with dementia encountered when accessing primary healthcare services. These included long wait times involved to see a family doctor, delay in the delivery of care due to long wait times, lack of proper communication between health professionals, lack of initiative and decision-making on the part of care recipients in order to access healthcare services, and the inconsistency involved in having a family doctor, among others. Schoen et al. (2010) point out that more than thirty percent of the people in Canada say that in the most recent times when they got ill, it took more than five days for them to have access to a physician service. These challenges faced by relatives living with dementia could affect their health condition. Also, the health condition of their family caregivers can be at risk due to the stress and burden they may go through in seeking healthcare services for them.

# **5.2.3.** Recommendations that could be used to address these difficulties and also improve access to primary healthcare services

As a result of the difficulties faced by relatives living with dementia when accessing primary healthcare services, some of the family caregivers gave some suggestions that could address the challenges and also promote access to these services. These included: providing more doctors, awareness of available resources, addressing health issues on time, getting health professionals who have knowledge on dementia care, providing information at the beginning of this health condition, creating more spaces in personal care homes, and others. There are five regional health authorities in Manitoba, with each region having a board of directors. To improve access to primary healthcare services in each region for people living with dementia, it would be a good idea for each regional health authority to seek the views of family caregivers and their care recipients in order to implement programs that are tailored to their needs. This could help to reduce the challenges plaguing the primary healthcare system regarding its use for people living with dementia and their support networks such as friends and family members. In the field of disability studies, in support of this is the famous adage, "Nothing About Us Without Us" (Charlton, 1998).

#### 5.2.4. Other services used by relatives living with dementia

This study found that other services used by relatives living with dementia included specialist services, home care, personal care home, nursing home services, mental health services, day program, counselling services, and disability tax credit program. Out of these services, specialist care, personal care home, home care, and nursing home services were the ones predominantly used by relatives living with dementia. The specialist services used by them included the services of a psychiatrist, neurologist, urologist, and geriatrician, among others. Under these services, the services of a psychiatrist and that of a neurologist were the ones often used by relatives living with dementia because it falls under their specialty. Aminzadeh et al. (2012) point out that "[a]lthough the majority of patients experiencing the first signs of dementia initially visit a primary care provider, many, if not most, appear to have their diagnosis confirmed by a specialist" (pp. 85-94).

Also, it was found that some of the difficulties faced by relatives living with dementia in using specialist services included: the distance involved in accessing these services, long wait times involved in using these services, insufficient availability of specialist services in rural communities, and cost of transportation to a specialist appointment. Hogan (2001) reports that the number of specialists available is not sufficient to provide the necessary services for the increasing number of persons living with dementia and their families and friends. As these challenges can adversely affect the health condition of persons living with dementia who need specialist care services, embarking on a periodic review as well as developing innovative means of how to improve access to this service could reduce some of these challenges.

Personal care homes can be used as a supplement to primary healthcare services for persons living with dementia in circumstances whereby they can have access to care and support services in a residential setting. This study found that many of the relatives living with dementia have used personal care homes. In the United Kingdom, dementia is considered to be among the greatest underlying factors for going into a personal care home for individuals who were sixty-six years and beyond (Alzheimer's Society, 2007). Considering the age of relatives living with dementia, a similar trend seems to be happening in Manitoba. With the increasing number of dementia cases in Canada coupled with an ageing population, it may be a necessity to expand personal care home and home care services in Manitoba and across Canada for persons living with dementia.

In this study, it was found that a common challenge involved in using home care was the situation whereby different employees were coming into the homes of the care recipients on several occasions to provide caregiving support to them. This may be as a result of the high turnover of employees in the home care sector. According to Turcotte (2014), Statistics Canada approximated that as there are over two million residents accessing home care, three percent shy of eighteen percent of them using this service shared that their demands have not been achieved. Also, some of the study participants gave some recommendations that could be used to improve home care services for relatives living with dementia. These included: training for a particular group of home care workers in order to deal with specific situations when the need arises, making it easy to do

paperwork and funding for private family care, and driving services for people who use this service. Since these family caregivers have first-hand experiences, taking their suggestions into consideration may provide some positive outcomes in the delivery of home care services for people living with dementia.

### 5.2.5. Feelings that family caregivers have concerning relatives living with dementia

Family members of persons living with dementia may have some feelings and concerns about the situation of their relatives living with dementia. According to Cronfalk et al. (2017), "[f]amily members that care for persons with dementia go through troublesome transitions: being a concerned relative, becoming a carer, a visitor at a nursing home and a grieving survivor" (p. 3520). In this study, many of the family caregivers expressed some feelings and concerns regarding their care recipients living with dementia in areas such as having a feeling of being susceptible to living with Alzheimer's, a feeling of having lost a partner due to dementia, the state of the condition of a relative living with dementia, and others. As this can affect their emotional and psychological well-being, family members going through this situation may need guidance, counselling, and support in order to have a sound mind to provide caregiving support to relatives living with dementia.

#### 5.2.6. Resources used by family caregivers with relatives living with dementia

Family caregivers often use some resources that can provide them with knowledge, idea, and skills in order to provide the needed support to relatives living with dementia. In this study, it was found that families providing caregiving used resources such as counselling services, support group sessions, and workshops, among others. Sinha's study (as cited in National Institute on Ageing, 2018) state that "training, counselling services, and support groups, in addition to respite supports, have been shown to positively influence the health and well-being of caregivers – but, the availability and access to these services varies considerably across the country and by location" (p. 33). The safety and well-being of relatives living with dementia are ensured when family caregivers have access to many resources for dementia care. Therefore, family caregivers should be encouraged to explore various kinds of resources in order to deepen their knowledge on providing caregiving support to their care recipients living with dementia.

# 5.2.7. Resources that have not been used by family caregivers of relatives living with dementia

Family caregivers providing caregiving support may not be using some of the resources that can help them to be in a position to support relatives living dementia better. This study found that some of the family caregivers were not using counselling services. Grossfeld-Schmitz et al. (2010) report that the underlying factor as to why there is less utilization of family counselling is that during the onset of this health condition, prediction on the growth of this health condition is not feasible, as well as insufficient knowledge on the resources at hand. According to Bruce & Paterson (2000) & Vetter et al. (1998), the effort to use counselling services is made mainly at the late level of the health condition. Therefore, providing education and creating more awareness of the resources that are accessible can improve the use of counselling services and other ones by family caregivers.

#### 5.2.8. Family caregivers' opinions about physicians

In this study, the opinions of some of the family caregivers about physicians were documented. These included family doctors approach to care and mainstream ideas about physicians. Fortinsky (2001) reports that family or friends providing support to persons living with dementia have a thought that physicians do not handle signs associated with dementia and drugs for people under their care who are living with dementia properly or give enough assistance during challenging moments and resources available for them. To change this perception, physicians should involve family caregivers in the provision of care in order to know what works best for them and their relatives living with dementia.

#### 5.2.9. Family caregivers' views on the hospital environment

Creating an accessible hospital environment enhances the movement of people or users. Some of the study participants shared their views on the hospital environment. The common issue raised was on signs posted at hospital environments. They reported that the signs were not bigger and easy to see, and difficult to use. A statement made by one of the participants (Hannah) about the uncertainty of her mother's ability to discern what these signs stand for seems to support some of the reports given by the critics of the social model of disability. Crow (1996) asserts that "impairment in the form of chronic illness or pain may curtail activity and participation to the extent that 'the restriction of the outside world becomes irrelevant' and impairment will remain, yet without disabling barriers" (p. 209). While this should not be a legitimate reason in failing to provide an accessible hospital environment, frantic efforts should be made to include persons living with disabilities in decision-making in order to take their needs into consideration when building hospitals and other public spaces.

### 5.3.0. The attitudes of health professionals towards relatives living with dementia

The attitudes of health professionals towards people under their care can influence the level of trust and relationship between them and their care recipients. The people who use healthcare services are able to open up to their physicians if they feel welcomed and treated with respect. As persons living with disabilities may experience some form of discrimination, Barnes (1992) &

Pfeiffer (2003) report that in areas such as education, employment, and health. Academic papers and publications have been able to expose the discrimination and exclusion faced by persons living with dementia (Blackman et al., 2003; Dorenlot, 2005; Beattie et al., 2005b; Davis et al., 2009; Brittain et al., 2010). The findings of this study showed that while some health professionals exhibited positive attitudes towards relatives living with dementia, in some circumstances, this was certainly not the case for others. Therefore, creating awareness on disability issues among health professionals to recognize disability as a human diversity can help them to understand and embrace it as a part of life. This can promote positive attitudes and building of a relationship between health professionals and persons living with dementia who often use their services.

### 5.3.1. The impact of providing caregiving support to relatives living with dementia

Family caregivers of relatives living with dementia can be affected in various ways in the course of providing caregiving support. This study found that in areas such as their personal health, economic and livelihood, finances, planning ahead of time, relationship and support networks, and searching for information or resources. Sinha's study (as cited in National Institute on Ageing, 2018) state that "[i]n 2012, 20% of Canadian caregivers reported that their physical or emotional health had suffered in the past twelve months" (p. 22). The lives of relatives living with dementia are at risk when the health condition of their caregivers is affected. This may be one of the reasons why family caregivers use additional services such as home care to support relatives living with dementia. Keating et al. (2014) assert that there is a higher propensity for a decrease in the work output of people providing caregiving support, which has the potential to affect their general guarantee of employment. Sometimes family caregivers facing this situation may decide to make changes to their career goals and aspiration in order to meet the demands of their care recipients.

Fast, Williamson, & Keating (1999), Hayman et al. (2001), & White-Means & Rubin (2004) state that the financial situation of families or friends offering support can be impacted due to the regular expenditures associated with providing care. Often, family caregivers who find themselves in this circumstance may be left with no choice than to apply for funding and other social intervention programs in order to ensure the continuity of care and support for relatives living with dementia. Also, the challenges faced by family caregivers in searching for information and resources for relatives living with dementia can have a great impact and deter them from pursuing further. Smale & Dupuis (2004b) report that people providing support had challenges in using resources tailored to their demand at the right time, as well as resources that meet the targets of people they support.

#### Conclusion

The discussion of the results of a study is a platform for researchers to critique and initiate some conversations around the findings of their study from different perspectives. As such, the author of this study used the social model of disability and other existing literature in this field to support the discussion of some of the issues emanating from the stories shared by the family members.

The final chapter provides a conclusion and recommendations that could be employed to improve dementia care and management for persons living with dementia in Manitoba and across Canada. A total of eight recommendations are given by the researcher. These suggestions are based on issues found in the literature, as well as the stories shared by the family caregivers in relation to relatives living with dementia.

#### **Chapter 6**

#### 6.1.0. Conclusion and recommendations of the study

In this final chapter, a conclusion is drawn and some recommendations are suggested that could help to improve access to primary healthcare services for persons living with dementia. These recommendations include: effective collaboration between family doctors, family caregivers, and other health professionals who provide services to relatives living dementia, providing funding support to family doctors, nurses, and specialists interested in training programs for dementia care, providing training programs for family caregivers to equip them with the knowledge and skills needed to support relatives living dementia, and providing many specialist services in rural communities to reduce pressure on existing ones in urban areas, among others.

### 6.1.1. Study recommendations

In this study, it was revealed that dementia as a health condition continues to affect older adults in Manitoba. It has been established in Canada that many women live with dementia than men. In this study, it might be the case that dementia is becoming more prevalent among men. Families providing support reported that relatives living with dementia show some behavioural signs or symptoms such as being anxious, angry, repeating stuff, forgetfulness of the environment, and wandering, among others. Also, many of the relatives living with dementia had other health conditions and were using various kinds of drugs to cure or manage these conditions. Some of them were affected by the harmful side effects of the use of these medications. In addition, some of these drugs used by them were paid through out-of-pocket. On the past incidents in the lives of relatives living with dementia, it became apparent that many of them had their driver's licence removed. This means that without the assistance of a family caregiver or other support services,

their engagement with their community may be limited. Family members of people living with dementia serve as a safety net in providing care and support and in many cases, assist them to access primary healthcare services. Relatives living with dementia encounter some challenges when using primary healthcare services available to them. As such, families proving caregiving support gave some suggestions that can help to improve the utilization of primary healthcare services services, relatives living with dementia used other services such as specialist services, personal care home, home care, mental health services, nursing home services, day program, and disability tax credit.

Moreover, specialist services, personal care home, home care, and nursing home services were the ones often used by relatives living with dementia. But they faced some difficulties when using specialist services and home care. Families providing support had some concerns or feelings about the health conditions of relatives living with dementia. As such, the services used by the families providing support were documented in this project. However, it was found that some of the families were not using counselling services. Furthermore, whereas some health professionals show a positive attitude towards relatives living with dementia, in some situations, it was definitely not the case as some families expressed their displeasures with such encounters. Lastly, Families providing caregiving support were affected in various ways such as their personal health, economic and livelihood, finances, relationship and support networks, and others. Based on the primary findings of this study and literature reviews, the researcher gave some recommendations that could be adopted to tackle dementia care in Manitoba and across Canada. These are as follows:

# 6.1.2. Effective collaboration between family doctors, family caregivers, and other health professionals who provide services to relatives living dementia

Persons living with dementia rely on families and friends to assist them to access services and other basic activities in the home. Families providing support to relatives living with dementia often have a lot of information concerning their health conditions. According to the Alzheimer's Association (2015), families perform over seventy percent of long-term care for older people. As such, family doctors and other health professionals such as a specialist may need the input of families to have accurate information about the family history of the person under their care. This information can help physicians in the diagnostic process for a relative suspected of living with dementia. In order to ensure the health and well-being of relatives living with dementia throughout the continuity of care, there should be an effective collaboration between family doctors, family caregivers, and other health professionals.

As the health condition of relatives living with dementia progresses, family doctors and other specialists (through a referral by the family doctor) delivering services may decide to review their existing care plan to conform to the changes that have occurred. These may include scheduling an appointment in order to re-examine them, reviewing the drugs used by them, and others. Also, when relatives living with dementia transition into palliative care, which basically involves providing comfort care and ensuring dignity, issues around property and investment, finances, funeral arrangement, and others need to be addressed. All these need the involvement of their family members. Therefore, effective collaboration between family doctors, family caregivers, and other health professionals are needed to ensure the safety and well-being of relatives living with dementia.

# 6.1.3. Providing funding support to family doctors, nurses, and specialists interested in training programs for dementia care

Sometimes it becomes a challenge in getting the right diagnosis for a relative suspected of living with dementia. As a result, some families might be left in the loop in taking this path. Family physicians are the first point of contact in our healthcare system. As such, many cases are brought to their attention before a specialist may be involved. In addition, nurses work with physicians and specialists to ensure that people under their care are receiving the right treatment. The Canadian Nurses Association (2016) suggests that the federal government should invest in resources that will improve the competencies of health practitioners at all levels of dementia management. Specialists such as neurologists and psychiatrists through a referral by a family physician may conduct further testing to confirm the existence of dementia. Therefore, providing funding support to family physicians, nurses, and specialists who are interested in learning more about dementia care and diagnosis will help in enhancing their knowledge, skills, and ideas. In the long run, this strategy can bring relief to families and people suspected of living with dementia who struggle to get the right diagnosis. Also, this strategy means that more physicians and specialists would be available to provide healthcare services to the increasing number of persons living with dementia in Manitoba and the whole of Canada.

### 6.1.4. Providing training programs for family caregivers to equip them with the knowledge and skills needed to support relatives living dementia

According to the Canadian Nurses Association (2013), dementia has reached the threshold where it can be considered an epidemic. This implies that many people in Canada are living with dementia. In many cases, family members are the first to provide caregiving support to relatives living with dementia. Smetanin et al. (2009) assert that by two thousand and thirty-eight, the number of hours that would be spent on providing caregiving to individuals living with dementia in Manitoba will be more than double of the number of hours spent during the early part of the twenty-first century. As such, families of persons living with dementia will spend more of their time providing caregiving support during this period in Manitoba. The safety and well-being of relatives living with dementia depend on families or friends offering assistance and support. As a result, providing training programs for family members will equip them with knowledge, skills, and ideas needed to assist relatives living with dementia. The lives of relatives living with dementia are at risk when family caregivers do not have enough ideas and skills to support them. The Change Foundation (2016) reports that the people providing support require appropriate knowledge and skill in order to be in a position to support individuals receiving support from them. Therefore, providing training programs for family members on how to support relatives living with dementia can ensure their safety and well-being.

# 6.1.5. Providing many specialist services in rural communities to reduce pressure on existing ones in urban areas

In Manitoba, many of the existing specialist services are available in Winnipeg. As a result, persons living with dementia, who live in rural communities in Manitoba, travel a long distance to seek specialist services that are not available in their area. In this study, it was found that some of the challenges faced by relatives living with dementia in accessing specialist services included distance involved in accessing specialist services, cost of transportation, long wait times in using specialist services, and insufficient availability of specialist services in rural communities. These challenges can have a significant impact on their lives. Therefore, all stakeholders in the healthcare sector should create and promote programs that would make specialist services available in the

rural communities in Manitoba. By so doing, persons living with dementia and their families will save money on the cost of transportation and time involved in travelling a long distance to seek specialist care services.

#### 6.1.6. Creating a national dementia strategy

Canada does not have a national dementia strategy. This means that the ten provinces and three territories would have to create their own programs to address dementia issues. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2015) asserts that looking at the magnitude and cost of dementia, none of the provinces can resolve this issue separately. Establishing a national dementia strategy will ensure uniformity and a clear delegation of responsibility between the federal, provincial, and territorial government concerning dementia management across Canada. According to Lowi-Young (2015), over eighty percent of Canadians support this idea. There is a higher prevalence of dementia cases among older adults and seniors in Canada. From the researcher's subjective point of view, creating a national dementia strategy would address issues such as funding for dementia care, research and development, drug coverage plans, social intervention or support programs, and others for persons living with dementia. Therefore, all the needed support should be given in order to create a national dementia strategy program in Canada.

#### 6.1.7. Creating a national pharmacare program

Canada does not have a national pharmacare program. In this regard, many people have championed the idea of moving towards this trajectory. In Canada, the cost of prescription drugs has been one of the challenges facing people from a low-income background who do not have the means to afford them. Paris & Docteur's study (as cited in Bielska et al., 2012) state that "[p]ublic drug coverage ranges from providing drugs to financially disadvantaged populations like seniors,

welfare recipients, and those individuals with medical or financial needs to universal eligibility" (p. 53). This idea is not sustainable due to unfavourable economic conditions that have the potential to force governments to cut-back on social intervention programs. Lexchin (2014) asserts that the Canada Health Act is unforthcoming regarding expenditure on medications given under the authority of a health professional. As such, instituting a national pharmacare program through an act of parliament can serve as a legal basis for people to demand answers from their government if they fail to perform their duties regarding drug coverage programs.

The Restrictive Trade Practices Commission, Royal Commission on Health Services, & Canada House of Commons' study (as cited in Lexchin, 2014) state that "[d]uring the 1960s, a series of three reports all pointed out that drug prices in Canada were among the highest in the world and all three reports identified patent protection as one of the major reasons for this situation" (p. 29). A table presentation from Industry Canada (2013) used in Lexchin's (2014, p. 28) study reveals that many of the drug manufacturing enterprises in Canada, selling medications under a patent were not owned by Canadians. In the past, compulsory licensing was a mechanism adopted with the aim of achieving a reduction in the cost of patented medications. According to Lexchin (2014), before the initial periods of the last decade of the twentieth century, this system was deployed in Canada to allow the outsourcing of the materials used in making medications from outside with the aim of causing a decrease in the cost of patented medicines. According to the data presented by the Commission of Inquiry on the Pharmaceutical Industry (1985), compulsory licensing was accountable for a decrease in a little over one-eighth of the overall medication expenditure of four hundred million dollars shy of two billion, whereas during the formative years of the last two decades of the twentieth century, less than four percent of the

domestic trade in pharmaceuticals were no longer in the hands of foreign-owned companies due to opposition from the trade in medications that do not have a trademark.

Product Listing Agreements are adopted by provincial governments in a situation whereby an agreement is made with a drug producing company in order to provide a coverage plan for certain medications. Also, it can be used by the authorities to achieve a decrease in the cost of medicines. Lexchin (2014) reports that persons who buy medications on their own and those under a special coverage plan does not gain from the decrease in the cost of medications brought about by the use of Product Listing Agreements. From two thousand and five to two thousand and ten, over seventy-five percent of the recent medications that have received permission from Health Canada to some extent were covered by an individual insurance program in regard to the over forty-five percent coverage by a provincial program (Canada Health Policy Institute, 2013). This means that private insurance companies are more likely to provide coverage for medications that are about to be used than the government. In addition, this may be one of the reasons why the cost of prescription drugs remains an issue for the less privileged in Canada.

Although instituting a national pharmacare program does not mean that all the issues concerning the cost of prescription drugs and coverage for residents by the government would be solved. But there are enormous benefits to be achieved under this program. Morgan, Law, Daw et al.'s study (as cited in Clement & Memedovich, 2018) state that "[n]ational pharmacare is defined as public coverage of medically necessary prescription drugs on universal terms and conditions across Canada, including limited patient co-payments and a basic list of medications available for all Canadians" (p. 150). This can be a safety net for persons living with dementia who have a limited source of income to fill their drug prescriptions. A new study revealed that this program has the capacity to decrease the amount incurred through the use of individual firms providing

coverage plans by over eight billion dollars and cause the amount incurred through provincial coverage programs to rise by five-folds of two hundred million dollars thereby saving over seven billions dollars of the overall drug expenditures (Morgan, Law, Daw et al., 2015). Therefore, creating a national pharmacare program would benefit persons living with dementia who often need drugs to manage their health condition.

# 6.1.8. Providing information to family caregivers on where to seek services and support for relatives living with dementia

Receiving information on services and resources available for dementia care and management at the early stages can be very helpful for relatives living with dementia and their family members. This idea was part of some of the suggestions made by some of the study participants. When family caregivers have information on services such as day programs, support group sessions, supported employment programs, and organizations providing training and resources, it allays their fears and uncertainty thereby assuring them that they are not alone in this journey of providing caregiving support to relatives living with dementia. Family doctors are usually the first to be contacted when family members have concerns about the changes in personality and behaviour of relatives suspected of living with dementia. Before the involvement of a specialist to confirm that a person is living with dementia, a referral has to be made by a family doctor. Therefore, family physicians play a distinguished role in the delivery of healthcare services to persons living with dementia. As a result, they should be in a position to know more about other services and resources that family caregivers can assist relatives living with dementia to use. To achieve this, family physicians should liaise with institutions providing training and resources to persons living with dementia and their family members. According to Holmes & Adler (2005), doctors are in a better position to

send people under their care and relatives to institutions that offer knowledge and resources for supporting persons living with dementia.

# 6.1.9. Creating an accessible environment in the communities and hospitals for persons living with dementia

The participation of persons living with dementia in the community is essential because there is a sense of belonging and togetherness when the necessary accommodation is created for this purpose. The mainstream ideas about disability have caused great harm to persons living with disabilities in areas such as health, education, employment, marriage and social life, and others. In this regard, the social model was adopted to fight all the wrongdoings of society against persons living with disabilities. The signatories to international conventions on disability issues acknowledge the removal of all forms of obstacles that prevent their participation in society.

The Canadian Nurses Association (2016) states that "[f]orecasts show that the fifty-five percent of persons with dementia (sixty-five and over) living in their own homes in 2008 will grow to sixty-two percent by 2038" (p. 7). This implies that there would be an increase in the number of persons living with dementia, who are dwelling in the communities in the years ahead. Therefore, all efforts must be made to ensure that the environments are accessible to persons living with disabilities. These include parks, malls, restaurants, school campuses, hospitals and clinics, public transportation, and bus stations, among others. The Alzheimer Society of Canada (2010) & Kennan (2014) report that physical environments that enhance the movement of older adults can assist in avoiding dementia. An accessible environment benefits all users and not persons living with disabilities alone. Adopting this strategy promotes the dignity, integrity, and independence for persons living with dementia, who may be experiencing some mobility challenges.

Dementia is a health condition facing many people living in Canada. As a result, the primary healthcare system should be positioned to respond to the foreseeable challenges that lie ahead. Moreover, families providing caregiving support can be useful in creating programs to help people living with dementia to achieve their healthcare needs due to the wealth of knowledge they have about their care recipients. In this regard, conducting this study was one of the means of creating awareness on dementia issues by reporting the views held by families on access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba. Based on the stories shared by the family members, it was found that relatives living with dementia used various forms of primary healthcare and specialist services, home care, personal care home, nursing home services, and others. However, relatives living with dementia encountered difficulties when accessing some of these services. Therefore, implementing the recommendations given by the family members and that of the researcher could be beneficial in improving the primary healthcare system thereby promoting the quality of life and well-being of people living with dementia in Manitoba and the whole of Canada.

#### References

- Aggarwal, M. & Hutchison, B. (2012). *Toward a primary care strategy for Canada*. Canadian foundation for healthcare improvement.
- Aizenberg, D., Sigler, M., Weizman, A., & Barak, Y. (2002). Anticholinergic burden and the risk of falls among elderly psychiatric inpatients: a 4-year case–control study. *Int Psychogeriatr*, 14, 307–310.
- Alberta Access Improvement Measures. (2013). Evaluation of the Alberta AIM initiative: AIM 10-

15, HWAP funding period. Retrieved from

http://www.albertaaim.ca/index.php/resources/program-publications/114-aim-hwapexecutive-summary/file

Alberta Health Services. (2013). *Health Link Alberta*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/223.asp">http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/223.asp</a>

- Alpi, K. M., & Evans, J. J. (2019). Distinguishing case study as a research method from case reports as a publication type. *Journal of the Medical Library Association: JMLA*, 107(1), 1–5. doi:10.5195/jmla.2019.615
- Alzheimer's Association. (2015). Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's Dement,

11(3), 332-384.

Alzheimer's Disease International. (2014). Nutrition and dementia. Alzheimer's Disease

International. London: Alzheimer's Disease International.

Alzheimer's Society. (2007). Home from home: a report highlighting opportunities for improving

standards of dementia care in care homes, London. Alzheimer's Society, UK.

Alzheimer Society of Canada. (2005). Alzheimer's disease: the progression of Alzheimer's

disease. Introduction. Retrieved from

http://www.alzheimer.ca/english/disease/progression-3stages.htm.

Alzheimer Society of Canada. (2006). Alzheimer's disease statistics. Retrieved from

http://www.alzheimer.ca/english/disease/stats-people.htm.

Alzheimer Society of Canada. (2010). Rising tide: the impact of dementia on Canadian society.

Retrieved from

http://www.alzheimer.ca/~/media/Files/national/Advocacy/ASC Rising Tide Full Repo rt\_e.pdf.

Alzheimer Society of Canada. (2012). A new way of looking at the impact of dementia in Canada.

Toronto.

Alzheimer Society of Canada. (2015). Frequently asked questions. Retrieved from

http://www.alzheimer.ca/en/Get-involved/Raise-your-voice/National-dementiastrategy/FAQ

Aminzadeh, F., Molnar, F. J., Dalziel, W. B., & Ayotte, D. (2012). A review of barriers and enablers to diagnosis and management of persons with dementia in primary care. *Canadian Geriatrics Journal*, 15(3), 85–94. doi:10.5770/cgj.15.42

- Areheart, B. A. (2008). When disability isn't "just right": the entrenchment of the medical model of disability and the Goldilocks dilemma. *Indiana Law Journal*, 83(1), 181-232.
- Bachman, D. L., Wolf, P. A., Linn, R., Knoefel, J. E., Cobb, J., Belanger, A., et al. (1992). Prevalence of dementia and probable senile dementia of the Alzheimer type in the Framingham study. *Neurology*, 42, 115-9.
- Banovic, S., Zunic, L., & Sinanovic, O. (2018). Communication Difficulties as a Result of Dementia. *Materia Socio Medica*, 30(2), 221. doi:10.5455/msm.2018.30.221-224
- Barnes, C. (1992). Institutional discrimination against disabled people and the campaign for antidiscrimination legislation. *Critical Social Policy*, 12(34), 5–22.
- Barnes, C., & Oliver, M. (1993). Disability: a sociological phenomenon ignored by sociologists. Leeds: University of Leeds.
- Barrett, J., et al. (2007). CHSRF synthesis: interprofessional collaboration and quality primary healthcare. Canadian Health Services Research Foundation. Retrieved from <u>www.cfhi-</u> fcass.ca/Migrated/PDF/SynthesisReport\_E\_rev4\_FINAL.pdf.
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(4), 544-559.
  Retrieved from <a href="https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1573&context=tqr">https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1573&context=tqr</a>
- Beattie, A., Daker-White, G., Gilliard, J., & Means, R. (2005b). "They Don't Quite Fit the Way We Organise Our Services"—Results from a UK field study of marginalised groups and dementia care." *Disability & Society*, 20(1), 67–80.

- Bell, J. S., Mezrani, C., Blacker, N., et al. (2012). Anticholinergic and sedative medicines prescribing considerations for people with dementia. *Aust Fam Physician*, 41, 45–49.
- Belmin, J., Min, L., Roth, C., et al. (2012). Assessment and management of patients with cognitive impairment and dementia in primary care. *J Nutr Health Aging*, 16, 462–467.
- Bennett, S., Shand, S., & Liddle, J. (2011). Occupational therapy practice in Australia with people with dementia: a profile in need of change. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 58, 155-163.
- Berg & Bruce, L. (2007). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences*. 6th Edition. San Francisco: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Berger, J. T., Rosner, F., Kark, P., & Bennett, A. J. (2000). Reporting by physicians of impaired drivers and potentially impaired drivers. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 15(9), 667-672. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2000.04309.x
- Bielska, I. A., Johnson, A. P., & Hampel, E. M. (2012). An overview of the Canadian health care system. Zdrowie Publiczne i Zarządzanie, 10(1), 51-56.
- Blackman, T. I. M., Mitchell, L., Burton, E., Jenks, M., Parsons, M., Raman, S., & Williams, K. (2003). "The Accessibility of Public Spaces for People with Dementia: A New Priority for the 'Open City." *Disability & Society*, 18 (3), 357–371.

Blankevoort, C. G., van Heuvelen, M. J., Boersma, F., Luning, H., de Jong, J., & Scherder, E.

J. (2010). Review of effects of physical activity on strength, balance, mobility, and ADL performance in elderly subjects with dementia. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 30, 392-402. doi:10.1159/000321357

- Blenkinsopp, A., Bond, C., & Raynor, D. (2012). Medication reviews. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 74(4), 573–580.
- Borrill, C., West, M., Shapiro, D., & Rees, A. (2001). Team working and effectiveness in health care. *British Journal of Health Care Management*, 6(8), 364-371.
- Bowen, S. (2000). Access to health services for underserved populations in Canada. Retrieved from <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hcs-sss/pubs/acces/2001-certain-equit-acces/index-eng.php</u>
- Brittain, K., Corner, L., Robinson, L, & Bond, J. (2010). "Ageing in Place and Technologies of
  Place: The Lived Experience of People with Dementia in Changing Social, Physical and
  Technological Environments." Sociology of Health & Illness, 32 (2), 272–287.
- Bruce, D. G., & Paterson, A. (2000). Barriers to community support for the dementia carer: a qualitative study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 15(5), 451-457.
- Burchardt, T. (2004). Capabilities and disability: the capabilities framework and the social model of disability. *Disability & Society*, 19(7), 735-751. doi:10.1080/0968759042000284213

- Burns, R., Nichols, L. O., Martindale-Adams, J., Graney, M. J., & Lummus, A. (2003). Primary care interventions for dementia caregivers: 2-year outcomes from the REACH study. *Gerontologist*, 43(4), 547-55.
- Bury, M. (1991). The sociology of chronic illness: a review of research and prospects. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 13(4), 451–68.
- Callahan, C. M., Boustani, M. A., Unverzagt, F. W., Austrom, M. G., Damush, T. M., Perkins, A.J., et al. (2006). Effectiveness of collaborative care for older adults with Alzheimer disease in primary care: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 295(18), 2148-57.
- Callahan, C. M., Hendrie, H. C., & Tierney, W. M. (1995). Documentation and evaluation of cognitive impairment in elderly primary care patients. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 122(6), 422–429.
- Canada Health Infoway & Health Council of Canada. (2006). *Beyond good intentions:* accelerating the electronic health record in Canada. Retrieved from

### www.healthcouncilcanada.ca

Canada Health Policy Institute. (2013). *How good is your drug insurance? Comparing federal,* provincial and private-sector plans, 2004–2011. Annual report—2013 edition. Toronto.

Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2006). National health expenditure trends, 1975-

Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2009). *Experiences with primary care in Canada*. Ottawa.

Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2010c). Supply, distribution and migration of

Canadian physicians, 2009. Ottawa.

Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2011). National health expenditure trends, 1975-2011.

Retrieved from https://secure.cihi.ca/free\_products/nhex\_trends\_report\_2011\_en.pdf

Canadian Institutes of Health Research. (2014). Community-based primary health care. Ottawa,

Ontario, Canada: Government of Canada. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cihr-</u> irsc.gc.ca/e/43626.html

Canadian Medical Association. (2002). Results for the CMA 2002 physician resource

questionnaire. Retrieved from http://www.cmaj.ca/cgi/content/full/167/5/521/DC1

Canadian Nurses Association. (2013). Why we are worried: the facts – Dementia. Retrieved from

http://cna-aiic.ca/~/media/cna/files/en/fact\_sheet\_17\_e.pdf

Canadian Nurses Association. (2016). Dementia in Canada: recommendations to support care for

*Canada's aging population*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cna-aiic.ca/~/media/cna/page-</u> <u>content/pdf-en/dementia-in-canada\_recommendations-to-support-care-for-canadas-aging-</u> <u>population.pdf?la=en</u>

Carlsen, B., & Glenton, C. (2011). What about N? A methodological study of sample-size reporting in focus group studies. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11, 26.

Carnahan, R. M., Lund, B. C., Perry, P. J., & Chrischilles, E. A. (2004). The concurrent use of anticholinergics and cholinesterase inhibitors: rare event or common practice? *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 52, 2082–2087.

Chan, B. (2002). The declining comprehensiveness of primary care. CMAJ, 166(4), 429-434.

- Chang, C. C., & Roberts, B. L. (2008). Cultural perspectives in feeding difficulty in Taiwanese elderly with dementia. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 40(3), 235-240.
- Chappell, A. L. (1998). Still out in the cold: people with learning difficulties and the social model of disability. In: T. Shakespeare (Ed.), *The disability reader: social science perspectives*. London, New York: Continuum.
- Charlton, J. I. (1998). Nothing about US without Us. Disability, Oppression, and Empowerment. Berkley. C.A.: University of California Press.
- Cheng, G., Huang, C., Deng, H., & Wang, H. (2012). Diabetes as a risk factor for dementia and mild cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Intern Med J*, 42(5), 484-491.
- Clement, F., & Memedovich, K. A. (2018). Drug coverage in Canada: gaps and opportunities. Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience, 43(3), 148-150. doi:10.1503/jpn.180051
- College of Family Physicians of Canada. (2011). A vision for Canada: family practice The patient's medical home. Retrieved from

www.cfpc.ca/uploadedFiles/Resources/Resource\_Items/PMH\_A\_Vision\_for\_Canada.pdf

College of Family Physicians of Canada, the Canadian Medical Association, & the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. (2004). *Initial data release of the 2004 national physician survey*. Retrieved from <u>www.cfpc.ca/nps/English/home.asp</u>

College of Family Physicians of Canada, Canadian Medical Association, & Royal College

of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. (2007b). National physician survey 2007.

Retrieved from

http://www.nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/nps/2007\_Survey/Results/ENG/National/pdf//Q3 3/Q33a\_CORE.only.pdf

Collerton, D., Davies, C., & Thompson, P. (1996). Lewy body dementia in clinical practice. In: R.
H. Perry., I. G. McKeith., & E. K. Perry (Eds.), *Dementia with Lewy bodies: clinical, pathological, and treatment issues*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 171-86.

Commission of Inquiry on the Pharmaceutical Industry. (1985). Report. Ottawa.

Corbetta, P. (2003). Social research theory, methods and techniques. London: SAGE

Publications.

Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2008). Basics of qualitative research. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

- Creswell, J. W. (2005). *Qualitative research design: an interactive approach* (2nd Ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. 3rd Edition. Los Angeles: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches*. 4th ed. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE.
- Cronfalk, B. S., Ternestedt, B., & Norberg, A. (2017). Being a close family member of a person with dementia living in a nursing home. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(21-22), 3519-3528. doi:10.1111/jocn.13718
- Crow, L. (1996). Including all our lives: renewing the social model of disability. In: J. Morris (Ed.), *Encounters with strangers: feminism and disability*. London: Women's Press.
- Crowe, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheikh, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2288-11-100
- Dandy, K., & Bollman, R. (2008). *Seniors in rural Canada*. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/21-006-x/21-006-x2007008-eng.pdf
- Darcy, S. (2002). Marginalised participation: physical disability, high support needs and tourism. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism*, 9(1), 61-72.
- Darcy, S. (2004). Disabling journeys: the social relations of tourism for people with impairments in Australia- an analysis of government tourism authorities and accommodation sector practices and discourses (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Faculty of Business, University of Technology, Sydney.

Davis, S., Byers, S., Nay, R., & Koch, S. (2009). "Guiding Design of Dementia Friendly
 Environments in Residential Care Settings: Considering the Living Experiences."
 Dementia, 8 (2), 185–203.

- Dening, T., & Babu Sandilyan, M. (2014). Dementia: definitions and types. *Nursing Standard*, 29(37), 37-42.doi:10.7748/ns.29.37.37.e9405.
- Devanand, D. P., & Schultz, S. K. (2011). Consequences of antipsychotic medications for the dementia patient. *Am J Psychiatry*, 168, 767–769.
- Donaldson, C., Tarrier, N., & Burns, A. (1998). Determinants of carer stress in Alzheimer's disease. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 13, 248–256.
- Donmoyer, R. (2012). Can qualitative researchers answer policymakers' what-works question? *Qualitative Inquiry*, *18*(8), 662-673. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1077800412454531
- Dorenlot, P. (2005). "Editorial. Applying the Social Model of Disability to Dementia: Present-Day Challenges." *Dementia*, 4(4), 459–461.
- Droogsma, E., Asselt, D. Z. B, Scholzel-Dorenbos, C. J., Steijn, J. H., Walderveen, P. E., &
  Hooft, C. S. (2013). Nutritional status of community-dwelling elderly with newly
  diagnosed Alzheimer's disease: prevalence of malnutrition and the relation of various
  factors to nutritional status. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 17(7), 606-610.
  doi:10.1007/s12603-013-0032-9 PMID: 23933871

- Drummond, N., Birtwhistle, R., Williamson, T., Khan, S., Garies, S., & Molnar, F. (2016).
  Prevalence and management of dementia in primary care practices with electronic medical records: a report from the Canadian primary care sentinel surveillance network. *CMAJ Open*, 4(2). doi:10.9778/cmajo.20150050
- Duong, S., Patel, T., & Chang, F. (2017). Dementia. Canadian Pharmacists Journal / Revue Des Pharmaciens Du Canada, 150(2), 118-129. doi:10.1177/1715163517690745
- Erol, R., Brooker, D., & Peel, E. (2015). *Women and dementia: a global research review*. London: Alzheimer's Disease International, (pp. 1-56).
- Esterberg, K. G. (2002). Qualitative methods in social research. Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill.
- European Commission. (1996). *Making Europe accessible for tourists with disabilities*. Luxembourg: European Commission, Enterprise Publications.
- Exalto, L. G., Whitmer, R. A., Kappele, L. J., & Biessels, G. J. (2012). An update on type 2 diabetes, vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Exp Gerontol*, 47, 858–864.
- Fast, J. E., Williamson, D. L., & Keating, N. C. (1999). The hidden costs of informal elder care. Journal of Family and Economic Issues, 20, 301-326.
- Fierlbeck, K. (2011). *Health care in Canada: a citizens guide to policy and politics*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

- Finkel, S. I., De Silva, C., Cohen, G., Miller, S., & Sartorius, N. (1996). Behavioral and psychological signs and symptoms of dementia: a consensus statement on current knowledge and implications for research and treatment. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 8(3), 497–500.
- Fitzgerald, H. (2005). Still feeling like a spare piece of luggage? Embodied experiences of (dis)ability in physical education and school sport. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 10(1), 51-59. doi:10.1080/1740898042000334908
- Forbes, D., Markle-Reid, M., Hawranik, P., Peacock, S., Kingston, D., Morgan, D., ... Jansen,

S. L. (2008). Availability and acceptability of Canadian home and community-based services: perspectives of family caregivers of persons with dementia. *Home Health Care Services Quarterly*, 27(2), 75–99. doi:10.1080/01621420802022548

- Fortinsky, R. H. (2001). Health care triads and dementia care: integrative framework and future direction. *Aging Ment Health*, 5(1), S35-48.
- Fortinsky, R. H., & Wasson, J. H. (1997). How do physicians diagnose dementia? Evidence from clinical vignette responses. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 12, 51-61.
- Frank, C., Feldman, S., & Schulz, M. (2011). Resources for people with dementia: the Alzheimer Society and beyond. *Can Fam Physician*, 57(12), 1387–91.
- Gaugler, J. E., & Kane, R. L., (Eds.). (2015). Family caregiving in the new normal. London, England: Academic Press.

- Gauthier, S., Patterson, C., Chertkow, H., et al. (2012). Recommendations of the 4th Canadian consensus conference on the diagnosis and treatment of dementia. *Can Geriatr J*, 15, 120-6.
- Glasser, M. (1993). Alzheimer's disease and dementing disorder: practices and experiences of rural physicians. *The Journal of Alzheimer's Care and Related Disorders & Research*, 8(4), 28-35.
- Godfrey, J. R., & Warshaw, G. A. (2009). Toward optimal health: considering the enhanced healthcare needs of women caregivers. *Journal of Women's Health*, 18(11), 1739-1742.
- Grossfeld-Schmitz, M., Donath, C., Holle, R., Lauterberg, J., Ruckdaeschel, S., Mehlig, H., . . . Gräßel, E. (2010). Counsellors contact dementia caregivers - predictors of utilisation in a longitudinal study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 10(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2318-10-24
- Hayman, J. A., Langa, K. M., Kabeto, M. U., Katz, S. J., DeMonner, S. M., Chernew, M. E., . . . Fendrick, A. M. (2001). Estimating the cost of informal caregiving for elderly patients with cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 19, 3219-3225.
- Health Canada. (1999). Canada's health care system. Retrieved from

http://publications.gc.ca/collections/Collection/H88-3-30-2001/pdfs/other/hcs\_e.pdf

Health Canada. (2004). *First ministers' meeting on the future of health care: a 10-year plan to strengthen health care.* Ottawa: Government of Canada. Retrieved from www.hc-sc.gc.ca/english/hca2003/fmm/index.html. Health Canada. (2012). Health care system. Retrieved from

http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hcs-sss/pubs/system-regime/2011-hcs-sss/index-eng.php

Heaton, J. (2004). Reworking qualitative data. London: SAGE Publications.

- Hesse-Biber, S. N. (2017). *The practice of qualitative research: engaging students in the research process*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Hillmer, M., Krahn, M., Hillmer, M., et al. (2006). Prescribing patterns for Alzheimer disease: survey of Canadian family physicians. *Can Fam Physician*, 52, 208-9.

Hogan, B. (2001). Human resources training and geriatrics. Geriatr Today, 4, 7–10.

- Hogg, P. (1998). Constitutional law in Canada (p. 445). Scarborough, ON: Carswell Publishing.
- Hollingworth, P., Harold, D., Jones, L., Owen, M. J., & Williams, J. (2011). Alzheimer's disease genetics: current knowledge and future challenges. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26, 8, 793-802.
- Holmes, S. B., & Adler, D. (2005). Dementia care: critical interactions among primary care physicians, patients, and caregivers. *Prim Care*, 32(3), 671-82.
- Hum, S., Cohen, C., Persaud, M., Lee, J., Drummond, N., Dalziel, W., & Pimlott, N. (2014). Role expectations in dementia care among family physicians and specialists. *Canadian Geriatrics Journal*, 17(3), 95–102. http://dx.doi.org/10.5770/cgj.17.110
- Institute of Medicine. (2003). *Key capabilities of an electronic health record system*. Washington, DC: IOM, Committee on Data Standards for Patient Safety.

- Jeschke, E., Ostermann, T., Vollmar, H. C. et al. (2011). Prescribing patterns in dementia: a multicentre observational study in a German network of CAM physicians. *BMC Neurol*, 11, 99-109.
- Kai, K., Hashimoto, M., Amano, K., Tanaka, H., Fukuhara, R., & Ikeda, M. (2015). Relationship between eating disturbance and dementia severity in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS One*, 10(8), e0133666. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0133666 PMID: 26266531
- Keating, N. C., Fast, J. E., Lero, D. S., Lucas, S. J., & Eales, J. (2014). A taxonomy of the economic cost of family care to adults. *The Journal of the Economics of Ageing*, 3, 11-20.
- Kennan, H. (2014). People living with dementia and the built environment. *Australian Journal of Dementia Care*. Retrieved from <u>http://journalofdementiacare.com/people-living-with-dementia-and-the-built-environment/</u>
- Kurrle, S., Brodaty, H., & Hogarth, R. (2012). *Physical comorbidities of dementia*. Cambridge (UK): University Press.
- Larson, E. B., Kukull, W. A., & Katzman, R. L. (1992). Cognitive impairment: dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Annu Rev Public Health*, 13, 431-49.
- Lester, H., Tritter, J., & Sorohan, H. (2005). Patients' and health professionals' views on primary care help for people with serious mental illness: focus group study. *BMJ*, 330 (7500), 1122.
- Letourneau, S. (2009). Health Link Alberta: a model for successful health service integration. *Healthcare Quarterly*, 13. Retrieved from <u>http://www.longwoods.com/content/21099.</u>

- Lexchin, J. (2014). Drug pricing in Canada. *Pharmaceutical Prices in the 21st Century*, 25-41. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-12169-7\_2
- Liamputtong, P. (2007). *Researching the vulnerable: a guide to sensitive research methods*. London: SAGE.
- Linda, B., Richard, C., David, L. M., Julia, H. R., & Leslie C. (1999). Diagnosing dementia: perspectives of primary care physicians. *Gerontologist*, 39(4), 457-464. doi:10.1093/geront/39.4.457.
- Llewellyn, A., & Hogan, K. (2000). The use and abuse of models of disability. *Disability & Society*, 15(1), 157-165.
- Lowi-Young, M. (2015). Federal election 2015: time for a national dementia strategy. *Maclean's*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.macleans.ca/society/health/federal-election-2015-time-for-a-national-dementia-strategy/</u>
- Manitoba Bureau of Statistics. (2017). *Manitoba's population trends past and present*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/mbs/pubs/de\_popn-qrt-latest.pdf</u>
- McColl, M. A. (2006). Structural determinants of access to health services for people with disabilities. In: McColl, M. A., & Jongbloed, L. (Eds.), *Disability and social policy in Canada Toronto* (pp. 293–313). Captus Press: Toronto, ON, Canada.
- McColl, M. A., Jarzynowska, A., & Shortt, S. E. D. (2010). "Unmet Health Care Needs of People with Disabilities: Population Level Evidence." *Disability & Society*, 25(2), 205-218.

McQuigge, M. (2015). Seniors outnumber children under 15 for the first time in Canada: StatCan. *The Canadian Press*. Retrieved from <u>http://uml.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-</u> com.uml.idm.oclc.org/docview/1718227111?accountid=14569

- Modi, A., Weiner, M., Craig, B. A., et al. (2009). Concomitant use of anticholinergics with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors in Medicaid recipients with dementia and residing in nursing homes. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 57, 1238–1244.
- Morgan, D. G., Kosteniuk, J. G., Stewart, N. J., O'Connell, M. E., Kirk, A., Crossley, M., . . .

Innes, A. (2015). Availability and primary health care orientation of dementia-related services in rural Saskatchewan, *Canada. Home Health Care Services Quarterly*, 34(3-4), 137-158. doi:10.1080/01621424.2015.1092907

- Morgan, S. G., Law, M., Daw, J., et al. (2015). Estimated cost of universal public coverage of prescription drugs in Canada. *CMAJ*, 187, 491-7.
- Morris, J. C., McKeel, D. W., Fulling, K., Torack, R. M., & Berg, L. (1988). Validation of clinical diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of Neurology*, 24, 17-22.
- Morse, J. M. (2008). Confusing categories and themes. *Qualitative Health Research*, 18(6), 727-728. doi:10.1177/1049732308314930
- Nabalamba, A. & Patten, S. B. (2010). Prevalence of mental disorders in a Canadian household population with dementia. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 37, 186-94.

National Academies of Science, Engineering, & Medicine. (2016). *Families caring for an aging America*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

National Institute on Ageing. (2018). Why Canada needs to better care for its working

caregivers. Toronto, ON: National Institute on Ageing White Paper.

National Physician Survey. (2007). Retrieved from

http://nationalphysiciansurvey.ca/surveys/2007-survey/

- Naylor, C. D. (1986). Private practice, public payment: Canadian medicine and the politics of health insurance, 1911–1966. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Norton, S., Matthews, F. E., Barnes, D. E., Yaffe, K., Brayne, C. (2014). Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: an analysis of population based data. *Lancet Neurology*, 13, 8, 788-794.
- Occupational Therapy Australia. (2013). *What is occupational therapy*? Retrieved from http://www.otaus.com.au/about/what-is-occupational-therapy

O'Leary, A. (2004). The essential guide to doing research. London: SAGE Publications.

Oliver, M. (1996a). Defining impairment and disability: issues at stake. In C. Barnes &

G. Mercer (Eds.), *Exploring the divide* (pp. 29-54). Leeds: Disability Press.

Oliver, M. (1996b). Understanding disability: from theory to practice (2nd Ed.). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. Paris, V., & Docteur, E. (2007). Pharmaceutical pricing and reimbursement policies in Canada.

Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development Health Working Papers.

Pfeiffer, D. (2003). Attitudes towards disability in the helping professions. *Disability Studies* 

Quarterly, 23(2), 132–149.

Pollara Research. (2006). *Health care in Canada survey*. Toronto: MediResource Inc. Retrieved from www.hcic-sssc.ca.

Prince, M., Acosta, D., Ferri, C. P., et al. (2011). The association between common physical

impairments and dementia in low and middle income countries, and among people with dementia, their association with cognitive function and disability. A 10/66 Dementia Research Group population-based study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 26, 511-9.

- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2014). *Mapping connections: an understanding of neurological conditions in Canada*. Ottawa.
- Reuben, D. B., Roth, C. P., Frank, J. C., et al. (2010). Assessing care of vulnerable elders— Alzheimer's disease: a pilot study of a practice redesign intervention to improve the quality of dementia care. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 58, 324–329.
- Robinson, K. M., Adkisson, P., & Weinrich, S. (2001). Problem behaviour, caregiver reactions, and impact among caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 36, 573–582.

Rolland, Y., Pillard, F., Klapouszczak, A., Reynish, E., Thomas, D., Andrieu, S....Vellas, B.
(2007). Exercise program for nursing home residents with Alzheimer's disease: a one-year randomized, controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 55, 158-165.

- Saldaña, J., & Omasta, M. (2017). Analytic synthesis: understanding, interpreting, and theorizing. Qualitative research: analyzing life. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Sallee, M. W., & Flood, J. T. (2012). Using qualitative research to bridge research, policy, and practice. *Theory into Practice*, 51(2), 137-144. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2012.662873</u>
- Schoen, C., Osborn R., Doty M. M., Squires D., Peugh J., and Applebaum S. (2009). A survey of primary care physicians in eleven countries: perspectives on care, costs, and experiences. *Health Affairs*, web exclusive 28(6), w1171–83.
- Schoen, C., Osborn, R., Squires, D., Doty, M. M., Pierson, R., & Applebaum, S. (2010). How health insurance design affects access to care and costs, by income in eleven countries. *Health Affairs*, 29(12), web first 1–12.
- Schoen, C., Osborn, R., Huyn, P. T., Doty, M. M., Peugh, J., & Zapert, K. (2006). On the front lines of care: primary care doctors' office systems, experiences, and views in seven countries. *Health Affairs*, web exclusive 25, w555–71.
- Scullion, P. A. (2010). Models of disability: their influence in nursing and potential role in challenging discrimination. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66(3), 697–707. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05211.x

Smale, B., & Dupuis, S. L. (2004b). Ontario dementia caregiver needs project – Stage 2: the focus groups –*In their own voices: Dementia caregivers identify the issues*. Retrieved from <u>https://uwaterloo.ca/murray-alzheimer-research-and-education-</u> <u>program/sites/ca.murray-alzheimer-research-and-education-</u> <u>program/-les/uploads/-les/InTheirOwnVoices2-FocusGroupsResults.pdf</u>

- Smetanin, P., Kobak, P., Briante, C., Stiff, D., Sherman, G., & Ahmad, S. (2009). Rising tide: the impact of dementia in Manitoba 2008 to 2038. *RiskAnalytica*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.alzheimer.mb.ca/factsheets/Rising%20Tide%20MB.pdf</u>
- Sofi, F., Valecchi, D., Bacci, D et al. (2011). Physical activity and risk of cognitive decline: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 269, 1, 107-117.
- Stanyon, R. M., Griffiths, A., Thomas, A. S., & Gordon, A. L. (2016). The facilitators of communication with people with dementia in a care setting: an interview study with healthcare workers. *Age Ageing*, 45(1): 164-170.
- Starfield, B., Shi, L., & Macinko, J. (2005). Contribution of primary care to health systems and health. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 83(3), 457-502.
- Sutcliffe, S. B. (2011). A review of Canadian health care and cancer care systems. *Cancer*,

117(10), 2241-2244. doi:10.1002/cncr.26053

Szymczynska, P., Innes, A., Mason, A., & Stark, C. (2011). A review of diagnostic process and post-diagnostic support for people with dementia in rural areas. *Journal of Primary Care* & Community Health, 2, 262–276. doi:10.1177/2150131911404705

- Tang-Wai, D. F., & Graham, N. L. (2008). Assessment of language function in dementia. *Geriatr Aging*, 11(2):103-110.
- Tannenbaum, C., Paquette, A., Hilmer, S., Holroyd-Leduc, J. & Carnahan, R. (2012). A systematic review of amnestic and non-amnestic mild cognitive impairment induced by anticholinergic, antihistamine, GABAergic and opioid drugs. *Drugs Aging*, 29, 639–658.
- Taylor, G. (2002). *Building the case for the prevention of chronic disease*. Ottawa: Health Centre for Chronic Disease Prevention and Control, Health Canada.
- Tepper, J. (2004). *The evolving role of Canada's family physicians, 1992-2001*. Ottawa, Ont.:

Canadian Institute for Health Information.

The Accessibility for Manitobans Act. (2013). Retrieved from

https://web2.gov.mb.ca/bills/40-2/b026e.php.

- The Change Foundation. (2016). *Out of the shadows and into the circle: from listening and learning to action*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.changefoundation.ca/listening-learning-action-report/</u>
- The King's Fund. (2013). *Polypharmacy and medicines optimisation*. Making it safe and sound. Retrieved from

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/polypharmacy-and-medicinesoptimisation.

- Thind, A., Freeman, T., Thorpe, C., et al. (2009). Family physicians' satisfaction with current practice: what is the role of their interactions with specialists? *Health Policy*, 4(3), e145–e158.
- Thomas, C. (2007). Sociologies of disability and illness: contested ideas in disability studies and medical sociology. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Thomas, C., & Milligan, C. (2017). Dementia, disability rights and disablism: understanding the social position of people living with dementia. *Disability & Society*, 1-17. doi:10.1080/09687599.2017.1379952
- Thuné-Boyle, I. C., Iliffe, S., Cerga-Pashoja, A., Lowery, D., & Warner, J. (2012). The effect of exercise on behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: towards a research agenda. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24, 1046-1057. doi:10.1017/S1041610211002365
- Tinetti, M., & Kumar, C. (2010). The patient who falls: "it's always a trade-off." *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 303(3), 258-266.
- Tongco, M. D. (2007). Purposive sampling as a tool for informant selection. *Ethnobotany Research and Applications*, 5, 147. doi:10.17348/era.5.0.147-158
- Turcotte, M. (2014). *Canadians with unmet home care needs*. Statistics Canada article: insights on Canadian society. Retrieved from <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-006-</u> x/2014001/article/14042-eng.pdf

- Union of the Physically Impaired against Segregation. (1976). *Fundamental principles of disability*. London: Union of the Physically Impaired Against Segregation and the Disability Alliance.
- Valcour, V. J., Masaki, K. H., Curb, J. D., & Blanchette, P. L. (2000). The detection of dementia in the primary care setting. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 160(19), 2964–2968.
- Verghese, P. B., Castellano, J. M., & Holtzmann, D. M. (2011). Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease and other neurological disorders. *Lancet Neurology*, 10, 3, 241-252.
- Vetter, P., Steiner, O., Kraus, S., Moises, H., Kropp, P., Moller, W., & Koller, O. (1998). Factors affecting the utilization of homecare supports by caregiving relatives of Alzheimer patients. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 9(2), 111-116.
- Walsh, D. (2006). Dementia care training manual for staff working in nursing and residential settings. Jessica Kingsley Publishers, London.
- Watson, D. (2005). *Canadian policy context: interdisciplinary collaboration in primary health care*. Ottawa: Enhancing interdisciplinary collaboration in primary health care.
- Watson, D., & Krueger, H. (2005). Primary health care experiences and preferences: research highlights. Vancouver: Centre for Health Services and Policy Research, University of British Columbia.

- Wesson, J., Clemson, L., Brodaty, H., Lord, S., Taylor, M., Gitlin, L., & Close, J. (2013). A feasibility study and pilot randomised control of a tailored prevention program to reduce falls in older people with mild dementia. *BioMed Central Geriatrics*, 13, 89-101.
- White-Means, S. I., & Rubin, R. M. (2004). Trade-offs between formal home health care and informal family caregiving. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 25, 335-358.
- Winchester, J., Dick, M. B., Gillen, D., Reed, B., Miller, B., Tinklenberg, J., . . . Cotman, C. W.
  (2013). Walking stabilizes cognitive functioning in Alzheimer's disease across one year. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 56(1), 96-103. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2012.06.016

Wise, J. (2013). Polypharmacy: a necessary evil. BMJ, 347, 1–3, f7033.

Woodgate, R. L., Busolo, D. S., Crockett, M., Dean, R. A., Amaladas, M. R., & Plourde, P. J.

(2017). A qualitative study on African immigrant and refugee families' experiences of accessing primary health care services in Manitoba, Canada: it's not easy! *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 16(1). doi:10.1186/s12939-016-0510-x

 World Health Organization. (1978). Declaration of Alma-Ata. International conference on primary health care, Alma-Ata, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, World Health Organization, Geneva. Retrieved from <u>http://www.who.int/publications/almaata\_declaration\_en.pdf</u>

World Health Organization. (2016c). Fact sheet N°362. Retrieved from

http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs362/en/

World Health Organization & Alzheimer's Disease International. (2012). Dementia: a public

health priority. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization Press. Retrieved from

http://www.who.int/mental\_health/publications/dementia\_report\_2012/en/index.html

Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: design and methods. 4th ed. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE.

### Appendix A- Consent form

**Research Project Title**: Families' perspectives on access to primary healthcare services for relatives living with dementia in Manitoba.

**Principal Investigator**: Isaac Oppong (oppongi@myumanitoba.ca)

**Research Advisor:** Dr. Diane Driedger (Diane.Driedger@umanitoba.ca)

Sponsor: Alzheimer Society of Manitoba

This consent form, a copy of which will be left with you for your records and reference, is only part of the process of informed consent. It should give you the basic idea of what the research is about and what your participation will involve. If you would like more detail about something mentioned here, or information not included here, you should feel free to ask. Please take the time to read this carefully and to understand any accompanying information.

**Purpose of this study**: The purpose of this study is to find out from you the types of primary healthcare services available to your relative living with dementia, challenges that your relative encounter in accessing these services, and some responses that you perceive as beneficial to addressing these challenges in Manitoba.

**Eligibility**: You must be a close family member such as husband, wife, son, and daughter to the person living with dementia. You must at least have provided two (2) years of caregiving to your relative living with dementia. Also, you should be able to communicate in English and must be eighteen (18) years and above.

**Procedures involving the participants**: In this study, the researcher will use an interview guide to conduct a face-to-face interview with you. This session will last approximately 90 minutes.

However, you have the right to decide whether to sit in the interview for the 90 minutes duration or leave when you wish to do so.

**Potential risks**: The researcher anticipates that this study may have the potential to trigger some emotions as you will share some information about your close relative living with dementia. If such incident occurs, you have the right to discontinue this interview session. Also, please find attached, a document which gives an information on a counselling service available to you in case you may need one.

**Potential Benefits**: You will not benefit directly from this study. However, this study will help in contributing to knowledge in order to fulfill some of the gaps existing in the literature, add to existing ones, and also come up with some measures that will strengthen our primary healthcare system.

**Role of the Alzheimer Society**: The Society has provided funding for this project. In addition, the Society will assist in providing the researcher with an opportunity to make announcements at meetings, post on their website and newsletter in order to help recruit potential participants for this project. However, the role of the society in the recruitment process will have no bearing on the services and other benefits you receive from this organization should you decide to withdraw from this study.

**Role of the researcher in the Alzheimer Society**: Over the years, I have developed the passion of engaging in research studies that will help in tackling the problems faced by persons living with dementia and older adults in our society relating to the healthcare system. As a result, I applied for the Alzheimer Society Graduate Student Fellowship and was successful as the recipient of this award. It was through this award that made me establish a working relationship with the Society

as a student researcher. I do not hold any position and have never had any previous correspondence with this organization.

**Recording devices to be used**: Upon your permission, the researcher will use an audio-tape recorder to record the information given by you during this interview session. The recorded information will be given to a professional to transcribe them. The professional will sign a confidentiality agreement which states that he/she shall keep all the audio recordings and transcripts relating to this project confidential. Soft copies of your transcripts will be kept on a password-protected computer. Hard copies of your transcripts and audio-tape recordings will be kept in a locked cabinet.

**Confidentiality**: Identifying information such as your name and location shared with the researcher during this interview session would be confidential. As such, your privacy will be ensured by using pseudonyms to hide your identity. As stated earlier, the researcher will make sure that all data collected will be kept in a locked cabinet and/or a password-protected computer. The researcher will be the only person who has access to this locked cabinet in order to avoid any breach of confidentiality.

**Remuneration**: You will receive a \$50.00 gift card as an appreciation for your time after you have agreed and signed the consent form and will be reimbursed for parking fees.

**Member checking**: After the interview has been conducted, a copy of your transcript will be given to you. The aim of this exercise is to give you the time to go through it and correct any statement that you feel misrepresented. In addition, it will help you to correct any information that may reveal your identity. Withdrawal: You have the right to withdraw from this study at any time, and after the interview has been conducted without any consequences. You may contact the researcher through email at oppongi@myumanitoba.ca if you want to withdraw from this study. When you withdraw from this study, the researcher will immediately destroy all audio recordings and transcripts collected from you. However, it will be impossible to exclude your data from this study when the researcher submits this work to the Faculty of Graduate Studies upon completion of all the Master's program requirements.

How and when participants will receive study results: The researcher will make soft and hard copies of the study results available to you within two (2) months (September 2018) after the collection of data. You have the right to choose the medium (mail and email) in which to receive a summary of the study results.

**Destruction of confidential data**: The researcher will destroy all confidential data and materials such as audio recordings, raw transcripts, and transcripts edited by you after the project has come to a complete end and submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies upon completion of the Master's program requirements. As such, cassettes containing audio recordings will be destroyed. Raw transcripts and transcripts edited by you will be shredded. Soft copies of transcripts stored on my password-protected computer will be deleted.

**Dissemination**: This study will be published in the University of Manitoba research repository platforms such as Mspace, Journal of Disability and Society, and presented at the Centre on Aging Annual Spring Symposium. Also, the researcher will provide both hard and soft copies to the Department of Disability Studies and the Alzheimer Society of Manitoba for educational purposes. The information that will end up in the publication will be mostly the ones that answer the research

questions of this study. This study will be a case study which gives an in-depth account of your views on accessing primary healthcare services with your relative living with dementia. As a case study design, the researcher will develop themes and give an account of the stories shared by you under the various headings created. The researcher will give a general statement on your account which includes a direct quotation. For example, "One of the participants living in rural Manitoba expressed some disappointments with transportation services."

Your signature on this form indicates that you have understood to your satisfaction the information regarding participation in the research project and agree to participate as a subject. In no way does this waive your legal rights nor release the researchers, sponsors, or involved institutions from their legal and professional responsibilities. You are free to withdraw from the study at any time, and /or refrain from answering any questions you prefer to omit, without prejudice or consequence. Your continued participation should be as informed as your initial consent, so you should feel free to ask for clarification or new information throughout your participation. The University of Manitoba may look at your research records to see that the research is being done in a safe and proper way. This research has been approved by the Joint-Faculty Research Ethics Board. If you have any concerns or complaints about this project you may contact any of the above-named persons or the Human Ethics Coordinator at 204-474-7122 or through email at humanethics@umanitoba.ca. A copy of this consent form has been given to you to keep for your records and reference.

# FAMILIES' PERSPECTIVES ON PRIMARY HEALTHCARE

I give permission for this interview to be recorde	ed: Yes No
Participant's Signature	Date
Researcher and/or Delegate's Signature	Date

### Appendix B- Interview questions

1. Tell me how your life is going these days.

2. What is your relationship with the person living with dementia?

3. How is your relative doing?

4. Tell me how long your relative has been living with dementia.

5. Does any of your other relatives live with dementia?

6. Does your relative living with dementia have any other health condition?

7. Does your relative have a family doctor?

8. Tell me some of the healthcare services used by your relative.

9. Tell me any other services accessed by your relative.

10. How does assisting your relative in attending to his/her healthcare appointments and other services affect you?

11. Tell me some of the challenges that your relative encounter when helping him/her to access these healthcare appointments and other services.

12. Tell me how you are managing these challenges.

13. Tell me how these challenges can be addressed from your own perspective.

Appendix C- Probing questions used during the interview process

Probing question for Q1: What could account for that?

Probing question for Q2: Does your close relationship help in meeting the needs of your relative?

Probing question for Q3: What could account for that i.e. for your relative doing great or bad?

Probing question for Q4: Tell me how you got to know that your relative has dementia?

Probing question for Q5: How is he/she related to you?

Probing question for Q6: Is he /she receiving treatment for it or how is he/she managing this health condition?

Probing question for Q7: What kind of service/treatment does he/she usually go for, in terms of going to see the family doctor?

Probing question for Q8: Does your relative express some satisfaction with the treatment or service received? Does your relative utilize the services of a dietitian, pharmacist, and physiotherapist?

Probing question for Q9: Does these other services help in improving his/her quality of life and well-being?

Probing question for Q10:

- a. In terms of your health, how does it affect you?
- b. Economically, how does it affect your work and livelihood?

c. In terms of your relationship with friends and other support network, how does it affect you?

d. For your personal well-being, do you have access to counselling services?

Probing question for Q11:

- a. In terms of going to see the family doctor?
- b. Being referred to a specialist?
- c. In terms of the environment, how is the place accessible to your relative?
- d. In terms of the attitude of health professionals, how is your relative received or welcomed to the place?
- e. In terms of distance, does it serve as a challenge to your relative?

Probing question for Q12: Are these challenges having an impact on your relative? If yes, please in what ways?

Probing question for Q13: Please any other solution or response that you may have in mind?

Appendix D- Confidentiality agreement form

I.....shall keep all information, audio recordings and transcripts for the FAMILIES' PERSPECTIVES ON ACCESS TO PRIMARY HEALTHCARE SERVICES FOR RELATIVES LIVING WITH DEMENTIA IN MANITOBA project confidential. Upon completion of the project, I will delete all digital files and destroy any hard copies.

Transcriber

Date signed

Appendix E- Ethics approval certificate



Effective: May 28, 2018

Expiry: May 28, 2019

**Joint-Faculty Research Ethics Board (JFREB)** has reviewed and approved the above research. JFREB is constituted and operates in accordance with the current *Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans.* 

This approval is subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Approval is granted only for the research and purposes described in the application.
- 2. Any modification to the research must be submitted to JFREB for approval before implementation.
- 3. Any deviations to the research or adverse events must be submitted to JFREB as soon as possible.

- 4. This approval is valid for one year only and a Renewal Request must be submitted and approved by the above expiry date.
- 5. A Study Closure form must be submitted to JFREB when the research is complete or terminated.
- 6. The University of Manitoba may request to review research documentation from this project to demonstrate compliance with this approved protocol and the University of *Manitoba Ethics of Research Involving Humans.*

## Funded Protocols:

\_

Please mail/e-mail a copy of this Approval, identifying the related UM Project Number, to the Research Grants Officer in ORS.

Research Ethics and Compliance is a part of the Office of the Vice-President (Research and International) umanitoba.ca/research